UC Santa Barbara

UC Santa Barbara Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

3D Hybrid Integration for Silicon Photonics

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7xf9b62j

Author Song, Bowen

Publication Date 2019

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

University of California Santa Barbara

3D Hybrid Integration for Silicon Photonics

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

by

Bowen Song

Committee in charge:

Professor Jonathan Klamkin, Chair Professor Larry A. Coldren Professor John E. Bowers Professor Clint Schow

June 2019

The Dissertation of Bowen Song is approved.

Professor Larry A. Coldren

Professor John E. Bowers

Professor Clint Schow

Professor Jonathan Klamkin, Committee Chair

May 2019

3D Hybrid Integration for Silicon Photonics

Copyright © 2019

by

Bowen Song

To my parents and wife, Jingyi.

Acknowledgements

I am fortunate to have a great Ph.D. experience at UCSB. The world-class faculties, excellent facilities and supporting staffs lay the foundation of this work. More than anything else, this dissertation is truly a group effort due to the contributions of my many friends and coworkers both inside and outside UCSB.

First and foremost, I want to thank my advisor Prof. Jonathan Klamkin for giving me the opportunity to join his lab. I am so lucky to have an advisor that is not pushing but inspiring as a true leader. The way he teaches photonics as well as engineering and science is to show the big picture, not by emails, but by having meeting with me at Saturday night, by teaching me at lab right after a lecture, by spending hours with me to build a test setup from scratch and by checking microscope picture of a sample right after a lithography. One can learned so much more from a professor that rolls up sleeves and work with you in MOCVD lab, in cleanroom for fabrication or in the lab for device measurement. This hard working spirt is my life-time treasure that will keep inspiring me. His encourage and support for exposing me to various conference is another great learning experience for me. I learned a lot of new ideas and met a lot of intelligent scholars and friends during the conference. It is a rich learning experience that helps me build up professional networks. It is lucky with a bit surprise that we also share lots of passion in basketball.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Prof. Larry A. Coldren, Prof. John E. Bowers and Prof. Clint Schow who shared their vast knowledge throughout my graduate studies and provided many helpful suggestions for my thesis. Their guidance and feedback added a lot to my research experience. Larry pass a lot knowledge of photonics through the meetings and lectures. He is easy going in life but could be tough and sharp when asking questions and making suggestions. Prof. Bowers' is extremely knowledgeable on various topics in photonics area. He always asked the good questions and it is great learning experience working with him. Prof. Schow provide a lot of encouragement and useful ideas for my research. His vision and knowledge in phonics integration is very helpful.

I would give a special thanks to Dr. Keisuke Kojima. As an advisor during the internship at Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories (MERL), he is supportive, careful and patient. He works extremely hard and passionate about research and work. With his advice and guidance, the internship at MERL is productive and happy. The coworkers, Toshiaki Koike Akino, Bingnan Wang, Kieran Parsons and Philip Orlik also made the experience at MERL productive and wonderful.

I also thank all the collaborator Cristian Stagarescu and Alex Behfar from MACOM for providing indium phosphide devices and Sasa Ristic from McGill university for his support to this work.

This work is truly a result of teamwork. Without my fellow lab mates, staff members, coworkers at Nano fab and collaborator both inside and outside UCSB, none of this work would have been possible. Having access to the great facilities at Nano Fab here at UCSB is a precious privilege for my research. The effort from Tony Bosch of taking care of the Fintech flip-chip bonder and ICP etcher for InP fabrication is important to this work. He is also the good at keep a strict cleanroom rules which is important for a share facility. Dr. Brian Thibeault shares his vast knowledge in various process which is very helpful. Ning Cao also directly gives a lot of recipes of etching, film calibration and test which saves a lot time and effort. Bill Mitchell is like artist in E-Beam Lithography. By discussing with him about my process, problem related to the nano fabrication using EBL can be easily solved. Dr. Demis D. John is good friend and an expert in DUV stepper and process. He helps me step up a lot of process about DUV related fabrication. I also thank all of the cleanroom staff including Tony Bosch, Mike Day, Aidan Hopkins, Brain Lingg, Tom Reynold, Lee Sawyer, Mike Silva, Tino Sy, Luis Zuzunaga, Ning Cao, Demis D. John, Bill Mitchell, Biljana Stamenic, Don Freeborn, Aidan Taylor (CNSI), for maintaining all of the cleanroom tools and for providing such a great working place.

It is a pleasurable journey to work with members with Klamkin group during my Ph.D study. Hongwei Zhao is a hard working colleague and extremely careful about process. She did a lot of quality control check for my process. Victoria Rosborough is great writer that helps me with many paper drafts. Yuan Liu shares a lot of device calibration experience with me that really speed things up. Brandon Isaac is good friend and cautious coworker. His strict working attitude teach me a lot about how to make thing perfect. Simone Suran Brunelli is good at a lot of things and providing III-V material is one of them. He is also a hard-working person to maintain the MOCVD lab. I would also thank all the rest of current student members Thomas Meissner, Lei Wang, Michael Nickerson, Steven Estrella, Yu-Ning Lo for their support. The postdoc members, past and present, have made my research experience even more enjoyable. Dr. Pietro Contu helps me a lot in mask layout design especially working with foundry process. Dr. Sergio Pinna is a great friend and guru in device calibration. The linewidth calibration test setup is not possible without his support. Dr. Fabrizio Gambini is also a good friend and hard-working. He is coauthor with me a lot of papers and produce interesting ideas every day. Dr. Sarvagya Dwivedi is very knowledgeable in silicon photonics. He patiently answers all my questions about silicon photonics design, and we had great time working together. Dr. Bei Shi is good friend and shares his vast knowledge about material science with me. Working in this group is like living in big family. My research life won't be as colorful without my all my group members. I owe special tanks to our MOCVD lab staff Douglas Oakley for maintain MOCVD system for the whole group. I would like to thank Amanda Miller for all the support she provided. Finally, I thank Elisa Drelie Gelasca for all her amazing Italian cooking skills and tastes. She carefully chose the catering menu for my thesis defense and it was a great help and because of her it was a great lunch. Her wisdom hides in her way of humor in which is hard to understand at first, but once you get it, it is mind opening.

I also thank all the members of the MOABB team Tin Komljenovic, Paolo Pintus, Weiqiang Xie, Alfredo Torres, Aditya Malik. It is great learning experience by having meetings and discussions with all of them. I would also acknowledge members from Prof. John E. Bowers group Lin Chang, Minh A. Tran, Chong Zhang, Chao Xiang, Jon Peters, MJ Kennedy, Mike Davenport for their help.

I owe a special thanks to Dr. Theodore Moustakas, for introducing me to Klamkin group and giving me a lot of useful advice at the early stage of my graduate study. He teaches me a lot about kindness, patient and rigorous attitude towards life as well as research.

I won't be here without support of my family. Thanks to my grandparents for their generation of persistence, optimism and determination of making thing better no matter what. I am fortunate to have a supporting parents and parents in law that allows me to pursue my dream without boundary. They provide me so much and ask so little. Finally, I thank my beloved wife for her understanding, sacrifice and support. Her cooking was my fuel to help me get through the difficult times. She has the magic to always calm me down so that I have the courage to face all the challenges again and again. The wonderful time with her is what truly worth looking forward to and still have a lot to expect.

Curriculum Vitæ Bowen Song

EDUCATION

2019	Ph.D. in Electronics and Photonics, University of California, Santa
	Barbara.
2014	M.S. in Electrical Engineering, Boston University, Boston.
2012	B.S. in Electrical Engineering, Nanjing University of Science and
	Technology

PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYMENT

04/2019 - 05/2019	Staff Research Associate, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA
06/2016 - 09/2016	Internships, Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories, Cambridge, MA

AWARDS

Best Student Paper Award, Oral Presentation, Asia Communications and Photonics Conference, Guangzhou, Guangdong, CHINA, November, 2017

PUBLICATIONS

1. Bowen Song, Yuning Luo, Sergio Pinna1, Yuan Liu, and Jonathan Klamkin, "Dilute Waveguide Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier for 3D Hybrid Silicon Photonics Integration," *To be presented at Compound Semiconductor Week (CSW)*, 2019 2. Isaac, Brandon, Bowen Song, Sergio Pinna, Larry A. Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Indium Phosphide Photonic Integrated Circuit Transceiver for FMCW LiDAR." *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* (2019).

3. Shi, Bei, Lei Wang, Aidan A. Taylor, Simone Suran Brunelli, Hongwei Zhao, **Bowen Song**, and Jonathan Klamkin. "MOCVD grown low dislocation density GaAs-on-V-groove patterned (001) Si for 1.3 um quantum dot laser applications." *Applied Physics Letters* 114, no. 17 (2019): 172102.

4. Zhao, Hongwei, Sergio Pinna, Fengqiao Sang, **Bowen Song**, Simone Tommaso Suran Brunelli, Larry A. Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "High Power Indium Phosphide Photonics Integrated Circuits." *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* (2019).

5. Zhao, Hongwei, Sergio Pinna, **Bowen Song**, Ludovico Megalini, Simone Tommaso Šuran Brunelli, Larry Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Integrated indium phosphide transmitter for free space optical link." *In Integrated Photonics Research, Silicon and Nanophotonics*, pp. ITu4B-6. Optical Society of America, 2018. 6. Isaac, Brandon, **Bowen Song**, Sergio Pinna, Shamsul Arafin, Larry Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Indium Phosphide Photonic Integrated Circuit Transmitter with Integrated Linewidth Narrowing for Laser Communications and Sensing." In *2018 IEEE International Semiconductor Laser Conference (ISLC)*, pp. 1-2. IEEE, 2018.

7. Zhao, Hongwei, Sergio Pinna, **Bowen Song**, Ludovico Megalini, Simone Tommaso, Šuran Brunelli, Larry Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "3-Gbps Free Space Optical Link Based on Integrated Indium Phosphide Transmitter." *In 2018 IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, pp. 1-2. IEEE, 2018.

8. Klamkin, Jonathan, Hongwei Zhao, **Bowen Song**, Yuan Liu, Brandon Isaac, Sergio Pinna, Fengqiao Sang, and Larry Coldren. "Indium Phosphide Photonic Integrated Circuits: Technology and Applications." *In 2018 IEEE BiCMOS and Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuits and Technology Symposium (BCICTS)*, pp. 8-13. IEEE, 2018.

9. Zhao, Hongwei, Sergio Pinna, **Bowen Song**, Ludovico Megalini, Simone Suran Brunelli, Larry Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "High-Power Integrated Indium Phosphide Transmitter for Free Space Optical Communications." *In CLEO: QELS Fundamental Science*, pp. JW2A-52. Optical Society of America, 2018.

10. Pinna, Sergio, **Bowen Song**, Larry A. Coldren, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Vernier Transceiver Architecture for Side-Lobe-Free and High-Entendue LiDAR." *In 2018 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO)*, pp. 1-2. IEEE, 2018.

11. Dwivedi, Sarvagya, Sergio Pinna, Renan Moreira, Yuan Liu, **Bowen Song**, Steven Estrella, Leif Johansson, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Multicore Fiber Link With SiN Integrated Fan-Out and InP Photodiode Array." *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 30, no. 22 (2018): 1921-1924.

12. Klamkin, Jonathan, Yuan Liu, **Bowen Song**, Fengqiao Sang, and Brandon Isaac. "Integrated Microwave Photonic Component Technologies." In *CLEO: Science and Innovations*, pp. JTh3D-5. Optical Society of America, 2018.

Bowen Song, Sergio Pinna, Yuan Liu,Ludovico Megalini, and Jonathan Klamkin.
 "3D hybrid integrated lasers for silicon photonics." In *Silicon Photonics XIII*, vol. 10537,
 p. 105370V. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2018.

14. Kojima, Keisuke, Toshiaki Koike-Akino, David S. Millar, Bingnan Wang, Milutin Pajovic, Kieran Parsons, **Bowen Song**, and Jonathan Klamkin. "System and device technologies for coherent optical communications." In Metro and Data Center Optical Networks and Short-Reach Links, vol. 10560, p. 105600H. *International Society for Optics and Photonics*, 2018.

15. **Bowen Song**, Keisuke Kojima, Sergio Pinna, Toshiaki Koike-Akino, Bingnan Wang, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Noise reduction of integrated laser source with on-chip optical feedback." In 2017 Asia Communications and Photonics Conference (ACP), pp. 1-3. IEEE, 2017.

16. **Bowen Song**, Keisuke Kojima, Sergio Pinna, Toshiaki Koike-Akino, Bingnan Wang, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Frequency noise reduction of integrated laser source with onchip optical feedback." In *Integrated Photonics Research, Silicon and Nanophotonics*, pp. IM3A-4. Optical Society of America, 2017.

17. **Bowen Song**, Ludovico Megalini, Sarvagya Dwivedi, Sasa Ristic, and Jonathan Klamkin. "High-thermal performance 3D hybrid silicon lasers." *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 29, no. 14 (2017): 1143-1146.

18. Isaac, Brandon, Yuan Liu, **Bowen Song**, Xiaojun Xie, Andreas Beling, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Hybrid integration of UTC-PDs on silicon photonics." In *CLEO: Science and Innovations*, pp. SM4O-1. Optical Society of America, 2017.

19. Bowen Song, Yuan Liu, Sasa Ristic, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Tunable 3D hybrid integrated silicon photonic external cavity laser." In 2017 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO), pp. 1-2. IEEE, 2017.

20. Dwivedi, Sarvagya, **Bowen Song**, Yuan Liu, Renan Moreira, Leif Johanson, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Demonstration of compact silicon nitride grating coupler arrays for fan-out of multicore fibers." In 2017 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO), pp. 1-2. IEEE, 2017.

21. **Bowen Song**, Cristian Stagarescu, Warren Jin, Payam Abolghasem, Sasa Ristic, Nathan Bickel, Jason Bowker, Alex Behfar, and Jonathan Klamkin. "Thermal Performance of 3D Integrated Silicon Laser." In *Integrated Photonics Research, Silicon and Nanophotonics*, pp. ITu3B-3. Optical Society of America, 2016.

22. **Bowen Song**, Cristian Stagarescu, Warren Jin, Payam Abolghasem, Sasa Ristic, Nathan Bickel, Jason Bowker, Alex Behfar, and Jonathan Klamkin. "3D integrated silicon photonic external cavity laser." In *CLEO: Science and Innovations*, pp. SM4G-5. Optical Society of America, 2016.

23. Bowen Song, Haiding Sun, Chen-Kai Kao, and Theodore D. Moustakas. "Growth mode of nitride semiconductors on nano-patterned sapphire substrates by molecular beam epitaxy." *physica status solidi (c) 13*, no. 5-6 (2016): 195-199.

24. **Bowen Song**, Cristian Stagarescu, Sasa Ristic, Alex Behfar, and Jonathan Klamkin. "3D integrated hybrid silicon laser." *Optics Express* 24, no. 10 (2016): 10435-10444.

Abstract

3D Hybrid Integration for Silicon Photonics

by

Bowen Song

Silicon photonics (SiPh) has emerged as a photonic integrated circuit (PIC) platform, especially for high volume applications. Integrated laser sources, however, remain a challenge. SiPh foundries have existed for more than 10 years but still don't offer a qualified process with integrated lasers. Direct heteroepitaxy of group III-V materials on silicon is still immature and suffers from reliability issues. Heterogeneous and hybrid integration techniques, however, have been pursued in research and by industry and present a practical near-term solution for laser integration. Heterogenous approaches based on wafer bonding involve the bonding of bare III-V epitaxial material to silicon on insulator (SOI), co-fabrication, and evanescent light coupling. The laser active medium is thermally isolated from the silicon substrate by the buried oxide layer limiting the laser efficiency at high temperature. Hybrid integration approaches, such as the butt coupling of fabricated III-V lasers to SOI waveguides, may address the thermal issue. However, the main limitation for butt coupling is the significant mode mismatch of the waveguides that imposes a strict alignment requirement.

In this thesis the novel 3D hybrid integration technique for SiPh, addressing the aspects of thermal performance and alignment tolerance, was proposed and demonstrated for the first time. This approach is based on the flip-chip integration of indium phosphide (InP) reflective semiconductor optical amplifiers (RSOAs) containing total internal reflection turning mirrors for surface emission. Light is coupled to the SOI waveguides through surface grating couplers. This technique yields increased alignment tolerance compared to butt coupling. Flip-chip integration also allows the RSOA chip to be bonded P-side down directly to the silicon substrate. In this way, the heat generated in the active region can dissipate more efficiently in the silicon. 3D hybrid integration can be carried out at wafer level in a backend step for high throughput manufacturing, and also allow for the integration of InP PICs on silicon interposers for large-scale electronic-photonic integration.

A tunable laser was realized with 3D hybrid integration demonstrating a side-mode suppression ratio up to 43 dB. Greater than 4 mW of optical power was coupled into SiPh waveguide and more than 20 nm wavelength tuning range was achieved. A linewidth of 1.5 MHz and relative intensity noise of -132 dB/Hz were measured. A low thermal impedance of 6.2°C/W was extracted experimentally from a 3D hybrid laser that was bonded to the silicon substrate, demonstrating a factor of three improvement over a laser that was bonded above the SOI layer. To improve coupling efficiency, various advanced silicon surface grating couplers as well as dilute waveguide RSOAs were investigated. Coupling efficiency up to 85% can be achieved while also maintaining an alignment tolerant implementation.

Contents

\mathbf{V}	TA (OF BC	OWEN SONG	ix
A	bstra	\mathbf{ct}		xii
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Figur€	es	xviii
Li	st of	Tables	3	xxiv
1	Intr	oducti	on	1
	1.1	Silicon	${}_{1} \text{ Photonics } \ldots $	1
	1.2	Indium	n Phosphide Photonic Integrated Circuits	2
	1.3	Lasers	for Silicon Photonics	4
		1.3.1	Monolithic Integration	4
		1.3.2	Heterogeneous Integration	6
		1.3.3	Co-Packaging and Butt Coupling	7
	1.4	3D Hy	brid Integration for Silicon Photonics	10
		1.4.1	Concept	10
		1.4.2	Hybrid Integration Types	11
		1.4.3	Thermal Advantages of 3D Hybrid Integration	13
		1.4.4	Volume Production Perspective	15
	1.5	Thesis	Overview	17
2	Refl	ective	Semiconductor Optical Amplifier	19
	2.1	Indium	n Phosphide Ridge Waveguide	20
		2.1.1	Surface Ridge	20
		2.1.2	Deep Ridge	22
		2.1.3	Buried Heterostructure	22
	2.2	Surfac	e Emission Active Device	22
		2.2.1	Surface Emission Laser	22
		2.2.2	Surface Emission Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier	24
	2.3	Dilute	Waveguide Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier	25
		2.3.1	Overview	25

		2.3.2	Dilute Mode Waveguide
		2.3.3	Spot Size Converter Integration
3	Gra	ting C	Coupler for 3D Hybrid Integration 35
	3.1	Gratir	ng Coupler Design and Optimization
		3.1.1	Grating Coupler Theory
		3.1.2	2D Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method
		3.1.3	Particle Swarm Optimization
	3.2	Advar	aced Grating Coupler Design
		3.2.1	Elevated Grating Coupler
		3.2.2	Dual Layer Grating 42
		3.2.3	Back Reflector
		3.2.4	Apodized Pitch Grating 45
		3.2.5	High Coupling Efficiency Design 46
	3.3	Alignr	nent Tolerance Analysis
		3.3.1	Vertical Offset
		3.3.2	Horizontal Offset
		3.3.3	Horizontal and Verical Offset Combined Analysis
1	Ind	ium P	hosphide Device Febrication 52
Т	4 1	Integr	ated Turning Mirror Fabrication 53
	1.1	4 1 1	Dry Etch Processes 54
		412	Chemically Assisted Ion Beam Etching 55
		413	Focused Ion Beam Etching 56
	$4\ 2$	Overv	iew of Surface Emitting Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier
	1.2	Fabric	ation 58
		4.2.1	Base Structure 59
		4.2.2	Ridge Waveguide Formation with Trench Etch
		4.2.3	Surface Emission Window Etch
		4.2.4	Via Opening and Metallization
		4.2.5	Backend Process Steps
	4.3	Overv	iew of InP Photonic Integrated Circuit Fabrication
	-	4.3.1	Active-Passive Integration
		4.3.2	Grating Formation
		4.3.3	Regrowth
		4.3.4	Waveguide Formation
		4.3.5	Top n-Contact and Thermal Bump
		4.3.6	Passivation and Electrical Isolation
		4.3.7	Photonic Integrated Circuit for 3D Hybrid Integration 74
		4.3.0 4.3.7	Photonic Integrated Circuit for 3D Hybrid Integration

5	Sili	con Photonics Device Fabrication 77
	5.1	Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: Passives Technology
	5.2	Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: Active technology
		5.2.1 Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G
		5.2.2 Other Silicon Photonics Foundries
	5.3	Passive Silicon Photonics Fabrication
		5.3.1 Wafer Preparation $\ldots \ldots 85$
		5.3.2 Negative Electron Beam Lithography Resist
		5.3.3 Expose and Develop Processes
		5.3.4 Inductively Coupled Plasma Reactive Ion Etching
		5.3.5 Elevated Grating Coupler
		5.3.6 Passive Silicon Photonics Components
6	Flip	p-chip Integration 96
	6.1	State-of-Art Packaging Technology Review
		6.1.1 Wire Bonding $\ldots \ldots $ 97
		$6.1.2 \text{Flip-chip Bonding} \dots \dots$
		6.1.3 Silicon Photonics Interposer
	6.2	Thermocompression Bonding
		6.2.1 Thermocompression Process
		6.2.2 Self-aligned Interconnection Elements
	6.3	Self-aligned Flip-chip Assembly with Solder Reflow Process 105
	6.4	CMOS Compatible Contact for Indium Phosphide Device
7	Dev	vice Characterization 108
	7.1	3D Silicon Photonic External Cavity Laser
		7.1.1 Design Overview $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		7.1.2 Lasing Characteristics
		7.1.3 Wavelength Tuning Performance
		7.1.4 Relative Intensity Noise Characteristics
		7.1.5 Laser Linewidth $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	7.2	High Thermal Performance Demonstration
		7.2.1 Design Overview $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		7.2.2 Buried Oxide Etching and Metallization
		7.2.3 Lasing Characteristics
		7.2.4 Thermal Impedance Measurement
		7.2.5 Thermal Robustness Measurement
	7.3	Indium Phosphide Devices Calibration
		7.3.1 Dilute Waveguide Mode Calibration
		7.3.2 Noise Reduction of Integrated Laser Source with On-Chip Optical
		Feedback
		(.3.3 Integrated Lidar Transceiver Calibration

xvi

8	Sum	mary	and Future Work	131
	8.1	Summa	ary of Accomplishments	132
	8.2	Future	Work	133
		8.2.1	Coupling Efficiency and Reflection Control	133
		8.2.2	Alignment Tolerance Improvement	134
		8.2.3	Silicon Photonic Integrated Circuit by 3D Hybrid Integration	135
Bi	bliog	raphy		136

List of Figures

Example InP PIC with schematic (top) and top-view microscope picture	
$(\text{Dottom}) \dots \dots$	
Formation of (a) misfit dislocations (b) threading dislocations and (c)	
stacking fault.	
2D schematic of water bonding approach [28]	
(a) 3D schematic of co-packing [34]. (b) 2D schematic of butt coupling.	
Tunable SiPh laser array demonstrated by 3D hybrid integration	
Sideview schematic of the 3D integrated hybrid integration	
Type A hybrid transceiver realized with 3D hybrid integration of InP	
RSOA array integrated on fully active SiPh chip	
Type B 3D hybrid integration with InP lasers integrated on fully active	
SiPh chip to realize a multi-channel hybrid transceiver	
Type C 3D hybrid integration with InP externally modulated laser array	
integrated on passive SiPh chip	
Illstration of thermal advantage of 3D integrated hybrid lasers	
Wafer-scale 3D hybrid laser integration	
3D schematic of multi-channel transceiver showing the scalability of the	
3D hybrid integration approach	
Lateral InP waveguide structures (left) and optical mode profile (right)	
for (a) shallow surface ridge, (b) deep surface ridge and (c) buried het-	
erostructure	
2D schematic of surface emission RSOA.	
Screen shots of mode evolution and light coupling process for surface emit-	
ting RSOA.	
Top view schematic of surface ridge structures with (a) and without (b)	
rapid taper. Beam shape of the output light with (c) and without (d) rapid	
taper. The white dished lines indicate the corresponding ridge structure.	
Passive InP ridge waveguide of (a) conventional surface ridge waveguide	
and (b) mode simulation results. (c) Dilute surface ridge waveguide and	
(d) compared a dia since la dia	
	Example InP PIC with schematic (top) and top-view microscope picture (bottom)

2.6	(a) Dilute RSOA design with integrated spot-size converter. (b) The mode simulation before and after the spot-size converter illustrating the mode	
	expansion process	2
2.7	Insertion loss of an inverse taper as a spot size converter versus length.	3
2.8	Mode conversion along the (a) vertical and (b) horizontal direction of the dilute ridge waveguide	3
2.9	(a) Dilute waveguide mode size versus ridge width. (b) Γ versus ridge width for dilute waveguide.	3
2.10	Simulation results of the Γ as a function of ridge width of the dilute waveguide that contains none, one and two layers of InGaAsP over the MQWs region.	3
3.1	Mode simulation results of (a) a single mode fiber and (b) a single mode	0
าก	SIPh waveguide	
3.2 3.3	(a) 2D FDTD model of 3D hybrid integration with standard grating cou- pler design (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wave-	Э
3.4	length for a conventional RSOA coupling to standard grating coupler (a) Schematic for 2D FDTD simulation model of elevated grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA. (b) 2D FDTD simulation results of the	3
	coupling efficiency versus wavelength for elevated grating coupler coupled	4
3.5	(a) Schematic for 2D FDTD simulation model of dual layer grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA. (b) 2D FDTD simulation results of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for dual layer grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA	4
3.6	(a) 2D schematic of 3D hybrid integration using back reflector below grat- ing coupler. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus	1
3.7	 wavelength for grating coupler with back reflector. (a) 2D schematic design of 3D hybrid integration using apodized grating coupler. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus 	4
3.8	(a) 2D schematic of the high coupling efficiency design. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for high coupling	4
	efficiency design.	4
3.9	Vertical alignment tolerances. The coupling efficiency is shown as a func- tion of the vertical offset for both the conventional and dilute waveguide	
	RSOA	4
3.10	Horizontal alignment tolerances. The coupling efficiency is shown as a function of the horizontal offset for both the conventional and dilute waveg- uide RSOA.	5

3.11	Contour plot of additional coupling loss introduced by horizontal and ver- tical misalignment offset (dB) of conventional RSOA couple to elevated
3.12	Contour plot of additional coupling loss introduced by horizontal and ver- tical misalignment offset (dB) of dilute RSOA coupled to elevated grating coupler.
4.1	(a) Top view of a TIR mirror on conventional RSOA fabricated by CAIBE process (b) Cross-section of a etched TIR mirror.
4.2	(a) Top view of etched trench by FIB for the TIR mirror. (b) Cross-section of the etched TIR mirror.
4.3 4.4	Final epitaxy structure for the dilute waveguide RSOA
4.5	Surface window etch for the dilute waveguide RSOA. (a) 3D schematic and (b) top view microscope picture of surface window
4.6	(a) 3D schematic of the via opening and (b) top view microscope picture of the lift-off mask for p-metal with via opened.
4.7	(a) 3D schematic of fabricated dilute waveguide RSOA and (b) surface emission window under SEM with turning mirror fabricated by FIB during
4.8	a back end step
4.9	Active-passive integration with OQW. (a) 2D sideview schematic of the waveguide structure. (b) Schematic (up) and microscope image (bottom)
4 10	of active-passive fabrication.
4.10	EBL grating calibration mask with different in factors
4.12	SEM image of (a) cross-section of shallow ridge, (b) cross-section of deep ridge, (c) curved deep ridge waveguide and (d) shallow-to-deep transition
4.13	The deep-to-shallow transition MMI.
4.14	Example of isolation formed by selectively etching the top InP cap and
4 15	InGaAs contact layer.
4.10	with TIR mirror fabricated
4.16	(a) Top-view image of the supper carrier with transmitter IC, InP PIC and receiver IC. (b) InP PIC mounted on small sub-carrier. (c) The optical-electrical integration by wire bonding. (d) Picture of whole integrated
	lıdar transmitter system with a coin.

5.1	Schematic cross-section of the imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics Passives Tech-	
5.2	nology	80
	laser (left) and microscope image of fabricated chip (right).	80
5.3	Schematic cross-section of the imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G	82
5.4	Top-view microscope picture of an external cavity fabricated by imec- ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G	83
5.5	Picture of a sample holder in EBL for holding small pieces	85
5.6	(a) Schematic layout of the waveguide structures for EBL and (b) con-	00
	verted exposure map for the EBL system.	88
5.7	Conventional grating coupler fabrication using EBL. (a) Schematic design	00
50	Directional coupler structure under high magnification SFM following re-	88
0.0	sist stripping	00
5.0	Crating coupler made with single otch stop with top of the grating tooth	90
0.9	and waveguide at same height	91
5.10	The fabrication process of the elevated grating coupler through dual EBL	01
0.20	(a) SOI wafer (b) first EBL define the grating area (c) first ICP-RIE etch to	
	transfer the pattern to SOI layer (d) second EBL to define the waveguide	
	region (e) second ICP-RIE etch to make the elevated grating coupler	93
5.11	Perspective view SEM picture of fabricated elevated grating coupler	94
5.12	Passive components fabricated using EBL process including MMI coupler,	
	in-plane waveguide DBR mirror, directional coupler, loop mirror and ring	
	resonator.	95
6.1	High-density wire bonding [125].	98
6.2	3D schematic of controlled-collapse chip connection.	99
6.3	Finetech Fineplacer Lambda flip-chip bonder.	102
6.4	(a) InP RSOA array chip before bonding with p-contact facing up. (b)	
	Fabricated SiPh chips before hybrid integration. (c) Plan-view image of	
	a bonded RSOA chip on silicon. (c) Top view microscope image of a 3D	
	integrated hybrid laser	103
6.5	IV characteristics for 3D integrated laser and standalone InP RSOA	104
6.6	3D schematic of self-aligned interconnection elements showing the process	
	of self-aligning due to the mechanical force introduced by a concave-convex	105
$C \overline{7}$		105
0.7	3D schematic for self-alignment process using solder renow	100
7.1	(a) Side view schematic of the 3D integration approach. (b) Perspective	100
7 9	View of tunable 3D SPECE device.	103
1.2	chip	110
7.3	L-I-V characteristic of SPECL at 15°C and 25°C.	111

7.4	Superimposed spectra of the SPECL showing (a) a large step tuning over 30 nm and (b) a fine step tuning over 3 nm with a step of 0.3 nm.(c) One ring resonator showing tuning range of 5 nm. (d) Contour map of SPECL	
7.5	spectra	112
7.6	(inset)	113
7.7	(b) Lorentzian fits	114
7.8 7.9	Post process of metal pad on silicon substrate	115
7 10	$B.IEEE(C)2016 \qquad \qquad$	117
7.10 7.11	(a) Light-current characteristics for (a) Laser A and (b) Laser B. (c) Threshold current and maximum WPE as a function of stage tempera-	118
7.12	ture for both Laser A and Laser B. IEEE ©2016	119 120
7.13	LI curves of the SPECL at an initial temperature and following tempera- ture cycles_IEEE ©2016	191
7.14	LIV characteristic of a dilute waveguide RSOA.	121
7.15	Beam profile evolution of (a) dilute waveguide and (b) conventional waveg- uide. IEEE $\textcircled{C}2019$	123
7.16	(a) Schematic of the laser cavity design (a) without (Type A) and (b) (Type B) with optical feedback.	124
7.17	(a) Layout (top) and microscope image (bottom) of Type A laser. (b) Layout (top) and microscope image (bottom) of Type B laser	125
7.18	(a) LIV characteristics for type A and type B laser. (b) Lasing spectral of type A and type B laser.	126
7.19	The output spectrum from the photodetector showing the beat note from the self-heterodyne measurement for (a) Type A and (b) Type B. (c)	100
	FWHM of the Lorentzian fit spectra for Type A and Type B lasers	126

7.20	RIN spectrum at various currents for (a) Type A and (b) peak RIN ver-	
	sus pump current (IP) and relaxation resonance frequency squared (f_P^2)	
	with respect to pump current minus the threshold current (inset). RIN	
	spectrum for (c) Type B and (d) peak RIN versus pump current	127
7.21	(a) Test setup for lidar transceiver. (b) The light is coupled vertically	
	through a TIR mirror at the end of the InP waveguide	128
7.22	(a) LIV test setup for the SGDBR laser using on chip SOA as a photo	
	detector. (b) LIV of a integrated SGDBR laser on lidar transceiver	129
7.23	The superimposed spectra of the tunable SGDBR laser integrated in the	
	lidar transceiver.	130

List of Tables

4.1	Dilute RSOA Base Epitaxy Layer Structure		59
-----	--	--	----

Chapter 1

Introduction

Photonic integrated circuits (PICs) integrate various optical functions, such as light generation, amplification, guiding, coupling and detection on a signal chip [1]. Following decades of development, PICs provide high performance optical systems by removing assembly complexity and variability, at the same time enabling size, weight, power and cost reduction. Large-scale photonics integration not only could boost the development of modern data communications but could also play an important role in applications such as sensing and biomedical. In this chapter, the review of state-of-art PIC material systems will be presented. Following this, the current integrated laser technology for silicon photonics (SiPh) will be summarized. Then, the concept of 3D hybrid integrated laser technology will be introduced. The thesis overview will be provided in the last section of the chapter.

1.1 Silicon Photonics

SiPh is being adopted as a mainstream optical technology to support large-scale integration of optical functions on a single silicon chip. The primary selling point of SiPh

is that it utilizes commercial state-of-the-art complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) foundries [2]. Firstly, a benefit of building PICs in CMOS foundries is reduced cost at large volumes. Larger wafers (up to 12 inches) and the mature CMOS integrated circuit (IC) facilities can bridge the gap between concept demonstration and volume production. Second, the high yield CMOS processes eliminate manual wafer handling. CMOS reliability and reproducibility outperform the group III-V integrated photonics where automated wafer handling is not commonly used. Lastly, compared to cleaving prior to testing, great enhancement of throughput is achieved with wafer scale testing and packaging [3]. Another significant advantage of SiPh is the merging photonic functions and CMOS; integrated photonics and electronics can be fabricated on the same wafer [4]. Large-scale chip-level optoelectronics integration enables high performance system with more complexity, functionality and reliability [5]. Silicon and silicon dioxide (SiO₂) provide high index contrast and the nano-wire waveguide provides relatively low loss and small footprint. Thus, the integration scale can be increased dramatically with controllable cost. The functionality of complex SiPh systems goes beyond the boundary of data communications applications [6]. Many novel applications have been reported including: biosensing [7], LIDAR systems [8], narrow linewidth lasers [9] and artificial intelligence [10].

1.2 Indium Phosphide Photonic Integrated Circuits

III-V compound semiconductors provide a monolithic integration platform for PICs that have undergone decades of development. Indium phosphide (InP) and gallium arsenide (GaAs) are most common. These direct bandgap materials provide high performance active components including lasers, modulators and photodetectors. Highly developed epitaxy techniques such as Metal-Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition (MOCVD) and Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE) enable high quality, low-defect-density quaternary alloys [11]. In P-based quaternary alloys have played an enabling role in the critically important 1.1–1.6 μm spectral window for fiber-optic systems. Quaternary alloys allow for remarkable flexibility in the range of bandgaps and refractive indices. A wide range of optical waveguide devices with different direct bandgaps are now available on the same substrate, leading to a powerful class of InP PICs. InP based PICs have evolved from a simple distributed Bragg reflector (DBR) laser to complex on chip systems with passive components including optical splitters, filters, multiplexers, and combiners and active components such as semiconductor optical amplifiers, lasers, modulators, and photodetectors [12]. Figure 1.1 shows a mask layout and top view microscope picture of an InP PIC fabricated that includes a widely tunable laser, an integrated wavelength locking feature, and a coherent receiver. There have been significant achievements made in realizing relatively complex InP PICs in recent years, enabling new class of applications beyond telecommunication and data communications. A great deal of effort from both academia and industry has made the significant advances of this technology possible. This development has resulted in a positive and profound impact in many areas including data communication [13], free space comminutions [14], and consumer photonics [15]. Performance advances have been enabled through sustained technology developments for InP-based epitaxial and fabrication processes as well as device design innovations.

Despite of all the advantages, III-V based PICs still face challenges. The first drawback comes from wafer cost and size. The cost of an InP wafer is still higher than a silicon wafer, and wafer size is limited to 4 inches. The InP PIC process also cannot compete with the CMOS process in terms of yield and reliability. The optical confinement for the InP platform is significantly smaller than that for SiPh. The minimum bend radius of a deeply etched waveguide is greater than 10 μ m whereas less than 2 μ m has been reported for SiPh [16]. The packaging of InP devices still relies primarily on gold boxes and wire



Figure 1.1: Example InP PIC with schematic (top) and top-view microscope picture (bottom)

bonding [17]. Low loss waveguide devices are also difficult to fabricate.

1.3 Lasers for Silicon Photonics

Although SiPh has undergone significant maturation in recent years, the integration of low-cost, high-efficiency laser sources remains an open problem. SiPh interposer technologies also require the integration of PICs with other platforms at low cost. For these integrations, high coupling efficiency with high alignment tolerance is critical. In this section, current laser integration technologies for SiPh are reviewed.

1.3.1 Monolithic Integration

Monolithic integration techniques based on heteroepitaxy are a natural and intuitive means of laser integration. Pulsed lasing has been demonstrated using strained germanium (Ge) as a gain material [18]. However, the efficiency of fabricated lasers based on Ge on silicon are too low for practical applications. Another approach for a monolithically integrated laser source based on silicon is the epitaxial growth of direct bandgap materials, such as GaAs and InP. Quantum dot lasers on silicon [19] [20] and nanowire lasers [21] have been reported. However, epitaxial growth of GaAs and InP on silicon is not trivial, due to the large lattice mismatches of these materials with silicon [20]. A schematic illustration of defects generation for GaAs on silicon growth is shown in Fig. 1.2. The formation of defects is detrimental to the performance of lasers and needs to be addressed.



Figure 1.2: Formation of (a) misfit dislocations (b) threading dislocations and (c) stacking fault.

Many techniques have been developed to improve the quality of III-V films on silicon including Ge [22] or gallium phosphide buffer layers [23], nano patterned silicon substrate [24], confined epitaxial lateral overgrowth [25], thermal cycle annealing and strained superlattice filters [20]. The lowest defect density achieved is on the order of $10^6 \ cm^{-2}$ which is still significantly higher compared to films grown on native substrates. The thick buffer and filter layers also make it difficult to couple light to a silicon waveguide. In summary, monolithic integration approach is promising for future large-scale laser integration but is still at an early stage.

1.3.2 Heterogeneous Integration

An alternative method to add gain based on III-V materials to silicon is based on heterogeneous integration of bare III-V chips through wafer bonding and the subsequent co-fabrication of these materials to form laser structures [26] [27]. As shown in Fig. 1.3, the light in the active region of the III-V layer is evanescently coupled to the silicon waveguide. Depending on the material between the III-V wafer and the silicon waveg-



Figure 1.3: 2D schematic of wafer bonding approach [28].

uide, two types of bonding have been demonstrated; molecular and adhesive. Molecular bonding utilizes a thin layer of oxide between the silicon waveguide and III-V wafer to form the molecular bond. The surface of the silicon chip needs to be flat and extremely clean. A chemical-mechanical polishing (CMP) is usually required for the silicon wafer before bonding. Adhesive bonding leverages a layer of polymer such as Benzocyclobutene (BCB) to form the bond between a silicon waveguide and III-V chips. In this case, the strict surface roughness requirement is relaxed. However, the polymer is usually not CMOS compatible and has a low thermal conductivity. Therefore, the molecular bonding approach is the most commonly used method for heterogeneous integration. The gain material can be bonded on top of the silicon wafer in the form of discrete die (instead of a whole wafer) to be efficient with the material. Individual die may come from different substrates to address various device performance requirements for lasers, modulators and photodetectors. This feature is particularly promising for PIC applications in which integration of multiple optical functions is required. The heterogeneous integration technique has yielded a host of novel active PICs on silicon [29] [30] and has been commercialized [31]. The heterogeneous integration approach is ideal for medium- to large-scale laser integration for SiPh, but a few challenges need to be addressed. First, the cost of the lasers and PICs made by heterogeneous integration are still higher than those on native substrates. This situation could change if the volume of lasers made with heterogeneous integration is significantly increased. Second, when the InP gain material is bonded on silicon on insulator (SOI) wafer, the gain medium is thermally isolated from the substrate by the buried oxide (BOX), resulting in high thermal impedance for the hybrid lasers. Therefore, these lasers do not dissipate heat effectively, limiting their efficiency and performance at high temperature. Finally, III-V alloys and silicon exhibit different coefficients of thermal expansion, therefore, reliability is a concern for devices realized by directly stacking these materials. Ultimately, much effort has been devoted to address these challenges [32] and heterogeneous integration will continue to play an important role in the medium- to large-scale SiPh PICs before practical monolithic lasers are matured.

1.3.3 Co-Packaging and Butt Coupling

Although much progress has been made toward integrated lasers on silicon, the technology is still not mature enough for high yield and low cost. Intel has delivered transceivers with SiPh integrated lasers based on heterogeneous integration, but only in limited volumes. Current mainstream transmitters made by SiPh generally rely on externally integrated laser sources. Those sources are based primarily on III-V laser diodes, which can be integrated with the SiPh PICs [33].Figure 1.4(a) and (b) shows the



concept of co-packing and butt coupling. Diverse methods have been proposed to couple



(b)

Figure 1.4: (a) 3D schematic of co-packing [34]. (b) 2D schematic of butt coupling.

light from external laser diodes into SiPh waveguides. The first approach generally leverages micro-assembled systems in which discrete optical components, such as ball lenses, prisms, and mirrors, are co-packaged with the laser diode and SiPh chip. By using an integrated grating coupler on silicon, this approach offers a near-vertical coupling between a laser diode and a surface grating coupler formed in the SOI layer [35]. It has been used in several commercially successful products based on SiPh [36]. Another possibility is to use butt-coupling to directly couple light from the edge facet of a laser diode to the silicon waveguide. The mode profiles of the laser waveguide and the silicon waveguide have a significant mismatch, which could present large coupling loss and lower yield due the sensitive alignment process. To accommodate the mode mismatch between the output of the laser waveguide and the input of silicon waveguide, several methods have been proposed. A thin silicon device layer is used with a thick silicon dioxide cladding to create an expanded fiber-like optical mode for the silicon waveguide [37]. SOI wafers with much thicker silicon device layers $(3\mu$ m-thick) can also be used for better matching [38]. The other approach based on advanced edge couplers or advanced alignment techniques have also been explored for external laser coupling to SiPh chips [39] [40]. Although an external laser offers a short-term light source solution for most commercial transceivers made with SiPh technology, it also presents several inconveniences. First, the solution based on the discrete optical components does not leverage the small-footprint feature of SiPh. Transceivers made with this approach are cumbersome and have limited scalability. Second, the butt-coupling scheme still suffers from a significant mode mismatch, which leads to non-negligible optical coupling loss between the lasers and SiPh chips. These losses result in a need to increase power from the lasers, raising the overall power consumption. The misalignment limitation for -1 dB additional coupling loss is generally below 1 μ m. Bonding and assembling processes with this precision are time-consuming and the corresponding tools are costly.

1.4.1 Concept

In this thesis a novel 3D hybrid integration technique for SiPh, that addresses the aspects of thermal performance and alignment tolerance, was proposed and demonstrated for the first time, as shown in Fig 1.5. This approach is based on flip-chip integration of an InP reflective semiconductor optical amplifier (RSOA) containing total internal reflection (TIR) turning mirrors. Light is coupled to SOI through surface grating couplers. This technology demonstrates increased alignment tolerance compared to butt coupling. 3D hybrid integration also allows the processed lasers or InP PICs to be bonded directly to the SiPh chip for interposer applications. Using the 3D hybrid integration technique, a silicon photonic external cavity laser (SPECL) featuring narrowed laser linewidth, tunability and improved relative intensity noise (RIN) is also realized.



Figure 1.5: Tunable SiPh laser array demonstrated by 3D hybrid integration.

A side view illustration of the 3D integrated coupling structure is shown in Fig. 1.6. The RSOA structure consists of an indium gallium arsenide phosphide (InGaAsP) active waveguide with InP cladding layers. An anti-reflection (AR) coating was applied to the emitting surface of the RSOA to reduce unwanted reflections. The TIR turning mirror angle was optimized for high coupling efficiency to the silicon waveguide. The light propagating in the RSOA waveguide is redirected vertically by the turning mirror and then exits the InP chip and couples into the silicon waveguide via the grating coupler.



Figure 1.6: Sideview schematic of the 3D integrated hybrid integration.

1.4.2 Hybrid Integration Types

Three types of 3D hybrid integrated lasers have been investigated. Figure 1.7 illustrates the perspective view of a type A 3D hybrid laser. An InP RSOA array is integrated with an active SiPh chip with modulators and photodetectors to realize a multi-channel hybrid transceiver. The light modulation and detection functions can be realized using SiPh modulators and germanium on silicon photodiodes. In this case, the design and fabrication complexity are pushed to the SiPh chip. To create the laser cavity, one mirror is realized on the silicon waveguide using on-chip reflectors, such as Sagnac mirror or DBR waveguide mirror. A high relectivity (HR) coating applied on the backend of the InP waveguide can be used as the second mirror to close the laser cavity. The advantage of the type A approach is high yield because reducing the complexity of the InP processes can increase the overall fabrication yield of the hybrid integrated devices.


Figure 1.7: Type A hybrid transceiver realized with 3D hybrid integration of InP RSOA array integrated on fully active SiPh chip.

Figure 1.8 illustrates the perspective view of a type B 3D hybrid integration. A multi-channel hybrid transceiver is realized by integrating an InP laser array with an active SiPh chip with modulators and Ge photodetectors. In this case, the complexity for the InP is increased. Subwavelength gratings are used on the InP lasers for single wavelength operation. The grating coupler on the SiPh chip is used as an interface between the InP and the SiPh device. The design and fabrication complexity of the SiPh chips are identical compare to type A. However, the overall design process could be simplified because the external cavity silicon lasers are not as commonly used as InP lasers, and this approach removes the coupling loss within the laser cavity.

Figure 1.9 illustrates the perspective view of a type C 3D hybrid integration. A fully fabricated InP PIC is coupled to a SiPh chip to realize a multi-channel transceiver. The light modulation and detection functions are realized using InP modulators and hybrid integrated InP photodiodes on silicon. In this case, the fabrication complexity for the InP device increases dramatically. To integrate modulators with lasers monolithically, active-





Figure 1.8: Type B 3D hybrid integration with InP lasers integrated on fully active SiPh chip to realize a multi-channel hybrid transceiver.

passive integration is required. The yield of InP PICs is lower than that of standalone lasers or RSOAs. Despite this, there are some advantages. First, the modulators and photodiodes on InP demonstrate superior performance in terms of power consumption and efficiency. Second, the SiPh chip used for type C 3D hybrid integration can be made with all passive components. The silicon chip here is used only for wavelength multiplexing or a low-cost interposer platform, where lasers and fully fabricated InP and SiPh PICs could be integrated together to form a large multi-function system. This strategy benefits from both the InP and SiPh platforms to achieve the most flexibility and functionality.

1.4.3 Thermal Advantages of 3D Hybrid Integration

As shown in Fig. 1.10, the InP chip can be flip-chip bonded p-side (epi-side) down on the silicon substrate, allowing for efficient heat removal from the active medium. A



Figure 1.9: Type C 3D hybrid integration with InP externally modulated laser array integrated on passive SiPh chip.



Figure 1.10: Illstration of thermal advantage of 3D integrated hybrid lasers.

shorter path for heat dissipation is realized in this way. For conventional InP ridge lasers or SOA devices, the active region (the major heat source) is within 2 μ m of the p-type contact. The thickness between the n-type contact and active region, on the other hand, typically greater than 100 μ m. Flip-chip bonding the InP chip p-side therefore provides significant improvement. down to the silicon substrate creates a shorter path for heat dissipation for the active region of the hybrid laser. The higher thermal conductivity of the silicon also provides better heat spreading. The thermal conductivity of silicon is 1.3 W/cm·k, which is approximately 10 times larger than that of silicon dioxide. In comparison to InP, silicon also demonstrates a 50% higher thermal conductivity [41]. Because of this, the overall thermal performance of the 3D hybrid lasers is better than that of lasers fabricated on native InP substrates. Finally, the 3D hybrid silicon integration technology relies on the metal bond to form the mechanical and electrical connection. For heterogeneous integration, the InP and silicon wafer are combined through molecular bonding to SOI layers beneath the laser active region. The BOX acts as a barrier. As a result, the heat generated in the active region of the hybrid laser cannot dissipate efficiently and remmains trapped in the InP. For 3D hybrid integration, the metal bond pad can be fabricated in a recess on the SOI wafer that thermally connects the active region of the laser directly to the silicon substrate, thereby dissipate heat efficiently.

1.4.4 Volume Production Perspective

The 3D hybrid integration approach embodies several features that make it promising for silicon laser integration in volume production. As illustrated in Fig. 1.11, the integration is based on mature IC assembly technology that is characteristic of low cost and high thoughtput. The 3D hybrid integration process can be directly transferred to production-level flip-chip bonding tools. The integration can also be carried out at

Chapter 1

Also, the 3D hybrid integration is carried out as a back-end process. That is, the InP gain or laser chips and the silicon wafer are fabricated and screened seperately before attachment, avoiding co-fabrication of these materials; InP and silicon are incompatible materials and co-fabrication requires significant investment and development. The metal used for bonding for 3D hybrid integration also alleviates the thermal expansion coefficient mismatch between the InP and silicon.



Figure 1.11: Wafer-scale 3D hybrid laser integration.

The 3D hybrid integration approach is as scalable as any other laser integration technique. Fig. 1.12 shows a 3D schematic of an array of four lasers integrated on a SiPh chip. In addition to laser and SOA chips, the 3D integration approach also enables the integration of fully fabricated InP PICs on SiPh chips for large-scale photonics-electronics integration.



Figure 1.12: 3D schematic of multi-channel transceiver showing the scalability of the 3D hybrid integration approach

1.5 Thesis Overview

This dissertation focuses on the development of the 3D hybrid integration platform to realize electrically pumped lasers on silicon. In this chapter, a high-level review of PICs and integrated lasers for SiPh is presented. Then, the concept of the novel 3D hybrid integration approach is proposed and detailed. InP RSOA design is discussed in chapter 2 with emphasis on surface emission and dilute waveguide realization for higher coupling efficiency and alignment tolerance. Chapter 3 presents the design and simulation of the silicon grating coupler for coupling light from the InP RSOA into the silicon waveguide. Chapter 4 describes the InP device fabrication processes including TIR mirror fabrication, InP RSOA fabrication and InP PIC fabrication. In chapter 5, the fabrication of SiPh devices is introduced discribing the SiPh MPW processes and passive SiPh chip fabrication using electron beam lithography (EBL). Chapter 6 focuses on the flip-chip bonding process with emphasizes on self-alignment technology and CMOS compatible metallization processes for the InP device. The measurement results are presented in chapter 7 covering the device performance of 3D hybrid lasers and InP device characterization. The summary of this work is given in chapter 8 with insight proposed for the future development of the 3D hybrid laser integration.

Chapter 2

Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier

Due to its indirect band structure, silicon is a poor candidate to realize photon emission and amplification, which are necessary to form lasers [42]. Even though silicon is not suited for creating efficient light sources, researchers have investigated all silicon lasers. An optically pumped silicon laser in continuous operation based on Raman scattering was reported [43]. However, Raman scattering requires an external signal and pump laser to operate, which limits practical applications. Another option is using Ge on silicon as a gain material. Ge is commonly used in CMOS processing to build photodiodes in SiPh chips. A proposed compromise was to use limited tensile strain and free electrons brought by heavy n-doping to fill the indirect bandgap valley to increase the probability of occupation of the direct bandgap valley by injected carriers. However, results on Ge lasers have been limited and reliable performance has not been demonstrated [44].

For most on SiPh applications, the realization of light emission and amplification relies on compound semiconductors a with direct bandgap such as InP or GaAs. In this chapter, the design and simulation of conventional and dilute waveguide RSOAs are presented. Section 2.1 reviews the ridge waveguide structure of InP ridge lasers. Next, the design and simulation of conventional waveguide RSOAs with surface emission are provided in section 2.2. Dilute waveguide RSOAs for alignment tolerant 3D hybrid silicon photonics integration are designed and analyzed in section 2.3.

2.1 Indium Phosphide Ridge Waveguide

Numerous methods of lateral confinement of current, carriers, and photons have been used to make optical amplifiers or lasers on InP material platforms [45]. Figure 2.1 illustrates the cross-section schematics of three different types of lateral InP waveguide structures and waveguide mode simulation results. These are generic lateral ridges, which will be described below: shallow surface ridges, deep surface ridges, and buried heterostructures. In this work, surface ridge RSOAs are used for fabrication simplicity and high yield.

2.1.1 Surface Ridge

Figure 2.1(a) illustrates a surface ridge waveguide and the corresponding optical mode. The ridge provides current confinement and weak optical confinement. The fabrication of the shallow waveguide involves wet etching, which provides an atomic-level smooth etched surface for low optical loss. The active core layers, usually containing quantum wells or indium gallium arsenide phosphide (InGaAsP) quaternaries, serve as a wet etch stop for the InP ridge fabrication. The carriers are not confined laterally in the core, as they are free to diffuse laterally and recombine without contributing to the gain. The ridge structure has been a popular choice because of its simplicity of fabrication. Due to the weak optical confinement, the surface ridge only allows for relatively large-radius waveguide bends. For sharper bends, a stronger lateral index step is needed.



Figure 2.1: Lateral InP waveguide structures (left) and optical mode profile (right) for (a) shallow surface ridge, (b) deep surface ridge and (c) buried heterostructure.

2.1.2 Deep Ridge

Figure 2.1 (b) shows a deep ridge waveguide that provides strong lateral confinement of photons, carriers, and current. It provides smaller waveguide bends. In this case, however, it is important that the sidewalls be formed very smoothly to limit optical losses and to reduce the non-radiative recombination of carriers at the surface of the active region. The deep ridge waveguide will also need to be narrower than the surface ridge to support a single lateral optical mode. Thus, it may be more difficult to couple light in and out (to a single mode fiber) because of the resulting large diffraction angle when the lights exits the waveguide. The thermal impedance will also be higher for the deep ridge waveguide laser because of the narrowed contact area to the substrate.

2.1.3 Buried Heterostructure

Figure 2.1 (c) shows the cross-section of a buried-heterostructure waveguide. The narrowed active region is cladded by a higher-bandgap; low refractive index semiconductor tor material. This cladding is often made of semi-insulating semiconductors so that the current can flow only through the active region. The carriers and photons are confined laterally as well as transversely. If a semi-insulating substrate is used, parasitic capacitance from the p-n junctions at the buried layers can be eliminated. This structure beneficial for high-speed devices.

2.2 Surface Emission Active Device

2.2.1 Surface Emission Laser

Surface-emitting lasers (SELs) are advantageous over edge-emitting devices for photonic integration. Surface emission is attractive for wafer-level testing and packaging. The fabricated devices can be tested with an automatic probing station without cleaving, which saves on cost of packaging and increases yield. So far, the vertical-cavity surface-emitting laser (VCSEL) is the most efficient solution for SEL. However, VCSELs for longer wavelengths, typically greater than 1.1 μ m, are difficult to fabricate due the challenge of growing high-reflectivity and highly conductive mirrors [46][47]. VCSELs emitting at 1.55 μ m are reported using micro-electro-mechanical technology with limited stability and high cost [48].

Novel surface emission InP lasers have been reported in [49]. The idea is to convert a ridge laser or SOA into surface emitting device by integrating a 45° mirror at the end of the active waveguide. The light in the waveguide is redirected at the turning mirror and emitted vertically from the chip surface. The dry-etched angled facet was achieved by reactive-ion etching (RIE) where the sample was mounted on an angled holder and loaded into the RIE chamber to achieve angled etching. In [50], a facet-free surface emitting distributed feedback (DFB) was fabricated. A similar integrated 45° total internal reflection (TIR) mirror was used in this work. However, the light was redirected toward the InP substrate. The beam exited the surface through an integrated lens for beam collimation. It is reported that light can be redirected off the optical axis of the waveguide by using integrated gratings. This method has been realized in [51]. The idea was to use the waveguide grating on the InP to bend the in-axis light by a few degrees off the optical axis of the waveguide. After the light reached the cleaved facet of the InP chip, it would be redirected down towards due to refraction. The RSOA used in this work is similar to the one reported in [52] where a horizontal cavity SEL was proposed with light emitting from the p-cladding surface of the device.

2.2.2 Surface Emission Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier

Figure 2.2 shows a 2D schematic of a surface-emission RSOA. It has a horizontal cavity with a ridge waveguide in conjunction with a vertical etched facet on the back side with HR coating. A dry etched 48° TIR mirror is integrated at the other end of the waveguide for surface emission. The redirected light exits the chip from the p-cladding side through an AR coated surface.



Figure 2.2: 2D schematic of surface emission RSOA.

The mode evolution and light coupling process can be simulated using the finitedifference time-domain method (FDTD). A fundamental transverse electric (TE) mode was launched into the InP waveguide of the RSOA. As shown in Fig. 2.3, the horizontally propagating waveguide mode reaches the turning mirror and is then redirected vertically through total internal reflection. The beam eventually exits the InP chip. A power monitor was used to collect all the light from exiting the surface.

To prevent the ridge structure from interfering with the beam upon out-coupling, the end of the waveguide of the RSOA was terminated with a rapid taper to create a quasifree space region. The top view schematic of surface ridge structures with and without the rapid taper are shown in Fig 2.4 (a) and (b), respectively. 3D FDTD simulations were



Figure 2.3: Screen shots of mode evolution and light coupling process for surface emitting RSOA.

used to estimate the surface emitting beam shape from both structures. The captured beam shape of the output light with/without rapid taper were shown in Fig 2.4 (c) and (d) respectively. Without the rapid taper the far field beam split into two parts due the interference with ridge after exiting the chip. The disturbed beam will have negative effects on the coupling process to the silicon grating coupler.

2.3 Dilute Waveguide Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier

2.3.1 Overview

The mode profile of an optical fiber and an InP laser waveguide have significant differences. These differences increase the complexity of packaging and optical coupling. Laser waveguide with an expanded mode size are therefore attractive for low cost laser packaging with increased alignment tolerance. The expanded mode leads to slow divergence beam emission from the waveguide. This beam couples more efficiently to optical fiber or grating coupler.

The idea of using the expanded waveguide mode to increase coupling efficiency can



Figure 2.4: Top view schematic of surface ridge structures with (a) and without (b) rapid taper. Beam shape of the output light with (c) and without (d) rapid taper. The white dished lines indicate the corresponding ridge structure.

be applied to the 3D hybrid laser integration. In this section, a simplified version of a dilute waveguide RSOA is designed and analyzed. The mode conversion is based on a spot-size converter fabricated with a tapered InP ridge. The RSOA design was based on a conventional shallow ridge waveguide structure.

2.3.2 Dilute Mode Waveguide

2D cross-section of a passive conventional waveguide and a dilute mode waveguide are shown in Fig. 2.5(a) and (c), respectively. For the conventional waveguide, the waveguide core layer thickness is 0.4 μ m. For the dilute waveguide, the waveguide core layer thickness is 5 μ m. The conventional and dilute waveguide are based on the surface ridge structure. The waveguide core material is InGaAsP, which is used as a wet etch stop layer during InP ridge fabrication. Using Eigenmode expansion (EME) method, the mode profile as well as the mode area can be obtained. The ridge thickness used for both waveguides is 1.8 μ m, however the ridge widths are different. For the conventional waveguide, the ridge width is 2 μ m and the fundamental TE mode of the waveguide is shown in Fig. 2.5 (b). The mode size is 1.5 μm^2 . For the dilute waveguide, an expanded fundamental TE mode is achieved by narrowing the ridge width to 1.25 μ m. The mode simulation for the dilute waveguide is shown in Fig. 2.5(d). The mode size is 85 μm^2 . The dilute waveguide mode shown in Fig. 2.5(d) is preferred to increase the alignment tolerance of the 3D hybrid integration process.

2.3.3 Spot Size Converter Integration

In [53], a reduced InP waveguide core was fabricated to expand the optical mode with complex multi-layer vertical tapered structure. Ultra-low insertion loss was achieved, however, high-resolution lithography and multiple regrowths were required for the device



Figure 2.5: Passive InP ridge waveguide of (a) conventional surface ridge waveguide and (b) mode simulation results. (c) Dilute surface ridge waveguide and (d) corresponding mode simulation results.

fabrication which increases the complexity and cost. In this work, a spot-size converter with a simplified fabrication process is described. A similar design can be found in [54] where a thicker (up to 5 μ m) InGaAsP waveguide core layer was used. The mode conversion is realized by inversely tapering the ridge waveguide width. As shown in Fig. 2.6(a), the dilute waveguide RSOA contains a wide ridge waveguide region ($\geq 4 \mu$ m), an inverse taper for a spot-size converter, a narrow ridge waveguide region ($\leq 1.25 \mu$ m) and a surface emission window region, which is a rapid taper, similar to the one reported in section 2.2.2. The mode simulation for a wide ridge waveguide region and a narrow ridge waveguide are shown in Fig. 2.6(b). Before the inverse taper, the optical mode is compact. The inverse taper serves as a spot-size converter that converts the compact mode into an expanded mode.



Figure 2.6: (a) Dilute RSOA design with integrated spot-size converter. (b) The mode simulation before and after the spot-size converter illustrating the mode expansion process

The length of the inverse taper needs to be chosen carefully to achieve efficient mode conversion with low insertion loss. The insertion loss with respect to the length of the inverse taper can be estimated using the EME method [55]. Figure 2.7 shows the optical loss of a taper in which the width is tapered from 6 μ m to 1.25 μ m. The insertion loss given by EME simulations does not include the scattering loss introduced by waveguide roughness. The insertion loss may increase with enlarged taper length. The simulation

shows that when the taper is 3 mm long, the insertion loss is approximately 1 dB.



Figure 2.7: Insertion loss of an inverse taper as a spot size converter versus length.

The mode expansion process can be monitored using the eigenmode propagation function [56] that is integrated with the EME solver. This command calculates the resulting output mode profile of an arbitrary input mode after it has propagated through a waveguide structure for some distance. The resulting modes are then added coherently to give the final mode profile. Compared to the FDTD method, Eigenmode propagation is faster and relatively accurate for extra-long propagation simulations such as a taper structure [55]. Figure 2.8(a) and (b) show the simulation results of Eigenmode propagation illustrating a mode conversion process. The inverse taper used in this simulation has a length of 3 mm. The ridge width was converted from 6 μ m to 1.25 μ m. Figure 2.8(a) show the mode conversion process along the vertical direction of the dilute waveguide and Fig. 2.8(b) shows the mode conversion process in the horizontal plane.



Figure 2.8: Mode conversion along the (a) vertical and (b) horizontal direction of the dilute ridge waveguide.

The interaction between the waveguide mode area and the MQWs region is another important design aspect for the dilute waveguide RSOA. The overlap coefficient (Γ) is defined as the ratio of the MQW area overlap with the entire mode area [1]. As shown



Figure 2.9: (a) Dilute waveguide mode size versus ridge width. (b) Γ versus ridge width for dilute waveguide.

in Fig. 2.9 (a) and (b), the mode size and overlap coefficient (Γ) between optical MQW region varies with the vertical ridge width. Based on the simulation results, when the ridge width is 1.25 μ m, the Γ is 0.25 %. This number is too low for efficient lasing. When increasing the ridge width to above 4 μ m, the Γ can be as high as 6%. As a result, for a 3D hybrid laser constructed with a dilute waveguide RSOA, the optical gain is mainly provided by the wide ridge waveguide region prior to the inverse taper. The inverse taper contains the MQWs which is also electorally pumped to reduce abortion.

A higher overlap of the MQW region and the waveguide mode is desirable to make an efficient laser. By increasing the width of the InP ridge, the Γ will increase accordingly. However, after the InP ridge is expanded above a certain width (4 μ m), the Γ will be saturated as shown in Fig. 2.9(a). To further increase Γ , a InGaAsP quaternary layer with a high refractive index can be incorporated into the epitaxy design above the MQW region. This layer will increase the overall Γ if incorporated properly. Figure 2.10 shows simulation results for Γ as a function of ridge width of the dilute waveguide that contains none, one and two layers of InGaAsP. Based on the simulation, for a certain ridge width, the Γ increase with the number of InGaAsP high refractive index layers that are incorporated into the epitaxy design. This concept allows for achieving a better trade off between laser efficiency and coupling efficiency.



Figure 2.10: Simulation results of the Γ as a function of ridge width of the dilute waveguide that contains none, one and two layers of InGaAsP over the MQWs region.

Chapter 3

Grating Coupler for 3D Hybrid Integration

A material platform with a high index contrast allows for high-density PICs with smaller footprint. SiPh features a sub-micron waveguide core with a strongly confined guided mode. Figure 3.1 shows the optical mode simulation for a single-mode fiber and singlemode SiPh waveguide. The single mode fiber has a core diameter of 9 μ m, and the core of the SiPh waveguide is 450 nm wide and 220 nm thick. The significant mode mismatch adds complexity and cost to the SiPh packaging. Advanced edge couplers can be achieved with inverted lateral tapers and a poly-silicon overlay [40] [57]. However, these methods often lead to increased fabrication costs.

The waveguide grating coupler was proposed in [58] to minimize cost and maximize performance for SiPh packaging. In comparison to edge couplers, the waveguide grating coupler is advantageous since it does not require facet polishing or AR coating. The grating coupler can also be placed anywhere on the die. With grating couplers, waferscale testing and device screening can be achieved using a highly automated probe station. The surface coupling scheme also allows for dense packaging. Lastly, 2D grating coupler could be designed to control the polarization of the coupled light [59].

The advantages provided by the silicon grating coupler can be utilized for the 3D hybrid integration platform. The design and simulation of a silicon waveguide grating for coupling light from a surface emitting InP RSOA will be discussed in this chapter. The design consideration are different from fiber grating couplers since the optical beam of the surface emitting RSOA is more divergent than that of a single mode fiber. Section 3.1 introduces basic grating coupler theory, 2D grating coupler modeling and optimization workflow. Section 3.2 describes the design of advanced waveguide grating coupler for coupling efficiency enhancement and alignment tolerance. Section 3.3 presents the alignment tolerance analysis for 3D hybrid integration technology.



Figure 3.1: Mode simulation results of (a) a single mode fiber and (b) a single mode SiPh waveguide.

3.1 Grating Coupler Design and Optimization

3.1.1 Grating Coupler Theory

A grating coupler is a diffraction grating formed by periodically notching a waveguide. A 2D schematic of a waveguide grating coupler is shown in Fig. 3.2. Light that is diffracted off the grating teeth will constructively interfere at a specific upward angle. The constructive interference condition for a one-dimensional grating can be expressed as:

$$n_{eff} - n_c \cdot \cos(\theta) = m \cdot \frac{\lambda}{\Lambda}$$

where n_{eff} denotes the effective refractive index of the waveguide, n_c denotes the refractive index of the top cladding material, θ is the diffraction angle for constructive interference, m is the diffraction order, λ is the target wavelength in free space and Λ is grating pitch. This expression provides a coarse estimation of the grating coupler parameters. To further optimize the grating design, numerical analysis is required.



Figure 3.2: 2D schematic of a waveguide grating coupler.

3.1.2 2D Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method

The finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) method [60] is used for modeling light coupling from the surface emission RSOA to the silicon waveguide. The FDTD method is not appropriate for simulating long structures due the large computation workload, but it is ideal for simulating compact integrated photonics component such as grating couplers [61], polarization rotators [62] and SiPh filters [63]. The model was built with a commercially available software, Lumerical FDTD. Figure 3.3(a) shows a 2D schematic of the simulation setup. A conventional waveguide RSOA was coupled to a SiPh chip through a grating coupler. The fundamental TE mode of the RSOA waveguide was injected from the right and normalized so that the input power equals to 1. The mode source injected at the RSOA waveguide had a bandwidth of 100 nm to cover from 1.5 μm to 1.6 μm . The propagation of the optical mode within the entire structure is calculated using FDTD method. The power flux overlaping with the fundamental TE mode of the silicon waveguide will be calculated. The coupling efficiency is defined as the fraction of power overlap in the fundamental TE mode of the silicon waveguide versus to total power injected to the RSOA waveguide. This coupling efficiency is related to a number of parameters including the relative position between the RSOA and the SiPh chip, the turning mirror angle, the grating coupler pitch, top cladding thickness, BOX thickness and total thickness of silicon device layer. To optimize the coupling efficiency with a brute-force search is not feasible when the number of design parameters is greater than three. As a result, a multi-parameter optimization method was used to obtain the optimized design parameters.



Figure 3.3: (a) 2D FDTD model of 3D hybrid integration with standard grating coupler design (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for a conventional RSOA coupling to standard grating coupler.

3.1.3 Particle Swarm Optimization

The multi-parameter optimization method used in this work is particle swarm optimization (PSO) [64]. The figure of merit is maximizing the average coupling efficiency over the wavelength from 1.5 μ m to 1.6 μ m. The number of parameters to be optimized depends on the technology used for making the grating coupler. If SiPh foundry service is used with an established technology, parameters such as a top oxide cladding, BOX thickness and grating etching depth are fixed. The only design parameters that need to be optimized are grating coupler pitch and filing factor. The rest of the parameters are defined by the foundry technology.

The coupling efficiency is also related to the offset position between the InP RSOA and the grating coupler. In the vertical direction, the highest coupling efficiency can be achieved where the lower surface of the RSOA touches the top cladding of the grating coupler. In the horizontal direction the optimized position could be achieved by sweeping the horizontal offset position between the InP RSOA and grating coupler. At each position, the 2D FDTD simulation is used to calculate the corresponding coupling efficiency. The optimized horizontal offset position is the one that generates the highest coupling efficiency. Based on the optimized position, PSO is used to find the ideal grating coupler pitch and fill factor for a certain SiPh technology.

Figure 3.3(b) shows a 2D FDTD simulation result of the coupling efficiency vesus wavelength where a conventional InP RSOA couples to a silicon grating coupler. The grating coupler is based on a 220 nm silicon device layer on a 2 μ m BOX. The top oxide cladding is 2.5 μ m thick. The etch depth of the grating is 70 nm. This version of grating coupler is considered as the standard grating coupler in this thesis. The maximum coupling efficiency is approximately 25% based on the 2D FDTD simulation at a wavelength of 1.55 μ m. This result will be used as a baseline to evaluate the coupling efficiency enhancement achieved with advanced grating coupler implementation.

3.2 Advanced Grating Coupler Design

The maximum coupling efficiency of a uniform pitch grating coupler is limited by two factors. First, in the case of a vertically symmetric grating (by etching completely through the silicon waveguide layer and applying the same top and bottom cladding materials) the diffraction pattern is identical in the top and bottom cladding. As a result, half of the light coming from the surface emission RSOA couples into the silicon substrate. Second, there is a mode mismatch between the optical field from a surface emission RSOA and the grating coupler, which also decreases the coupling efficiency.

The solutions to these problems lead to several advanced grating coupler designs. Different advanced techniques could be used in a single grating coupler design to achieve combined coupling efficiency enhancement. The first principle of advanced grating coupler design is to reduce the grating symmetry in the vertical direction. An elevated grating coupler, or dual-layer grating coupler are good examples of breaking the vertical symmetry of the grating teeth [65]. To recover the light coupled to the substrate, a reflector made with a DBR mirror under the grating coupler is used, and can double the coupling efficiency [66]. A metal reflector can also be used below the grating coupler for efficiency enhancement [67]. The mode mismatch issue between the optical field from a surface emission RSOA and the grating coupler could be solved by using an apodized grating coupler [68]. In the follow subsections, different types of advanced grating coupler designs are presented with the corresponding 2D FDTD simulation results.

3.2.1 Elevated Grating Coupler

By reducing the etch depth, the asymmetry of the grating structure is increased. However, this comes at the expense of a longer coupling length since the strength of the grating is reduced. To maintain a high grating coupling strength and high asymmetry, a layer of poly crystalline silicon (poly-Si) can be added on top of the silicon device layer. The poly-Si is introduced as an additional degree of freedom to the grating coupler structure, thereby allowing for an optimization of both the directionality and coupling length of the grating coupler. As shown in Fig. 3.4(a), the grating coupler region is elevated compared to the silicon waveguide by the poly-Si deposition. The ploy-Si overlay is CMOS compatible and has been standardized in SiPh foundries such as Interuniversity Microelectronics Centre (IMEC).

In this work, a total thickness of 160 nm poly-Si overlay is deposited on top of the 220 nm silicon device layer to form the elevated grating coupler. After the poly-Si deposition, the grating teeth are fabricated using dry etching. The etch depth is another parameter that will impact the coupling efficiency. Based on the practical swam optimization, the etch depth of 220 nm is chosen. It turns out this etching depth is ideal for both fiber

design.



Figure 3.4: (a) Schematic for 2D FDTD simulation model of elevated grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA. (b) 2D FDTD simulation results of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for elevated grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA.

3.2.2 Dual Layer Grating

Silicon nitride waveguides feature low propagation loss, a high nonelinear coefficient and insensitivity to the temperature changes [69]. Silicon nitride waveguides are widely used in the PIC industry. The fabrication of silicon nitride films relies on chemical vapor deposition (CVD). After decades of development, high quality silicon nitride films can be deposited at low temperature with low stress. The silicon nitride deposition process has been integrated into the process flow of SiPh chip fabrication. This silicon nitride waveguide layer is usually inserted on top of silicon waveguide layer for facilitating edge coupling.



Figure 3.5: (a) Schematic for 2D FDTD simulation model of dual layer grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA. (b) 2D FDTD simulation results of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for dual layer grating coupler coupled with conventional RSOA.

A novel grating coupler utilizing both silicon and a silicon nitride layer has been proposed [69]. After silicon waveguide layer fabrication, high quality CVD oxide is deposited. The wafer then undergoes a CMP process to achieve a clean and smooth surface for the silicon nitride layer deposition. The combination of the silicon nitride and silicon device layer breaks the vertical symmetry of the grating structure. The gap between the silicon layer and silicon nitride layer is an important parameter. With proper design of the oxide gap, constructively interfering radiation from different scattering interfaces of the dual layer grating coupler can be achieved to further boost coupling efficiency. A partial-etched grating is used in the design of the silicon nitride and silicon dioxide cladding, a fully etched silicon nitride layer is also preferred for high coupling strength. Figure 3.5(a) shows the 2D schematic of the dual layer grating coupler. A 400 nm silicon nitride fully etched grating was fabricated over a standard 220 nm silicon grating coupler with 70 nm etch depth. The parameters to be optimized are the pitch and fill factor for both the silicon and silicon nitride grating. With optimized parameters, the coupling efficiency versus wavelength are simulated and the results are shown in Fig. 3.5(b). The maximum coupling efficiency was improved to approximately 50%.

3.2.3 Back Reflector

Due to the symmetric diffraction pattern of the grating coupler, the theoretical maximum coupling efficiency is limited to 50%. A significant amount of light from the RSOA is not coupled into the silicon waveguide but coupled down to the silicon substrate. In order to recover this otherwise lost optical energy, reflectors such as metal or DBR mirrors have been used below the grating coupler layer to boost coupling efficiency.



Figure 3.6: (a) 2D schematic of 3D hybrid integration using back reflector below grating coupler. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for grating coupler with back reflector.

In [66], a DBR mirror made by a silicon dioxide and silicon nitride superlattice was used to double the coupling efficiency of a vertical fiber coupler. Aluminum or gold can alternatively be incorporated beneath the grating layer with back side fabrication [70]. In this work, a layer of 100 nm gold was incorporated beneath the 220 nm grating coupler with 70 nm etch depth. As shown in Fig. 3.6(a), the grating pitch, fill factors and oxide gap between the gold mirror and silicon grating are optimized. The coupling efficiency versus wavelength is simulated and the results are shown in Fig. 3.6(b). The maximum coupling efficiency is achieved is greater than 50%.

3.2.4 Apodized Pitch Grating

The output of the uniform grating coupler has an exponentially decaying power described as

 $P = P_0 \exp(-2\alpha z)$, along the propagation direction. α is the coupling strength factor, which is a constant for the uniform grating. For a nonuniform grating, the α can be expressed as a function of z. As a result, the shape of the output beam could be altered to match the beam from the surface emission RSOA. For example, to achieve a Gaussian output beam, $\alpha(z)$ is given by:

$$2\alpha z = \frac{G^2(z)}{1 - \int_0^z G^2(z) \mathrm{d}t}$$

where G(z) is a normalized Gaussian profile.

To achieve this z-dependence of α , either the etch depth or the pitch of the grating can be varied. This equation is valid only for a long grating with small α , which is not the case for the grating coupler used in 3D hybrid integration. Therefore, we use the solution of the above equation as a starting point and perform a further numerical optimization for the grating structure. Figure 3.7 (a) shows the 2D schematic of an apodized grating coupler design using a 220 nm thick silicon waveguide layer with a 70 nm etch depth. As shown in Fig. 3.7(b), the maximum coupling efficiency is 38% for the apodized grating



Figure 3.7: (a) 2D schematic design of 3D hybrid integration using apodized grating coupler. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for apodized and standard grating coupler.

coupler.

3.2.5 High Coupling Efficiency Design

High coupling efficiency between the RSOA and silicon waveguide was achieved by combining several coupling efficiency enhancement techniques. The conventional RSOA design was replaced with a dilute waveguide RSOA. The dilute waveguide provides lower divergence output beam with increased beam size. The 220 nm thick silicon grating coupler layer is increased to 500 nm. A thicker silicon coupler provides high effective index that is helpful for coupling a divergent beam from the RSOA. The grating coupler and silicon waveguide are subject to different thicknesses. The total thickness of the grating coupler is 500 nm and the thickness of the waveguide is 160 nm. The etching depth of the grating, pitch and fill factor of the 500 nm grating coupler are optimized by PSO. Gold reflector was inserted beneath the grating coupler. A 2D schematic of the high coupling efficiency design is shown in Fig. 3.8(a). The coupling efficiency was simulated by 2D FDTD. As shown, the maximum coupling achieved was 85%, a significant increase compared to other implementation.



Figure 3.8: (a) 2D schematic of the high coupling efficiency design. (b) 2D FDTD simulation of the coupling efficiency versus wavelength for high coupling efficiency design.

3.3 Alignment Tolerance Analysis

Flip-chip bonding is used for the 3D hybrid integration technology. This is a mechanical assembly process where two chips are attached. The misalignment is inevitable due to mechanical movements of the equipment. The source of misalignment comes mainly from the pick-and-place mechanical displacement error. Another misalignment comes from the solder reflow process. To overcome the misalignment in the assembly process, high precision bonding tools are used. However, those tools are expensive and limit the throughput of the flip-chip process. Making the bonding process insensitive to the placement error is important for hybrid integration approaches on SiPh. In this section, the coupling efficiency variation with respect to the misalignment is studied. The bonding
process related misalignment mainly refers to the offset of the relative position offset between the RSOA and SiPh chips.

3.3.1 Vertical Offset

The coupling efficiency variation with respect to the vertical position offset between the lower RSOA emitting surface and the top of the grating coupler cladding is presented. The coupling efficiency calculation is based on 2D FDTD simulations. The grating coupler used here is based on 380 nm total grating thickness with 220 nm etching depth. In the simulation, the RSOA with a conventional waveguide design was fixed above the silicon grating coupler, and then the vertical position, or gap, was varied. An air gap was used for this simulation. At each vertical offset position, the coupling efficiency was calculated. The coupling efficiency drops almost linearly with the increasing vertical offset. Both conventional and dilute RSOAs were simulated. The results are shown in Fig. 3.9. The coupling efficiency at each offset position was normalized to the maximum value. The vertical offset that introduces 1 dB extra-loss for the dilute waveguide design is 1.79 μ m. For the conventional waveguide design, the offset is only 0.9 μ m. A large vertical offset tolerance suggests better alignment tolerance.

3.3.2 Horizontal Offset

The coupling efficiency variation with respect to the horizontal position offset between the RSOA emitting surface and the grating coupler was also studied. The simulation set up was identical to the model used in 3.3.1. The RSOA was fixed over the silicon grating coupler. The horizontal position of the silicon grating coupler varied with respect to the position of the RSOA. At each offset position, the coupling efficiency was calculated. Both conventional and dilute RSOAs were simulated. The results are shown in Fig. 3.10



Figure 3.9: Vertical alignment tolerances. The coupling efficiency is shown as a function of the vertical offset for both the conventional and dilute waveguide RSOA.

with the coupling efficiency normalized to the maximum value. An alignment error of 1.74 μ m in the horizontal direction results in an additional 1 dB coupling loss for the dilute RSOA design. For the conventional waveguide RSOA design, this offset is only 0.8 μ m.

3.3.3 Horizontal and Verical Offset Combined Analysis

The 2D FDTD simulations allow for fast coupling efficiency calculations. The combined sweep of the grating coupler position both in the vertical and horizontal directions is presented here. The silicon grating coupler used in this simulation is identical to the one used in section 3.3.1. At each position, the coupling efficiency is calculated and normalized to the maximum value. The results are presented as a contour map. Each contour line indicates extra loss introduced by the spatial offset at a certain position. The area within a certain contour line can be used as an indicator for the alignment tolerance. The simulation results for coupling a conventional and dilute RSOA to the



Figure 3.10: Horizontal alignment tolerances. The coupling efficiency is shown as a function of the horizontal offset for both the conventional and dilute waveguide RSOA.

silicon grating coupler are shown in Fig. 3.11 and Fig. 3.12 respectively. The simulation illustrates a significant alignment tolerance enhancement by replacing the conventional RSOA with a dilute waveguide design for the 3D hybrid integration platform.



Figure 3.11: Contour plot of additional coupling loss introduced by horizontal and vertical misalignment offset (dB) of conventional RSOA couple to elevated grating coupler.



Figure 3.12: Contour plot of additional coupling loss introduced by horizontal and vertical misalignment offset (dB) of dilute RSOA coupled to elevated grating coupler.

Chapter 4

Indium Phosphide Device Fabrication

In this chapter, the InP device fabrication process is discussed. The fabrication starts with the epitaxy on a native InP substrate using reduced toxicity Metal-organic chemical vapour deposition (MOCVD). The samples then go through a series of fabrication steps including thin film deposition, etching, metal deposition and thermal processing. Some of the processing tools and techniques used are projection photolithography, dielectric film deposition, dry etching of dielectric and semiconductor films using reactive ion etching and inductively coupled plasma reactive ion etching, wet etching of dielectric and semiconductor films and electron beam evaporation of metals.

The fabrication processes for an InP RSOA, laser and PIC are similar, but the complexity of these processes is different. The fabrication of the RSOA has the lowest complexity. The regrowth can be eliminated for the RSOA [71]. InP lasers or PICs, however, generally require additional regrowth steps in order to achieve single wavelength operation or integrated device functionality [72]. For an InP laser, a mode selection structure must be incorporated, which might require a subwavelength grating. The subwavelength structure can only be made by using EBL and interference lithography. The use of high order DBR gratings can reduce fabrication complexity but comes at the cost of limited slope efficiency for the lasers [73]. Subwavelength grating processes for the InP lasers reduce the overall yield and increase the cost for fabrication. InP based PICs demand the highest complexity in terms of fabrication [74]. Active devices such as lasers, SOAs, modulators and photodiodes must be linked by passive waveguides on a single substrate. Extra fabrication processes, such as active-passive definition, are required, adding to the complexity of the fabrication and decreasing the yield [75].

In this chapter, the fabrication of the integrated turning mirror will be reviewed first. Next, the step by step fabrication review of the dilute waveguide RSOA will be provided. Last, the fabrication process for InP PICs used for integrated frequency-modulated continuous-wave (FMCW) lidar application will be discussed. Active components on this PIC include a widely tunable laser, balanced photodiodes and a phaser shifter. Passive components are also integrated including an asymmetric Mach-Zehnder interferometer, a four-ports multimode interference (MMI) coupler, and deeply etched ridge waveguide for small bending radius.

4.1 Integrated Turning Mirror Fabrication

The RSOA deployed in the 3D hybrid integration technology features surface beam emission. To achieve this functionality, a total TIR mirror must be incorporated into the waveguide. The fabrication of the TIR mirror using chemically assisted ion beam etching (CAIBE) and focused ion beam (FIB) etching are introduced in this section. In this section, the state-of-art InP dry etching technologies are reviewed first. Then, the general principles of the CAIBE and its application for angled facet etch are discussed. In the last part of this section, TIR mirror fabrication using FIB etching is discussed.

4.1.1 Dry Etch Processes

Two types of dry etch processes are used in this work for InP fabrication: $CH_4/H_2/Ar$ reactive ion etching (RIE) and $Cl_2/H_2/Ar$ inductively coupled plasma (ICP) RIE. RIE of InP with the $CH_4/H_2/Ar$ plasma is able to produce a nearly vertical etch profile with smooth surfaces. The limitations of this approach for TIR mirror fabrication are devoted to micro-loading effect [76], which leads to a nonuniform etch profile in terms etch rate, sidewall angle and roughness. The performance of the TIR mirror is degraded in this way. Another challenge is the polymer formation, which without proper removal results in contamination and degraded anisotropy [77]. To achieve a tilted stage, extra parts need to be fabricated which increases the complexity of the process since most of the RIE tools do not have a tilted wafer holder [78].

Dry etch processes that produce highly anisotropic etch profiles with smooth surface morphology are critical for high performance InP photonics devices. ICP-RIE etching is important for dry etching, featuring a high density plasma with a low bias voltage and low chamber pressure [79]. The etch rate is much higher for ICP-RIE with improved anisotropy compared to RIE. The high process temperature is generally required for this process, attributed to the low volatility of InCl₂, which limits the chemical activity and leads to surface roughness through nonuniform desorption. When InP is etched at elevated temperatures above 200°C, however, the desorption rate of InCl₂ increases considerably, resulting in substantially increased etch rates, improved anisotropy, and smooth surfaces [80]. ICP is commonly used for InP waveguide fabrication and subwavelength grating etching. However, most ICP etchers are not equipped with an angled wafer holder, which makes it difficult to use for TIR mirror fabrication.

4.1.2 Chemically Assisted Ion Beam Etching

CAIBE is a novel dry etching technique for III-V material fabrication [81] [82] [83]. It is an enhanced version of reactive ion beam etching. In CAIBE, a collimated beam of reactive ions (and neutrals) is extracted from a plasma and directed at the sample. As a result, independent control of the ion energy, current density and background gas compositions is allowed. This is not achievable in RIE since etch parameters (flows, ion density, chamber pressure) are interdependent. The process can usually be adjusted to obtain high etch rates and anisotropic profiles in various materials. Compared to RIE, the CAIBE chemical flux is introduced into the etching chamber independent of the ion source operation. In also provides a wider range of control on top of ion energy, current and etching chemical composition. Dry etched mirrors have been fabricated with CAIBE with compatible performance of a cleaved facet [84]. Compared to RIE etching, CAIBE features less polymer accumulation and less loading effect. Like Cl₂ based ICP, the sample are usually heated up to 250° C for InCl₂ desorption for InP processes. Some of the commercially available CAIBE tools featured a tilted wafer holder inside the etching chamber. This is particularly attractive for the angled dry etching process. A hard mask, such as silicon nitride (SixNy) and silicon dioxide (SiO₂) is used. The CAIBE process relies more on physical bombardment of ions on the sample. The etch selectivity between the mask and target materials is based on the sputtering yield rate. Materials with higher sputtering yield are used to achieve high etch selectively for the CAIBE process.

In this work, for the conventional RSOA, the TIR mirror is etched by the CAIBE process. The mask material is Al_2O_3 grown by electron beam evaporation. The sample was mounted on a tilted substrate at a certain angle, an energetic Ar beam was directed to the sample concurrently with a neutral Cl_2 gas flowing onto the sample surface. The tilted angle is not necessarily equal to the TIR mirror turning angle so as to compensate

for the extra tilting introduced by the chemical etch. The back facet of the conventional RSOA is also fabricated by the CAIBE process. Figure 4.1(a) shows the top view of a etched trench by CAIBE. The red circle marks the surface emission window. Figure 4.1(b) shows the cross-section of the etched TIR mirror by CAIBE. The etching temperature is 250° C for InCl₂ desorption.



Figure 4.1: (a) Top view of a TIR mirror on conventional RSOA fabricated by CAIBE process (b) Cross-section of a etched TIR mirror.

4.1.3 Focused Ion Beam Etching

FIB has been used in semiconductor manufacturing for over 20 years. FIB systems operate in a similar fashion to a scanning electron microscope (SEM) except, rather than a beam of electrons, a beam of collimated ions is directed at the sample [85]. It uses a finely focused beam of gallium ions (Ga^+) that operates at low beam current for imaging or at high beam current for site specific sputtering or milling. Unlike an electron microscope, FIB is inherently destructive to the specimen. When the high-energy Ga^+ ions strike the sample, they will sputter atoms from the encountering surface. Ga^+ will also be implanted from the top surface, leaving the surface amorphous [86]. With a tiled

sample stage, FIB is an ideal process for angled etching at arbitrary locations on the wafer with arbitrary angles. In CAIBE, the plasma is formed uniformly across the whole chamber, whereas for FIB, the focused Ga⁺ ions will only be applied to a specific region. Outside the defined region, the sputtering or milling will not take place so that a mask is not needed for the FIB process.

In this work, a FEI Helios Dualbeam Nanolab 600 system is used for TIR mirror fabrication by FIB. The system is equipped with a SEM for nanometer resolution imaging and a FIB column operating from 30 kV to 500 V. Ion currents range from 7 pA to 22 nA, which can be used for substantial milling tasks. A piezo-driven stage can operate within an area of 150 x 150 mm². The Ga⁺ source can be used to image and nano machine down to 5 nm structures.

The TIR mirror is fabricated in a backend process for the RSOA. The cleaved RSOA chip was mounted on a carrier and mounted on a stage in the FIB chamber. No angle offset is needed. With a fixed operating voltage and etching area, the etching of the FIB process is related to the beam current. Generally higher beam current provides faster etching rate and more surface damage. To fabricate the TIR mirror, the angled trench is first opened using a higher current beam. Next, a clean-up etch with lower beam current is used. For the cleanup etch, the etching area is much smaller than the high-current etch. Figure 4.2(a) shows the top view of an etched trench by FIB for TIR mirror fabrication. The red circle marks the surface emission window. Figure 4.2(b) shows the cross-section of the etched TIR mirror fabricated with the FIB process.



Figure 4.2: (a) Top view of etched trench by FIB for the TIR mirror. (b) Cross-section of the etched TIR mirror.

4.2 Overview of Surface Emitting Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier Fabrication

The fabrication processes of an InP RSOA is significantly less involved than an InP laser or a PIC. There is no passive waveguide section on the RSOA so that the active-passive integration process is not required. The entire epitaxy structure can be realized with a single epitaxial growth. The RSOA does not require an in-plane grating for single wavelength operation. However, compared to a conventional InP RSOA, the fabrication of the RSOA for 3D hybrid integration needs to be optimized accordingly. The fabrication process for the InP RSOA includes ridge definition, surface window etch, via opening, metallization, wafer thinning and back-end processes.

Name	Layer	Thicknes s (nm)	Composition		Doping		
					Туре	Dopant	Conc.
			X	У			(cm-3)
Substr.	InP	~	-		N	S	~3-5e+18
Buffer	InP	800	-		N	Si	1.00E+18
Buffer	InP	100	-		N	Si	8.00E+17
Buffer	InP	100	-		N	Si	6.00E+17
WG	In(x)GaAs(y)P	3000	0.903	0.213	Ν	Si	8.00E+16
WG	In(x)GaAs(y)P	2000	0.903	0.213	N	Si	5.00E+16
Mode Control	In(x)GaAs(y)P	[100]	0.7585	0.5324	N	Si	3.00E+16
Spacer	InP	20	-		N	Si	3.00E+16
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
QW	In(x)GaAs(y)P	6.5	0.735	0.845	UID	-	
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
QW	In(x)GaAs(y)P	6.5	0.735	0.845	UID	-	
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
QW	In(x)GaAs(y)P	6.5	0.735	0.845	UID	-	
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
QW	In(x)GaAs(y)P	6.5	0.735	0.845	UID	-	
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
QW	In(x)GaAs(y)P	6.5	0.735	0.845	UID	-	
Barrier	In(x)GaAs(y)P	8	0.735	0.513	UID	-	
SCH	In(x)GaAs(y)P	25	0.7676	0.504	UID	-	
InP	InP	10	-		UID	-	
Mode Control	In(x)GaAs(y)P	20	0.7585	0.5234	Р	Be	1.00E+17
InP	InP	10	- P		Be	3.00E+17	
Mode Control	In(x)GaAs(y)P	20	0.7585	0.5234	Р	Be 3.00E+17	
InP	InP	10	-		Р	Be	3.00E+17
Mode Control	In(x)GaAs(y)P	20	0.7585	0.5234	Р	Be	3.00E+17
Сар	InP	30	-		Р	Be	3.00E+17
Сар	InP	170	-		Р	Be	5.00E+17

Table 4.1: Dilute RSOA Base Epitaxy Layer Structure

4.2.1 Base Structure

The details of the base epitaxial layer structure for the dilute RSOA are listed in Table 4.1. The name, composition, thickness and doping of each layer are presented. The base structure was grown on a sulfur doped n-type InP wafer. The N-contact of the RSOA can be formed on the back side of the wafer after thinning. Compared to a conventional surface ridge design, the epitaxy design of the dilute RSOA features a significant thicker quaternary waveguide layer. Mode control layers are used to optimize the mode overlap with the MQW to achieve a high overlap coefficient. The base material is wet etched to the last layer of the InGaAsP (marked with a green dot in table 4.1). Then a 1.8 μ m of p-type InP, a 100 nm thick InGaAs contact layer and a 200 nm InP capping layer is grown by the in-house MOCVD system. The final epitaxy structure for the dilute waveguide RSOA in this work is shown in Fig. 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Final epitaxy structure for the dilute waveguide RSOA.

4.2.2 Ridge Waveguide Formation with Trench Etch

The waveguide formation process is the first step. As shown in Fig. 4.4(a), the shallow ridge was defined by etching away material in the trench area next to the mesa. The rest of wafer area is planar. For the RSOA used in 3D hybrid integration, it is important to maintain the rest of wafer area as planar as possible for the flip-chip bonding process. A combined SixNy and SiO₂ mask is used for the etching. A 50 nm of SixNy is used as seeding layer for a better hard mask adhesion followed by 500 nm SiO₂ deposition.

The ridge was etched in two steps. First, $Cl_2/H_2/Ar$ ICP-RIE was used to etch the InP ridge and stop within 0.4 μ of the quaternary layer. The rest of the InP was wet etched by using H₃PO₄:HCl 3:1. The advantage of the two step ridge etching process is that atomically smooth waveguide side wall can be achieved with minimum ridge undercut due to the crystallographic etch.



Figure 4.4: Ridge waveguide formation with trench etched for the dilute waveguide RSOA. (a) 3D schematic of the trench etch and (b) top view microscope picture of ridge waveguide after etching with hard mask.

4.2.3 Surface Emission Window Etch

The p-type contact layer is absorbing at the designed operation wavelength of the RSOA. For the edge emitting device, this layer of contact material is far away from the optical mode. However, for the surfacing emission RSOA, the InGaAs p-contact layer needs to be removed locally at the surface emission window (where light passes through). After the ridge waveguide etch, an extra 100 nm silicon nitride was deposited to cover the exposed InP. A Photoresist mask is then used to define the surface emission window.

SixNy mask was dry etched in RIE to expose the top InP and photoresist remained during the wet etch for extra masking. The top InP cladding and InGaAs contact layers are wet etched by H_3PO_4 :HCl 3:1 and H_2SO_4 : H_2O_2 : H_2O 1:1:10, respectively. Figure 4.5(a) shows a 3D schematic of a surface emission widow and Fig. 4.5(b) shows a corresponding



top view microscope image of a fabricated surface emission window.

Figure 4.5: Surface window etch for the dilute waveguide RSOA. (a) 3D schematic and (b) top view microscope picture of surface window.

4.2.4 Via Opening and Metallization

A layer of 200 nm SixNy is used as a waveguide cladding for the dilute RSOA. The thickness is chosen based on a light extraction enhancement; the SixNy film deposited by the plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) with total thickness of 200 nm can be used as an antireflection coating for surface emission. The semi-self-aligned process [87] is used for the p-via opening, in which a thick photoresist is spun and is partially exposed with a mask area much wider than the real ridge, and dry etched until the top of the ridge is exposed. Figure 4.6(a) shows a 3D schematic of opened via on top

of the ridge. Figure 4.5(b) shows the partially etched photoresist, exposing the SixNy on top of the ridge with the rest of area is still covered by the photoresist.



Figure 4.6: (a) 3D schematic of the via opening and (b) top view microscope picture of the lift-off mask for p-metal with via opened.

The SixNy is then etched in RIE to expose the InP cladding. To avoid photoresist contamination of the contact layer, the InP cladding is not etched until the p-type metallization lift-off mask is fabricated. The 200 nm InP cap layer is wet etched by the H₃PO₄:HCl 3:1 that stops at the InGaAs contact layer. The p-contact metal was deposited after the lift-off mask lithography. Figure 4.6(b) shows the top view microscope image of the lift-off mask for p-metal with the via opened. To achieve better sidewall coverage, the sample was mounted on a tilted stage with rotation in the electron-beam evaporating deposition chamber for contact metal deposition. The metal thickness is approximately 2.5 μ m. After the p-type metal lift-off, the wafer was cleaned and annealed in forming gas to reduce the contact resistance. Figure 4.7(a) shows the 3D schematic of dilute waveguide RSOA after p-metal deposition and Fig. 4.7(b) shows the surface emission window under SEM with the TIR mirror fabricated by FIB. The red line in Fig.



4.7(a) indicates the TIR mirror trench to be fabricated by FIB etching.

Figure 4.7: (a) 3D schematic of fabricated dilute waveguide RSOA and (b) surface emission window under SEM with turning mirror fabricated by FIB during a back end step.

The wafer was subjected to a brief diagnostic measurement for an initial evaluation after the p-metal fabrication and annealing. The main purpose of this test is to check the contact resistance; an extra layer of contact metal could be added if the contact resistance is higher than expected. Figure 4.8(a) and (b) shows the dilute RSOA ridge cross-section SEM image before and after the inverse taper with the metal contact layer on top of the ridge.

4.2.5 Backend Process Steps

After the evaluation, the wafer was thinned with a back-side lapping process. The wafer thickness after lapping is 150 μ m. Before cleaving, the n-metal stack was deposited on the backside of the wafer. The backside surface was solvent cleaned prior to deposition. After the backside metalization, the wafer is cleaved into bars. The back facet of the



Figure 4.8: Dilute RSOA ridge SEM cross-section image (a) before and (b) after the inverse taper.

RSOA is subjected to a high-reflection (HR) coating to create one reflective mirror. The HR coating is deposited in house using electron beam evaporating using with two periods of SiO₂ and amorphous silicon. The thickness of the SiO₂ and amorphous silicon used are 250 nm and 110 nm, respectively. The HR coating increases the reflection of a cleaved facet from 30 % to 95 %. After the HR coating, the devices are cleaved into single bars and mounted for testing.

4.3 Overview of InP Photonic Integrated Circuit Fabrication

The fabrication processes of an InP PIC is significantly more complicated than the fabrication processes of an InP laser or RSOA. For example, the number of mask layers for the InP RSOA in section 4.2 is four. For the InP PIC that is introduced in this section, the number is twelve. Regrowth and multiple etching steps are incorporated

into the fabrication processes. Although the minimum features as well as the alignment control in InP PIC fabrication processes are not as critical as in SiPh, the challenges come from the handling of the fragile InP wafers. The wet processes include the InP ridge waveguide etch, the InGaAs contact layer removed for electrical isolation and the InP cap removed. These steps require care to prevent unwanted etching of important layers.

In this section, the fabrication process of an InP PIC is reviewed with the emphasis on the potential risk of failure at each step. Some of the issues can be solved with improved fabrication tools. However, for small volume prototype development both for research and production, those issues need to be addressed in order to achieve better yield. The InP PIC introduced in this section is used as a FMCW.

4.3.1 Active-Passive Integration

The active-passive integration is the most significant difference between the fabrication of an InP PIC and a RSOA. The active material is grown everywhere on the wafer during the epitaxial growth. When it is pumped, optical gain can be achieved. However, for passive devices, the active material is absorbing and would increase the insertion loss. Different integration platforms for InP PICs are often classified based on the active-passive integration technology [88]. In this work, the offset quantum well (OQW) technology as utilized [89] in Fig. 4.9. In the OQW platform, most of the ptype InP cladding and InGaAs contact layer are not deposited during the base material growth. The meaning of offset is that the optical mode center is not centered in active region, which will impact the device efficiency. Following the base material growth, the quantum wells (QWs) are removed where the passive device will be defined. The masked regions are active regions where QWs are protected by a hard mask during the wet etch. The transition of the active regions is angled to reduce reflection. The OQW platform features high yield and a relatively simple fabrication process. However, this platform is not ideal for making low threshold lasers due to the reduced optical confinement factor [1].



Figure 4.9: Active-passive integration with OQW. (a) 2D sideview schematic of the waveguide structure. (b) Schematic (up) and microscope image (bottom) of active-passive fabrication.

4.3.2 Grating Formation

Sampled grating DBR mirrors are used for wavelength selection for the widely tunable on-chip laser [90]. The gratings with 240 nm pitch were formed into the InGaAsP waveguide layer in a passive region. The fabrication of subwavelength gratings requires a minimum fabrication resolution of 120 nm. In this work, the gratings are defined by EBL. Compared to interference lithography, EBL features a minimum fabrication linewidth of 20 nm. SiO₂ deposited by PECVD is used as the mask material to etch the gratings. The positive-tone EBL resist (AR-P 6200) is used to pattern the hard mask.

After EBL, the grating pattern in the resist layer is transferred to the SiO_2 mask layer by ICP-RIE etching. After etching, the resist is removed by oxygen plasma ashing. The dry etching of the grating is based on $CH_4/H_2/Ar$ RIE low bias voltage to ensure a slow etch rated, compared to the ridge etch, for better etch depth control. With the same RIE condition, the native oxide on the InP will be etched at a rate that is slow and nonuniform. This will greatly bias the grating etch and increase the roughness of the gratings, increasing loss in the mirror. To remove the native InP oxide, the wafer was dipped in $NH_4OH:H_2O$ 1:1 for 20 seconds before the RIE etch. Because of diffusion of the electrons during the a calibration process should be performed for the grating fill factor used in the design. The EBL calibration mask is shown in Fig. 4.10 targeting a 50:50 fill factor for a 200 nm pitch grating. Each burst group represents different filling factor of the grating as it is indicated in the figure insert.



Figure 4.10: EBL grating calibration mask with different fill factors.

The pattern group shown in Fig. 4.10 will also be exposed under various electron beam dose conditions to further optimize the EBL process. Figure 4.11 shows the results of a calibration process targeting a grating optimization for 200 nm pitch after RIE etch. The grating groups with different fill factor are exposed with two different dose condition.



Figure 4.11: EBL grating calibration etch results. The number on each sub-figure indicates the dose and fill factor used on the mask.

4.3.3 Regrowth

The processed wafer after the active-passive and grating fabrication is loaded into the MOCVD chamber for regrowth. The surface preparation prior to regrowth is very important to achieve consistent and high-quality regrown films. After the $CH_4/H_2/Ar$ RIE etch, the hard mask is not removed immediately. To remove any photoresist and polymer residue, the wafer is first dipped into pure H_2SO_4 . Then the sample is loaded into the UV ozone chamber to ash and oxide film on the surface. It is important to ensure the UV ozone chamber is clean and seasoned for this step. It is suggested to use a dedicated UV ozone chamber for regrowth preparation. Also, the chamber needs to be warmed up for one hour before the real process. The rest of the hard mask is removed by buffered HF (BHF) after the UV ozone treatment. Then the sample is immediately placed in a vacuum seal bag and transferred to the MOCVD system. After regrowth, the sample will undergo through a series of process steps beginning with waveguide definition.

4.3.4 Waveguide Formation

The waveguide formation process for PICs is significantly more involved than RSOA fabrication. To integrate both deep and shallow ridge waveguides on the same wafer, the waveguide formation fabrication process involves three steps [91]. First, both shallow and deep ridges are defined using a $Cl_2/H_2/Ar$ based ICP-RIE etch. A thicker hard mask is needed compared to the grating etch. Mask adhesion is critical because the hard mask will also be used as a wet etch mask in a later step. A combined SixNy and SiO₂ mask is used. SixNy demonstrates better adhesion than SiO₂ but lower etch selectivity in the ICP-RIE. A hard mask of 100 nm of SixNy and 550 nm of SiO₂ is used. The deep ridge region is then protected by the photoresist mask, and then the shallow ridge is etched in H₃PO₄:HCl 3:1. The fabricated cross-section of the shallow waveguide is shown in Fig.

4.12(a). In the final step, another hard mask is formed with lift-off process. The SiO₂ is deposited by the electron-beam evaporation. This layer of SiO₂ aims to provide a good side wall coverage for the shallow etched waveguide. Also, it is used to form the deep-to-shallow transition structure that is shown in Fig. 4.12(d). After the lift-off, another ICP-RIE step was used to define the deep etched ridge waveguide. The cross-section of the deep ridge waveguide is shown in Fig. 4.12(b). A perspective view SEM image of a curved deep ridge waveguide is shown in Fig. 4.12(c). The fabricated deep-to-shallow transition structure is shown in Fig. 4.12(d).

Another device that can realize the deep-to-shallow transition function is the one-bytwo MMI. The taper region of one port can be defined in the shallow ridge layer. The multi-mode region is defined on the deep ridge layer starting at end of the taper region (where the multi-mode region starts). By defining the multi-mode region on the deep ridge, the MMI can be made with a compact footprint. A perspective view SEM image of a fabricated deep-to-shallow MMI is shown in Fig. 4.13.

4.3.5 Top n-Contact and Thermal Bump

After the waveguide etch, the remaining hard mask was removed by BHF. Another hard mask was deposited for the top n-contact and thermal bump fabrication. The thermal bump is designed for heat dissipation of the laser and SOAs on the PIC. ICP-RIE was used to dry etch to the middle of the InGaAsP waveguide layer. Wet etching based on $H_2SO_4:H_2O_2:H_2O$ 1:1:10 is used to remove the InGaAsP on top of the n-type InP. N-contact metal was then deposit into the opening. It is important to leave a gap between the contact metal and contact opening during mask design. The InGaAsP layer is highly doped, therefore if contact metal touches the wall of the contact opening, a short between the p- and n-contact will be formed. The n-contact metal based on



Figure 4.12: SEM image of (a) cross-section of shallow ridge, (b) cross-section of deep ridge, (c) curved deep ridge waveguide and (d) shallow-to-deep transition.

electron-beam evaporation of Ni/AuGe/Ni/Au is used. The composition of the AuGe is important for the contact quality. The AuGe has an optimized composition. After lift-off, the contact was annealed in forming gas to alloy and reduce resistance.

4.3.6 Passivation and Electrical Isolation

A high quality dielectric film was deposited for device passivation. The adhesion is crucial and one concern is the stress in the film deposited by PECVD. One solution to



Figure 4.13: The deep-to-shallow transition MMI.

alleviate film stress is to use multiple layers of material that with opposite stress. It is reported that stress of SixNy deposited at 300 °C and 60 °C are -78.4 MPa (tensile) and -11.2 MPa, respectively [92]. For SiO₂, the stress is 51.78 MPa (compressive) at 300°C and 7.4 MPa at 60°C [92]. Based on these stress parameters, a layer of SixNy of 100 nm is first deposited at 250°C. Then 250 nm of SiO₂ is deposited immediately. Finally a layer of SixNy, which is 150 nm thick is deposited on top of the SiO₂. This provides good adhesion as well as sidewall coverage. Electrical isolation between different components on the PIC is required to ensure that all integrated devices operate independently. For the OQW platform, the isolation is realized by selectively etching the top InP cap and InGaAs contact layer between the different components.

The isolation lithography utilizes the SSA process that was described in section 4.2.4.



Figure 4.14: Example of isolation formed by selectively etching the top InP cap and InGaAs contact layer.

The waveguide isolation is shown in Fig. 4.14. The fabrication steps include p-via and metalization, which are similar to those used for the RSOA fabrication.

4.3.7 Photonic Integrated Circuit for 3D Hybrid Integration

The InP PIC fabricated in this section was designed for 3D hybrid integration on a SiPh chip for an integrated lidar system. This InP PIC has distinct features compared to the traditional InP PICs. First, the waveguide ridge is defined by etching a trench aside the ridge to ensure the wafer is nearly planar the flip-chip bonding process. Second, the PIC is populated with thermal bumps that share same layer structure with the n-contact metal for effective heat dissipation for the integrated laser and SOAs. The bonding pads on the silicon chip will match the thermal bumps on the InP PIC to provide extra mechanical stability for the system. Last, the termination of the output waveguide for the InP PIC is a rapid taper structure for surface emission. A TIR mirror is shown in Fig. 4.15.

The InP PIC was mounted on the custom designed carrier for initial calibration. Figure 4.16(a) shows the top-view image of the supper carrier with transmitter IC, InP



Figure 4.15: Schematic (left) and top-view SEM of surface emssision window (right) with TIR mirror fabricated.

PIC and receiver IC. The InP PIC was mounted on a small sub-carrier before bonding to the super carrier. The pads on the PIC are connected onto the supper carrier by wire bonding. Figure 4.16(c) shows the optical-electrical integration by wire bonding. The rest of the area on the supper carrier was reserved for the frequency locker IC and receiver IC. To illustrate the compact footprint, the entire integrated lidar transceiver system was photographed with a coin as shown in Fig. 4.16(d).



Figure 4.16: (a) Top-view image of the supper carrier with transmitter IC, InP PIC and receiver IC. (b) InP PIC mounted on small sub-carrier. (c) The optical-electrical integration by wire bonding. (d) Picture of whole integrated lidar transmitter system with a coin.

Chapter 5

Silicon Photonics Device Fabrication

SiPh has become a leading solution for PICs used for applications including high performance computing, communications, sensing [93], and on-chip interconnects [94]. The benefits provided by SiPh over other PIC platforms include the use of existing CMOS foundries, co-integration with micro-electronics and access to advanced fabrication equipment supporting nanometer scale control and heterogeneous growth of germanium on silicon [95]. Some products have been developed [96]. However, these mature CMOS foundries are offered only to a limited number of external users. There is a large demand for accessing these facilities to make SiPh devices at an affordable cost, both for research and commercial prototypes. To leverage the cost and performance of CMOS foundries, multi-project wafer (MPW) service were developed for SiPh to process aggregated designs serving multiple customers per process run. This is commonly done in the IC industry [97]. Several initiatives have been taken worldwide to set-up MPW platforms for SiPh. To name a few, OpSIS-IME from Singapore [98], AIM from the U.S. [99], IMEC from Europe [100].

In the first part of this chapter, SiPh designs based on MPW offerings will be reviewed. Different foundries feature different technologies. The process design kits (PDKs) are provided by the SiPh foundries. The users can design and simulate based on the PDK, tailoring it to their specific application. A mature PDK includes developed device building blocks, a set of design rules and technology description including layer names, dimensions and purposes. Some recently developed PDKs for SiPh MPW offerings also include simulation models for modulators and photodetectors for system-level modeling. The devices layers thickness, etching depth, metal and via opening rules may vary from foundry to foundry. This will lead to different grating coupler designs for 3D hybrid integration.

Although the MPW offerings offers access to state-of-the-art CMOS processes to make SiPh PICs, this concept poses several disadvantages. First, the lead time between the design submission and delivery of the fabricated chips is long; within a certain project development time, only one version of a design can be fabricated. Improving and fixing errors of a design (which is common for R&D projects) may not be possible with the extensive lead times. Second, the processes provided by the foundries are limited to fixed design rules. For example, the etch depth of the grating teeth is an important parameter for coupler designs because the grating strength is directly related to the etching depth. The etch depth could be tuned to achieve higher coupling efficiency between the RSOA to on silicon waveguide, but a fixed process from a foundry, such optimization is not possible. Last, the disadvantage of using SiPh MPW services for 3D hybrid integration is the limited chip real estate. The cost of real estate of current SiPh MPW is high. An InP RSOA array occupies a large area on the SiPh chip that could be used for other valuable devices such as modulators and photodiodes. To overcome these disadvantages, an in-house passive PIC process was developed. The details are described in the second part of this chapter.

5.1 Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: Passives Technology

Some of the passive SiPh devices used in this work were developed with Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: Passives Technology [101]. A simplified version of the device cross-section for this technology is shown in Fig. 5.1. The passive technology is based on SOI with a 220 nm silicon device layer and a buried oxide layer of 2 μ m. Although ridge and full silicon etched strip waveguide are both available, the most commonly used waveguide is the fully etched strip waveguide. The platform features a partial etched layer on silicon with 70 nm and 160 nm etching depth. With the partial etch, a grating coupler can be made. This corresponds to the standard grating coupler design described in section 3.2.1. The primitive building blocks include fiber grating couplers with a insertion loss of 7 dB, MMI couplers and Y-splitters. The strip waveguide loss is 3 dB/cm and the rib waveguide loss is 0.5 dB/cm. There are two options for the top waveguide cladding, photoresist or oxide. The oxide cladding thickness is 1.25 μ m with planarization. The minimum width of lines (and spacings) is 150 nm. Custom devices can be made that accord with the design rules. The imec-ePIX fab SiPhotonics Passives Technology is ideal for making passive SiPh devices such as resonators, filters and polarization rotators. This platform does not have Ge photodiodes or any other active devices. A metal layer is not offered by this platform. The bonding metal pads for 3D hybrid integration needs to be fabricated later with post processing. The foundry offers two dicing options for the passive chip runs. In this work, the die size is larger than the design region to facilitate the post processing.

Figure 5.2 shows the mask design of for passives imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics platform. The bonding pads for the InP RSOA are reserved by using strip waveguide layer. A large area of silicon waveguide is defined to maintain a flat surface for the metal pads for the flip-chip bonding process.



Figure 5.1: Schematic cross-section of the imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics Passives Technology.



Figure 5.2: Top-view schematic layout of a passive SiPh chip for 3D hybrid integrated laser (left) and microscope image of fabricated chip (right).

5.2 Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: Active technology

5.2.1 Imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G

The active SiPh platform used in this work is the limec-ePIX fab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G [102] platform. The SOI wafer is 220 nm silicon device layer with a 2 μ m BOX. The 220 nm device layer is etched with three etch depths as shown in Fig. 5.3: fully etched strip waveguide layer, a deep etch layer with a slab of 70 nm left and a shallow etch layer where the silicon device layer is etched 70 nm. The variation of waveguide etching depth enable users to design based on three mode confinement conditions that support diverse trade-offs between bending radius and propagation loss. The silicon waveguide device fabrication utilizes 193 nm deep-UV lithography and RIE etching to e features as small as 150 nm. A high quality CVD oxide cladding is used to ensure low optical propagation loss. The cladding layer is planarized by CMP for poly-Si deposition. As explained in section 3.2.2, the poly-Si overlay is key for high coupling efficiency on 220 nm SOI. This layer of poly-Si was deposited directly on top of the silicon device layer. By fabricating the grating teeth in a region where the poly-Si is deposited, better coupling efficiency for the grating coupler can be achieved compared to the standard SOI 220 nm grating coupler. This technology is ideal 3D hybrid integration technology for the following reasons. First, the minimum line and space is 150 nm, which is suitable to make DBR mirrors for external cavity lasers. Second, the poly-Si overlay can enable high coupling efficiency grating couplers to couple light from the RSOA. Last, active components including modulators and photodiodes can be integrated with advanced passive devices such wavelength combiners and filters to build multi-channel transceivers.

Compared to the Passives platform, imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G features various doping profiles to the silicon to realize heavily doped, medium doped and lightly doped regions. Both n-type and p-type silicon waveguide structures can be realized. It



Figure 5.3: Schematic cross-section of the imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G.

is important to have multiple doping profiles on silicon: high doping enables low contact resistance while medium to low doping enables diode p-n junctions for modulating the silicon waveguide refractive index with low insertion loss. Mach-Zehnder modulator (MZM) [103], ring modulators [104], optical phased arrays [105] and side waveguide heaters can be fabricated for various photonics applications [106] using the doping profiles available. Germanium is also included in this platform for photodiodes. Electro-absorption modulators can also be realized using the Ge as the absorbing medium [107]. The fabrication complexity for active SiPh platform is significantly higher than that for the passive SiPh platform. Via and metalization steps are incorporated into the fabrication process for making electrical connections. Some of the fabricated active SiPh components are shown in Fig. 5.4.



Figure 5.4: Top-view microscope picture of an external cavity fabricated by imec-ePIXfab SiPhotonics: iSiPP25G.

5.2.2 Other Silicon Photonics Foundries

There are other SiPh foundries around the world that provide MPW service. In the U.S., the American Institute for Manufacturing Integrated Photonics (AIM Photonics) provide fully SiPh platform based on 300 mm SOI wafers. The PDK from AIM Photonics includes extensive components (for modulation and detection, low loss passives, and fiber-to-chip couplers, etc.), Design rule check (DRC) is available across multiple software packages. A passive interposer is also available. Institute of Microelectronics (IME) in Singapore also provides a full SiPh platform. Both AIM and IME feature SixNy waveguide layer on top of silicon device layer. The SixNy layer can be used to build low loss waveguide aims for large scale interposer integration. The SixNy thickness varies from 100 nm to 400 nm. The oxide gap between the SixNy and silicon waveguide is typically 100 nm. Light can couple from one layer to anther with waveguide transitions. The loss of the transition can be as low as 0.1 dB. For the 3D hybrid integration platform, the SixNy layer is useful because high coupling efficiency gratings can be realized by combining both the silicon and SixNy device layers. The details of the design for such a
dual layer grating coupler can be found in section 3.3. The dual layer grating is not only useful for 3D hybrid integration but also beneficial for fiber couplers.

5.3 Passive Silicon Photonics Fabrication

Regarding the use of the deep-UV stepper for in-house passive SiPh chip fabrication, there are several considerations. First, only 4-inch wafers can be used. The cost of 4inch SOI wafers is high. Although it is possible to use pieces in the stepper, the process development of using pieces is time consuming. Also, the masks for the deep-UV stepper are expensive. The lead time of the mask fabrication itself is long, which is not optimal for fast turn over for the rapid prototyping. The grating development for the 3D hybrid integration requires fast turn over between each iteration to optimize the fabrication process and design parameters.

To overcome these issues, EBL is used for in-house passive SiPh chip development. The EBL system used for SOI fabrication here is the same as the one used for grating fabrication for InP lasers from chapter 4. This system uses the vector scan approach for electron beam deflection within a field and repeats steps of stage movement between fields. The combination of vector scanning and repeating steps allows the entire area of up to 6 inches to be exposed. This feature makes this process suitable for small volume prototyping. Dynamic focus and stagnation control for improved writing performance across the entire scan field can also be achieved. A 20 nm minimum isolated line width is achievable, which is 10 times better than the deep-UV stepper, making it a good solution for high precision fabrication for waveguide gratings, polarization controllers and directional couplers with sub 100 nm waveguide gap. The fabrication process for SiPh using EBL includes wafer preparation, waveguide definition, dry etch and photoresist removal. The short process period makes this a good candidate for fast turn over between



Figure 5.5: Picture of a sample holder in EBL for holding small pieces.

iterations for grating coupler development.

5.3.1 Wafer Preparation

The SOI wafer used in this work has a 500 nm thick silicon device layer and a 1000 nm BOX layer. Small pieces are used, which are diced from 8 inch diameter 1 mm thick SOI wafers. The size of the piece only needs to be large enough to be loaded in the EBL system wafer holder. Figure 5.5 shows a picture of the sample holder used in the EBL system in this work.

When purchased, the SOI wafers' surfaces are coated with photoresist for protection.

Following cleaving from 8 inches, solvent cleaning is used to first remove the photoresist from the surface. Then $H_2SO_4:H_2O_2$ 3:1 in a heated bath is used to further clean the surface. The bath temperature is 160°C and the soaking time is 10 minutes. The last step of the wafer preparation is a BHF dip to remove the surface oxide and also to ensure the surface is hydrophobic. It is important to perform this step before the EBL resist spin process.

5.3.2 Negative Electron Beam Lithography Resist

To reduce the EBL exposure time, which is the most time-consuming part of the process, a negative EBL resist is used. For the strip waveguide fabrication, the waveguide region is exposed by the electron beam, this is a small region compared to the entire wafer area. The ma-N 2400 photoresist is used, which is an electron beam and deep-UV sensitive negative tone photoresist. The pattern resolution is 20 nm. The ma-N 2400 also features an aqueous alkaline development that is commonly used in fabrication processes. It is easy to remove with oxygen plasma or common solvent. The ma-N is available in a variety of viscosities for different thickness coatings. Dose optimization needs to be conduct prior to fabrication based on the substrate type and thickness of the resist. In general, the ma-N photoresist requires a higher dose compare the positive tone resist used in EBL. The optimized electron beam dose does not drift as much as the positive resist. After the BHF treatment, ma-N is spun coated on the sample and baked at 95°C for 1 minute. A layer of aluminum which is 9 nm, is deposited on the sample surface at room temperature. The layer of metal helps to spread the electron beam and prevent local charging in the EBL chamber. It is important to use a thermal metal evaporator for the aluminum coating to avoid UV expose before the EBL process. To reduce the oxidation of the aluminum film, the sample is loaded into EBL chamber immediately after being removed from thermal evaporator.

5.3.3 Expose and Develop Processes

The EBL does not require a physical mask to project the design on to the wafer. Instead, the mask design file is converted by the commercial software BEAMER into the readable file for the EBL control system. Figure 5.6 shows the schematic design of the waveguide structures and the converted exposure map for the EBL system. The boxes around the waveguide structures in Fig. 5.6(b) represent the exposure sequence map. As shown in Fig. 5.6(b), the long waveguide structure is not contained within a single exposure field. Due to the limitation of the beam focusing system, the maximum exposure window size is 500 μ m by 500 μ m. Any structure that designed larger than 500 μ m will be executed by a program-controlled stage movement and field splicing. The writing sequence within a field and in between the fields are adjustable and also requires optimization for a smooth waveguide surface.

After the exposure, the sample is developed in AZ 300 metal ion free developer for 70 seconds. The aluminum on top of the sample is dissolved by the developer at the same process. Figure 5.7(a) and (b) show a fiber grating coupler design and the corresponding resist pattern of the structure after the development process, respectively.

5.3.4 Inductively Coupled Plasma Reactive Ion Etching

The strip silicon waveguide features a very high refractive index contrast, which leads to strong light confinement in the silicon (n = 3.45) core for waveguide structures surrounded by SiO₂ (n = 1.45) cladding. To reduce insertion loss and the phase error for the strip silicon waveguide, a dry etch process with smooth and vertical sidewalls is critical. The ICP source generates a high-density plasma due to the inductive coupling from the



Figure 5.6: (a) Schematic layout of the waveguide structures for EBL and (b) converted exposure map for the EBL system.



Figure 5.7: Conventional grating coupler fabrication using EBL. (a) Schematic design and (b) resist pattern after development.

RF to the plasma, which is ideal for etching the silicon waveguide. Fluorine-based ICP-RIE has been used for silicon waveguide etching for various applications [108][109]. It is reported that SF_6 generates an undercut etch profile [110] while CF_4 produce a sloped sidewall profile [111]. To ensure a vertical the sidewall, a CF_4/SF_6 plasma is used. A vertical etch profile with smooth sidewall is achievable [112].

In this work, the following etch condition was used: C_4F_8 flow = 60 sccm, SF_6 flow = 24 sccm, CF_4 flow = 27 sccm, chamber pressure = 20 mTorr, RIE bias power = 100 W and ICP power = 950 W. The selectivity of silicon to ma-N using these process conditions is greater than 3:1. The etch rate for the silicon is approximately 300 nm/min, which is roughly 10 times faster than that for the SiO_2 . TO etch the strip waveguide, a small amount of over etch is used (5 seconds), which does not disturb the waveguide structure. However, if the etch depth needs to be controlled precisely, the in-situ laser monitor can be used. By using the laser monitor, the etch depth can be controlled within the range of tens of nanometers. Before the heated bath strip, the sidewall is coated with a polymer that will potentially increase the waveguide loss. The etched sample is first soaked in NMP photoresist stripper for 2 minutes. To further reduce the etch residue on the waveguide, $H_2SO_4:H_2O_2$ 3:1 heated bath is used for strong photoresist striping. Figure 5.8 shows a directional coupler structure under high magnification SEM after the photoresist is stripped, a clean waveguide side-wall profile is evident.

5.3.5 Elevated Grating Coupler

The elevated grating coupler can be fabricated by using the in-house develop EBL process. The elevated grating coupler features higher grating teeth than the adjacent waveguide layer. Compared to the elevated grating, the commonly used grating coupler in SiPh features identical thickness for the grating region and the waveguide region. As it shown in Fig. 5.9, the grating teeth and slab waveguide are both defined during same step. The grating trench and waveguide are fabricated within one dry etch. For a total silicon device layer that under 450 nm, this grating coupler can be used because higher order



Figure 5.8: Directional coupler structure under high magnification SEM following resist stripping.

optical modes will not be excited for such thin [113]. However, for a total silicon device layer of 500 nm, this grating structure will introduce significant insertion loss because higher order mode will be excited in this thicker waveguide. The ideal grating coupler for SiPh both for 3D hybrid integration and fiber coupling is to have a thick grating region for high grating strength and a thin waveguide region for low insertion loss. To achieve that, the elevated grating based on the poly-Si overlay on silicon waveguide is used [114]. However, this approach can only be realized in a CMOS foundry and requires development time.

In this work, a novel way of realizing the elevated grating coupler is proposed based



Figure 5.9: Grating coupler made with single etch step with top of the grating teeth and waveguide at same height.

on dual EBL and dry etches in ICP-RIE. The fabrication process is shown in Fig. 5.10. The first lithography step was used to define the grating and alignment markers as shown in Fig. 5.10(b). The depth of the of the first etch is controlled with the laser monitor so that the optimized etch depth for the grating coupler design can be achieved. As shown in Fig. 5.10(c), after the first etch, the top of the grating teeth has the total thickness of the silicon device layer while the other regions are etched. It is important to use negative tone resist for this step. The second lithography step defines the waveguide structure as shown in Fig. 5.10(d). The second ICP-RIE etch defines the waveguide structure. A perspective view SEM picture of a fabricated elevated grating coupler is shown in

Fig. 5.11. The elevated grating for the 500 nm silicon passive platform provides higher coupling efficiency from the RSOA. Simulation results show that for the elevated grating coupler, the coupling efficiency from the RSOA to the silicon waveguide can be as high as 70%.

5.3.6 Passive Silicon Photonics Components

The EBL process provides fast turn over time for passive SiPh components. The cost and lead time of each design-testing iteration using EBL is significantly lower than that using the deep-UV stepper process. Different passive components are fabricated by the in-house SiPh EBL process, as shown in Fig. 5.12. These passive components can be used to make an external cavity laser for advanced laser devices.



Figure 5.10: The fabrication process of the elevated grating coupler through dual EBL (a) SOI wafer (b) first EBL define the grating area (c) first ICP-RIE etch to transfer the pattern to SOI layer (d) second EBL to define the waveguide region (e) second ICP-RIE etch to make the elevated grating coupler.



Figure 5.11: Perspective view SEM picture of fabricated elevated grating coupler



Figure 5.12: Passive components fabricated using EBL process including MMI coupler, in-plane waveguide DBR mirror, directional coupler, loop mirror and ring resonator.

Chapter 6

Flip-chip Integration

3D integration has been recognized as a promising solution to reduce the length of interconnects and, furthermore, to satisfy the demand for highly integrated optoelectronic systems [115]. Conventional photonics packaging relies on horizontal connects with long wires between substrates and pads through wire bonding, which is cumbersome and not cost efficient. It also suffers from low throughput since each wire end must be individually connected. Another disadvantage of wire bonding is the low integration density [116]. To solve the issues of wire bonding, 3D integration was pursed [117]. It provides an effective solution to vertically integrate different chips and devices [118] into the same package with compact footprint. By replacing the wire connections with vias, the size, weight, power and cost of the packaged device can be reduced [118]. 3D integration also allows for integration of different materials. The logic behind the 3D packaging matches with the motivation for 3D hybrid integration technology developed used in this work [119].

This chapter reviews flip-chip bonding related topics with emphasis on PIC where alignment tolerance is critical. Compared to conventional electrical interconnections, PIC packaging is more sensitive to misalignment between optical interfaces. Section 6.1 introduces the state-of-art packaging technologies including wire bonding and flip-chip bonding. The concept of a photonics interposer is also described. Then the details of the implementation of thermocompression and solder reflow bonding is described in section 6.2. Bonding process that feature self-alignment features are discussed. Lastly, a novel metalization method for InP devices is discussed with emphasis on CMOS compatible contact fabrication in section 6.3.

6.1 State-of-Art Packaging Technology Review

6.1.1 Wire Bonding

Cost, performance and footprint need to be well balanced in photonics packaging. Wire bonding seems outdated but is still widely used since it is the most flexible and cost-effective method for packaging PICs [120]. In general, bond wires are made of gold (or copper [121]). Surface treatment can improve adhesion between wires and pads, but is not required [122]. Ball bonding and wedge bonding are widely used. Thermocompression and ultrasonic are conventional bonding techniques to establish mechanical adhesion between wires and pads. For thermocompression bonding, pads and wires are heated. A thermal hierarchy poses a restriction on those devices which cannot survive high processing temperatures. Ultrasonic wire bonding uses ultrasonic friction on pads' surfaces before the wires are attached. The adhesion and reliability are increased compared to untreated pads' surface [123]. Thermosonic wire bonding was later proposed to combine both advantages from thermocompression and ultrasonic bonding [124]. Nowadays, the thermosonic wire bonding is most common in industry for packaging.

Dense interconnects with a pitch of 35 μ m are achievable using thermosonic wire bonding based on gold wires [126]. To further increase the integration density, lowprofile wire bond loops are required. Bond loops with 50 μ m loop height are reported



Figure 6.1: High-density wire bonding [125].

in volume production [127]. For high-speed applications, ribbon bonding attachment is used [128]. The rectangular cross section of the ribbon wires provides lower inductance and lower skin effect losses at high frequency [129]. As shown in Fig. 6.1, novel ideas and advanced technology improvements for wire bonding continue to increase the integration density [130]. However, a bond loop less than 20 μ m is difficult to achieve, to further increase density, flip-chip technology is utilized.

6.1.2 Flip-chip Bonding

Flip-chip bonding is a standard packaging technology to make electrical interconnections between semiconductor devices. This face down assembly technique developed originally by IBM, is known as controlled-collapse chip connection technology [131]. Flipchip bonding provides excellent performance and allows for cost-effective interconnections with shortened electrical path lengths [132] [133]. Figure 6.2 shows the basic 3D schematic of the controlled-collapse chip connection.



Figure 6.2: 3D schematic of controlled-collapse chip connection.

Gold is a commonly used material for pads (or bumps) fabrication in flip-chip bonding because of its supreme electrical and thermal conductivity. Also, gold is used as the final metallization layer for III–V semiconductors making it more promising for InP device packaging [134]. Solder bumps can be created on at wafer level for high throughput processes used for flip-chip bonding [135]. Solder materials used in flip-chip bonding processes include AuSn, SnPb, and SnAg. A typical bump diameter is 30 to 100 μ m with a bump height of 30–60 μ m for general photonics flip-chip bonding processes. Compact bumps with 20 μ m diameter and a minimum pitch of 50 μ m have been reported to increase pad density [136].

Another commonly used flip-chip bonding technique is thermocompression, where the formation of the connection does not rely on solder material. Thermocompression bonding also features self-alignment processes to enhance alignment tolerance during the bonding process, which is introduced next. The self-alignment process is important for volume production because the throughput of a commercial bonding tool is often limited by the alignment process. High placement accuracy often comes as the cost of lowering throughput. For example, the NOVAPLUS flip-chip bonder made by ASM AMICRA offers bonding cycle-time down to 3 seconds for AuSn based solder reflow with an accuracy of $\pm 2.5 \ \mu$ m. When increasing the alignment accuracy to $\pm 1 \ \mu$ m, the cycletime is increased to 25 seconds with AuSn solder reflow. The throughput is significantly reduced.

6.1.3 Silicon Photonics Interposer

Large-scale integration between photonics and electronics is beneficial for various applications [137]. Generally, there are two types of approaches for photonic and electronic circuits integration. Monolithic front-end integration [138] and back-end integration using hybrid integration on a silicon photonics interposer. Monolithic integration provides higher speed and lower assembly cost than hybrid integration, but requires very strict CMOS compatibilities in terms of design, fabrication, and testing between photonics and electronics devices. The monolith process still needs time to mature for volume production. Hybrid integration on a SiPh interposer allows for optimization, fabrication and testing of photonics and electronics circuits separately, both realized through well developed and verified processes. The through-silicon-via (TSV) interposer make it possible to integrate both PICs and ICs together at low cost and with small footprint [139]. Compact and flexible interconnections can be realized between different chips and utilizing a TSV interposer. 3D hybrid integration offers an advantageous solution for photonics interposer integration due to the surface emission and vertical coupling nature of this technology. It allows light to couple vertically from chip to chip. High speed, broad bandwidth and high density input/output (I/O) are enabled by a TSV interposer in a 3D SiPh architecture. Flip-chip bonding is the key assembly technique for making connections between vertically integrated chips. In the following sections, flip-chip bonding with emphasis on the self-alignment process is discussed.

6.2 Thermocompression Bonding

6.2.1 Thermocompression Process

Thermocompression is also known as diffusion bonding. This process creates a solid bond between two separate metal surfaces using pressure and heat [140]. The diffusion of metal atoms occurs by contacting the bonding metals on both sides after applying force and heat simultaneously. Metal pairs of gold-gold [141], copper-copper [142] or aluminumaluminum [143] have been used. Thermocompression bonding is a promising technique for making high density interconnections. The thermocompression bonding processes can be carried out at wafer level for high throughput packaging [144]. The process generally requires surface preparation such as solvent cleaning. Surface activation techniques are used to further increase the bond strength. The surface activation is required for a low temperature bonding process. For high temperature thermocompression bonding, only solvent cleaning is required.

In this work, a Finetech Fineplacer Lambda tool was used for thermocompression bonding. Figure 6.3 shows a picture of the Finetech Fineplacer Lambda. The tool is designed for flip-chip bonding of single microchip pairs with an alignment accuracy of approximately 0.5 μ m. The system runs in a semiautomatic configuration with full computer-controlled bonding and integrated side cameras for monitoring. Chip size from 500 μ m up to 50 mm can be bonded using this tool. The bonding force varies from 0.3 N to 500 N. Bonding temperature can be as high as 400°C. The system also has a formic acid module (reduced atmosphere environment) that is used to prevent oxide formation during heated solder bonding.



Figure 6.3: Finetech Fineplacer Lambda flip-chip bonder.

The 3D hybrid integration was carried out with this flip-chip bonder. The RSOA chip is picked up by the upper arm of the flip-chip bonder and the substrate (SiPh chip) is placed on the vacuum stage of the bonder. The coarse alignment of both chip and substrate is executed. Then the substrate is heated to an elevated temperature (half of the bonding temperature) to eliminate alignment error introduced by thermal expansion. A fine alignment process brings the chip and substrate to the final position. Then the pressure and heat are applied to the assembly by a computer-controlled program. In this work, thermocompression bonding with 350°C and 20 N force was applied. Figure 6.4(a) and (b) shows arrays of RSOA chips and the fabricated SiPh in a wafer box before they are bonded together. Figure 6.4(c) shows a plan view of a bonded InP RSOA chip. A top view microscope image of a 3D integrated laser structure with n-pad and p-pad is shown in Fig. 6.4(d). The n-pads of the 3D integrated laser are located on the backside



of the RSOA chip and the p-pads are on the SiPh chip.

Figure 6.4: (a) InP RSOA array chip before bonding with p-contact facing up. (b) Fabricated SiPh chips before hybrid integration. (c) Plan-view image of a bonded RSOA chip on silicon. (c) Top view microscope image of a 3D integrated hybrid laser.

To evaluate the electrical quality of the metal bond, the current-voltage (IV) characteristics were measured both for a standalone InP RSOA and for a 3D integrated laser. The gain length was identical for both devices (1 mm). As shown in Fig. 6.5, the IV characteristics are nearly identical indicating that the metal bond makes a proper electrical connection and does not add resistance.



Figure 6.5: IV characteristics for 3D integrated laser and standalone InP RSOA.

6.2.2 Self-aligned Interconnection Elements

The placement accuracies of most commercial flip-chip bonding tools are limited to $2 \ \mu m - 5 \mu m$. The source of misalignment comes from thermal expansion between the bonding chip and substrate, and horizontal shifting of the chips due to the shear force generated during bonding [145]. For the 3D hybrid integration, the accuracy of the flip-chip bonding approach needs to be controlled without adding significant cost. Improving the alignment accuracy of the flip-chip bonding tool by simply increasing the resolution of the alignment stage mechanics and increasing the magnification of the monitoring camera are not cost effective for high throughput bonding.

A novel thermocompression bonding method was proposed to solve bonding accuracy issues while maintaining low cost [146]. Conventional bump and pad elements on the chip and substrate are modified to construct concave-convex pairs to form the self-aligned



Figure 6.6: 3D schematic of self-aligned interconnection elements showing the process of self-aligning due to the mechanical force introduced by a concave-convex pair.

interconnection elements (SIEs). Under the coarse alignment condition together with the applied bonding force, the bumps tend to slide into the convex shape of the pads fabricated at the substrate due to sheer mechanical force. As shown in Fig. 6.6, the initial position of chip and substrate are offset from the optimized structure. With the force introduced, the chip will slide into the ideal position, which is confined by truncated inverted pads. The red arrow in Fig. 6.6 shows the movement of the chip to achieve selfalignment. Any misalignment that may have occured during the alignment process, is thus self-corrected.

6.3 Self-aligned Flip-chip Assembly with Solder Reflow Process

Solder reflow is the most commonly used method for low-cost assembly. With the development of flip-chip bonding technology, the application of the solder is extended to various optoelectronic packages. The solder reflow process demonstrates superior electrical performance, high reliability, reduced footprint, high I/O density, low cost, efficient heat conduction and batch assembly. Self-aligned flip-chip assembly with solder process was proposed in [132]. The reflowed solder generates a lateral force in order to drag the chip to the optimal position. Figure 6.7 describes the self-alignment mechanism by solder reflow. The solder is heated above the melting point during the reflow process and becomes liquid. The liquid solder wets the metal pads surface and the chips will follow the surface tension force to minimize the surface area. To control the lateral and vertical offset, a hard stop during the surface tension movement is used. The idea is to lock the chip at the optimal position [147]. Chips move under the in-plane force and land at the lateral stops. In the perpendicular direction, the pressing movement is stopped vertically until chips butt against vertical stops. The vertical stops are pre-fabricated on the substrate with high position accuracy.



Figure 6.7: 3D schematic iof self-alignment process using solder reflow.

6.4 CMOS Compatible Contact for Indium Phosphide Device

Ohmic contacts for InP PICs are usually made with gold. However, the use of gold is forbidden in a CMOS process because it forms a deep level trap in silicon [148]. Gold-free low-resistance contact metal for InP devices has been studied. By simply replacing gold with aluminum, as reported in [149], gold-comparable pad resistivity was achieved. A metallurgy that includes a ratio of germanium and palladium was reported for making low contact resistance to both n-type InP material [150]. This enables a contact stack that does not include gold and is compatible with CMOS processes. The ratio of germanium and palladium can be achieved by stacking layers of the materials and annealing the stack, or simultaneously depositing the germanium and palladium on the material where the contact is to be manufactured. The contact metal on InP is based on the Pd/Ge/Ti/Al. As for flip-chip bonding, a solder reflow process is standard for most IC packaging facilities and relies on aluminum pads. Recently, thermocompression bonding based on aluminumaluminum pairs are also reported. The InP metallization can therefore be configured to be gold-free for hybrid integration with CMOS devices.

Chapter 7

Device Characterization

In this chapter, the characterization of 3D hybrid integrated devices and InP devices are reported. In section 7.1, a novel tunable external cavity laser based on coupling a RSOA chip to a IMEC full platform SiPh chip is reported. The 3D hybrid integration approach provides a reliable laser source by leveraging the optical gain from an InP RSOA and the high precision process of SiPh. In section 7.2, an external cavity laser with supreme thermal performance is demonstrated by integrating an InP RSOA on a passive SiPh chip with a metal filled recess. In section 7.3, the characterization of standalone InP devices is reported including the dilute waveguide mode characterization, InP lidar transceiver measurement and a novel monolithically integrated narrow linewidth laser made with InP MPW process.

7.1 3D Silicon Photonic External Cavity Laser

7.1.1 Design Overview

Figure 7.1(a) shows the side view schematic of a 3D silicon photonic external cavity laser (SPECL), where the RSOA with a high reflectivity coated back mirror and a TIR turning mirror was bonded to silicon. Light was coupled to the silicon waveguide through a vertical grating coupler. A perspective view of a tunable 3D SPECL is shown in Fig. 7.1(b). Cascaded tunable ring filters were used for wide wavelength tuning based on the Vernier effect. A tunable DBR mirror was also formed in on the silicon chip to provide filtered feedback and additional phase control. A separate silicon grating coupler was used to couple light generated from the SPECL to a vertically positioned single mode fiber probe for testing. The green ring shapes in Fig 7.1(b) represent doped silicon heaters for tunable devices.



Figure 7.1: (a) Side view schematic of the 3D integration approach. (b) Perspective view of tunable 3D SPECL device.

A fabricated SPECL is shown in Fig. 7.2. This shows that an RSOA array with four RSOAs can be can be integrated on SiPh chip. The n-contact is the backside of the RSOA and the p-contact is on the silicon chip, which is intentionally extanded from under the RSOA chip. The SPECL is then mounted on carrier and wired bonded for electrical pumping. The output light was coupled into a single mode fiber for power and spectral analysis.



Figure 7.2: Microscope image of SPECL made with an RSOA array bonded on a SiPh chip

7.1.2 Lasing Characteristics

The SPECL was characterized with a temperature-controlled stage. The output power was collected by a cleaved single mode fiber (SMF-28 [151]) through an on-chip fiber grating coupler. The insertion loss from the grating coupler to the SMF-28 fiber was calibrated to be 6 dB. The power in the silicon waveguide accounts for the insertion loss of the coupler. Light-current-voltage (LIV) measurements were performed and the results are shown in Fig. 7.3. The threshold current at 15°C was 31 mA and up to 2 mW of power was coupled to the silicon waveguide.

7.1.3 Wavelength Tuning Performance

As shown in Fig.7.4(a), single-mode lasing was demonstrated over a range of 30 nm with side mode suppression ratio (SMSR) lager than 30 dB. Figure 7.4(b) and (c) show close up tuning characteristics where heaters the tunable rings were adjusted simultaneously. By tuning a single heater, a continuous tuning with a span of 0.5 nm was achieved. The contuious wavelength tuning results are shown in Fig. 7.4(d) as a contour map of



Figure 7.3: L-I-V characteristic of SPECL at 15°C and 25°C.

optical power as a function of the dissipated power in the heater and the wavelength.

7.1.4 Relative Intensity Noise Characteristics

The relative intensity noise (RIN) of SPECL was characterized at different pump currents and temperatures. The output of the SPECL was kept in the single mode state. The lowest peak RIN measured was -135 dB/Hz at a pump current of 60 mA with the RIN spectra shown in Fig. 7.5(a). The maximum RIN level shifts with increasing pump current to higher values in accordance with the theoretical relationship between relaxation resonance frequency and pump current, as shown in Fig. 7.5(b).



Figure 7.4: Superimposed spectra of the SPECL showing (a) a large step tuning over 30 nm and (b) a fine step tuning over 3 nm with a step of 0.3 nm.(c) One ring resonator showing tuning range of 5 nm. (d) Contour map of SPECL spectra.

7.1.5 Laser Linewidth

The self-heterodyne method [152] was used to extract the laser linewidth of the SPECL. The output optical power was amplified to 6 dBm with an erbium-doped fiber amplifier (EDFA) before being input to the heterodyne setup. The EDFA was set with a fixed pump current (60 mA) for all measurements. The acousto-optic modulator resonance frequency for the heterodyne measurements was 27 MHz. A 25 km single mode fiber delay was used, corresponding to a linewidth resolution of 12 kHz [153]. The beat



Figure 7.5: (a) RIN spectral of the SPECL at 25°C. (b) Peak RIN versus pump current minus threshold curent $(I_P - I_{th})$ and square relaxation resonance frequency (f_R^2) with respect to pump current minus threshold current (inset).

note was captured by a photodetector and the output signal was input to an electrical spectrum analyzer (ESA). The ESA output at various pump currents was measured while single-mode lasing was maintained. The linewidth results are shown in Fig. 7.6(a). A Lorentzian fit was applied to precisely evaluate the laser linewidth. A 3-dB beat frequency of 1.5 MHz was measured at a pump current of 104 mA as shown in Fig. 7.6(b). This is as good as or better than the linewidth performance of conventional DBR lasers.

7.2 High Thermal Performance Demonstration

To demonstrate the high thermal performance of the SPECL that is p-side down bonded to the silicon substrate, two SPECLs were fabricated in parallel with similar device structure with the only difference being the bonding metal placement.



Figure 7.6: (a) Output spectra of the photodetector showing the beat note of the self-heterodyne measurements at 104 mA for SPECL with two ring resonators. (b) Lorentzian fits.

7.2.1 Design Overview

Two types of SPECLs devices were fabricated. For convention in this thesis, the two lasers are denoted as Laser A and Laser B. For Laser A, the RSOA was metal-bonded to the top oxide cladding. The RSOA for Laser B was bonded directly to the silicon substrate in a recess etched through the BOX layer. Both lasers demonstrated single-mode lasing as well as milliwatt (mW)-level optical power coupled to the silicon waveguide. The experimental results show that Laser B exhibits higher thermal performance. Figure 7.7 shows a general 3D schematic of the SPECL described in this section.

7.2.2 Buried Oxide Etching and Metallization

The SiPh chips were fabricated at IMEC using the passive SiPh process. SOI wafers with 220-nm-thick silicon were used. The DBR mirrors were realized with side-wall gratings. For Laser A, the metal bond pad was deposited directly on the top oxide cladding layer. The metal pad fabrication process for Laser B is reported in Fig. 7.8. A



Figure 7.7: Plan-view schematic and side-view schematic (inset) of 3D integrated hybrid silicon laser (Laser B).IEEE(©)2016

recess is first formed in the silicon chip using ICP-RIE etching. A metal fill layer was then deposited inside the recesses on the silicon substrate, followed by the deposition of the metal bond pad.

Side-view schematics of Laser A and Laser B are shown in Fig. 7.9(a) and (b) and cross-section scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of the bonded metal and bonded interfaces for Laser A and Laser B are shown in Fig.7.9(c) and (d) respectively. For Laser A, the active region of the laser is thermally isolated from the silicon substrate by the BOX layer. For Laser B, the BOX layer was replaced by the approximately 4- μ m-thick metal fill. The gold-gold bonding interface is formed on top of the metal fill so that the heat generated in the InP active region can be dissipated effectively in the silicon substrate. The size of the InP RSOA array chip was typically 1.5 by 1.0 mm². The RSOA chips for Laser A and Laser B both have a gain section length of 1 mm.



Figure 7.8: Post process of metal pad on silicon substrate.

The RSOA and silicon chips are attached together with thermocompression bonding. Both chips were cleaned with solvents prior to bonding. For both laser structures, the RSOA chips were bonded P-side down. The flip-chip bonding tool utilized in this work is capable of 1- μ m alignment accuracy, however, with advanced implementations, such an alignment accuracy is not required for the 3D laser integration approach.

7.2.3 Lasing Characteristics

To characterize the fabricated SPECL chips, the bonded lasers were mounted on a temperature-controlled stage, which provides a temperature tuning from 20°C to 90°C. Pin probes were used to inject current into the RSOAs. A vertically oriented single-mode fiber probe was used to collect light from the output of the SPECL through a separate fiber grating coupler with an insertion loss of 6 dB. Figures 7.10(a) and (b) show the lasing spectra for Laser A at a bias current of 70 mA and for Laser B at a bias current of 60 mA, respectively. These measurements were performed at a stage temperature of 20°C. The SMSR was measured to be 30 dB or greater for both lasers.



Figure 7.9: Side-view schematic of SPECL (a) Laser A and (b) Laser B. (b) Cross-section SEM pictures of the silicon chip in (c) Laser A and in (d) Laser B.IEEE(©)2016

Light-current characteristics were measured at different elevated temperatures with the results shown in Fig. 7.11(a) and (b). At lower temperatures, Laser A shows a higher wall plug efficiency (WPE) than Laser B. This is somewhat unexpected, but could be attributed in part to the higher series resistance measured for Laser B or the higher internal loss of the RSOA that is bonded to Laser B. The threshold current as well as WPE for both Laser A and Laser B were measured, with results shown in Fig 7.11(c). At 90°C, the WPE for Laser B was higher, due to the ability to dissipate heat more effectively. The thermal benefits were also quantified by extracting the thermal impedance of both lasers.



Figure 7.10: Lasing spectrum for (a) Laser A and for (b) Laser B. IEEE (c) 2016

7.2.4 Thermal Impedance Measurement

The extraction of the thermal impedance follows the methodology reported in [154]. As shown in Fig. 7.12(a) and (b), the lasing wavelength shift was first measured as a function of the stage temperature for both lasers. To ensure minimum device heating from parasitic resistance, the lasers were pumped with a pulsed current source (2.5 kHz repetition rate, 0.5% duty cycle). Next, the wavelength shift of the Fabry-Perot (FP) mode was measured under continuous-wave operation as a function of the applied electrical power. The results are shown in Fig. 7.12(c) and (d). The thermal impedance, Z_T , was calculated from the experimental results. The results show that Laser A demonstrates a thermal impedance of 18.3° C/W, whereas that for Laser B is 6.2° C/W. This factor of three improvement in thermal impedance is also in agreement with results obtained from finite-element method simulations. For Laser A, the simulated thermal impedance was 3.7° C/W and that for Laser B was 18° C/W.



Figure 7.11: (a) Light-current characteristics for (a) Laser A and (b) Laser B. (c) Threshold current and maximum WPE as a function of stage temperature for both Laser A and Laser B. IEEE $\bigcirc 2016$

7.2.5 Thermal Robustness Measurement

To characterize the thermal robustness of the 3D integration platform, a SPECL was subjected to a series of temperature cycles as illustrated in Fig. 7.13. An initial lightcurrent (LI) measurement was performed at 20°C. Then the laser was ramped to an elevated temperature, held at that temperature while biased at 50 mA and then cooled


Figure 7.12: Thermal impedance measurement. Pulsed FP mode wavelength shift as a function of active region temperature for (a) Laser A and (b) Laser B. CW FP mode wavelength shift as a function of dissipated electrical power measured for (c) Laser A and (d) Laser B. IEEE ©2016

back to 20°C for subsequent LI characterization. As shown Fig.7.13, the LI characteristic was nearly identical after each cycle. Any variation in the results is attributed to measurement inaccuracy, perhaps induced by minor drift in the alignment of the output optical fiber collecting the light.



Figure 7.13: LI curves of the SPECL at an initial temperature and following temperature cycles. IEEE $\odot 2016$

7.3 Indium Phosphide Devices Calibration

7.3.1 Dilute Waveguide Mode Calibration

The dilute waveguide RSOA demonstrated continuous wave lasing at room temperature with a threshold current of 550 mA. The high threshold was partially due to uncoated facets. The LIV characteristic of a dilute waveguide RSOA is shown in Fig. 7.14.

The light was collected from a facet with an integrating sphere. The far field beams of the dilute and conventional RSOAs were characterized using an infrared camera. By moving the camera at a step of 20 μ m, a series of beam profiles for the dilute and conventional waveguides were captured at around beam waist shown in Fig. 7.15(a) and (b), respectively. The divergence angle measured for the dilute waveguide is 11.8°, and that for the conventional waveguide was measured to be 28.2°.



Figure 7.14: LIV characteristic of a dilute waveguide RSOA.

7.3.2 Noise Reduction of Integrated Laser Source with On-Chip Optical Feedback

Feedback techniques have been used to improve the quality of laser diodes by suppressing the phase noise as well as the amplitude noise. A laser diode with amplitude and phase noise reduction by feedback is reported in this section. The device is an InP based DBR laser that uses on-chip coherent optical feedback. Two type of laser (Type A and Type B) were designed and fabricated. The schematic diagram of Type A and Type B are shown in Fig. 7.16(a) and (b), respectively. Type A employs a straight DBR laser configuration. A high-reflectivity DBR and a 50/50 coupler designed as a broadband partially reflective/partially transmissive mirror terminate the gain region. To compare, the Type B laser contains a feedback loop whereby a portion of light from the 50:50 coupler is fed to the back of the DBR mirror and eventually returns to the gain



Figure 7.15: Beam profile evolution of (a) dilute waveguide and (b) conventional waveguide. IEEE O2019

region. The lasers chip were fabricated with an InP MPW process offered by SMART Photonics. The gain region was an electrically pumped shallow-etched ridge SOA. The length of the SOA was 600 μ m for both lasers. The on-chip 50/50 coupler was realized with a two-port MMI reflector (MIR) [155]. One port of the MIR was connected to the SOA to terminate the gain region while the other port was used to extract light from the cavity. The layouts and microscope pictures for both Type A and Type B lasers are shown in Fig. 7.17(a) and (b).

Both devices were wire-bonded to a custom printed circuit board (PCB) with heatsink capability. The PCB was mounted on a temperature-controlled stage. Light was coupled off-chip to a lensed fiber. A fiber isolator was used to reduce parasitic reflection. At 15°, LIV characteristics were measured and are shown in Fig. 7.18(a). The threshold currents for Type A and Type B lasers is 75 mA and 43 mA, respectively. The laser spectra are



Figure 7.16: (a) Schematic of the laser cavity design (a) without (Type A) and (b) (Type B) with optical feedback.

shown in Fig. 7.18(b) for a pump current of 90 mA for both lasers. The SMSR for the Type A is 30 dB. For the Type B laser with the optical feedback, the SMSR is 47 dB.

The self-heterodyne method was used to extract the laser linewidth of for phase noise evaluation. The ESA spectrum for both devices were shown in Fig. 7.19(a) and (b) and the Lorentzian fit data were shown in Fig. 7.19(c). The linewidth for the Type A laser is 14 MHz, and for Type B it is 0.8 MHz, corresponding to an order of magnitude enhancement.

Figure 7.20 (a) shows the output RIN spectrum for the Type A laser at three pumping current with stage temperature of 15° C. Figure 7.20(b) shows the peak RIN value as a function of the pump current. The lowest peak RIN measured for Type A laser was -123 dB/Hz at a pump current of 95 mA. The maximum level shifts with increasing pump current to higher values in accordance with the theoretical relationship between relaxation resonance frequency (f_R) and pump current as shown in the inset figure. For the Type B laser, the RIN spectra are shown in Fig. 7.20(c). RIN spectra are extracted



Figure 7.17: (a) Layout (top) and microscope image (bottom) of Type A laser. (b) Layout (top) and microscope image (bottom) of Type B laser.

at 20°C. As shown in Fig. 7.20(d), the lowest peak RIN measured for Type B at 20°C was -131 dB/Hz at only 80 mA. At this pump current, the peak RIN for the Type A laser was -117 dB/Hz.



Figure 7.18: (a) LIV characteristics for type A and type B laser. (b) Lasing spectral of type A and type B laser.



Figure 7.19: The output spectrum from the photodetector showing the beat note from the self-heterodyne measurement for (a) Type A and (b) Type B. (c) FWHM of the Lorentzian fit spectra for Type A and Type B lasers.

Chapter 7



Figure 7.20: RIN spectrum at various currents for (a) Type A and (b) peak RIN versus pump current (IP) and relaxation resonance frequency squared (f_P^2) with respect to pump current minus the threshold current (inset). RIN spectrum for (c) Type B and (d) peak RIN versus pump current.

7.3.3 Integrated Lidar Transceiver Calibration

The fabricated lidar PIC characterization is reported in this section. The super carrier was mounted on a temperature-controlled stage for measurement. The test setup is shown in Fig. 7.21(a). A vertical single mode fiber was used to couple light into the spectrum analyzer or optical power meter. The single mode fiber was mounted on a custom designed fiber holder. A 45°TIR mirror was fabricated by FIB, this is shown in Fig. 7.21(b). A probe card powered the part of the system for the laser frequency locker. To power the InP PIC, a hybrid probe card was used.



Figure 7.21: (a) Test setup for lidar transceiver. (b) The light is coupled vertically through a TIR mirror at the end of the InP waveguide.

The LIV characteristic of the sampled grating DBR (SGDBR) laser was measured. The SOA next to the SGDBR laser was reverse biased at -1 V to function as a photodiode. Then, the gain section of the laser was pumped from 0 to 100 mA. The measurement is shown in Fig. 7.22(a). The photocurrent measured with the SOA was converted to optical power in and is reported in Fig. 7.22(b).



Figure 7.22: (a) LIV test setup for the SGDBR laser using on chip SOA as a photo detector. (b) LIV of a integrated SGDBR laser on lidar transceiver.

The SGDBR laser was then characterized for wavelength tuning. The two on-chip SOAs were pumped to boost the output power. The gain section current of the SGDBR laser was kept at 100 mA and the stage temperature was kept at 15°C. The light was coupled to the optical spectral analyzer through a single mode fiber. The maximum tuning range demonstrated is greater than 35 nm. The superimposed spectral of the tunable laser integrated on the lidar transceiver is shown in Fig. 7.23. The power isnormalized to the maximum power [156].



Figure 7.23: The superimposed spectra of the tunable SGDBR laser integrated in the lidar transceiver.

Chapter 8

Summary and Future Work

Integrated laser sources remain a challenge for SiPh. State-of-the-art SiPh foundries utilizing on CMOS process cannot provide integrated laser source with reliable performance at low cost. Direct heteroepitaxy of group III-V materials on silicon provides a promising long-term solution for large-scale PICs but is still maturing. Heterogeneous integration based on wafer bonding provides a sophisticated near-term solution. However, the need for co-fabrication of silicon with group III-V materials substantially increases cost. Lasers made with wafer bonding also suffer from limited thermal performance because the laser active region is thermally isolated from the silicon substrate by the BOX layer. CMOS processwa and hybrid integration techniques based on wafer bonding are being pursued in research and industry. Hybrid integration approaches, such as butt coupling of fabricated InP lasers to SOI waveguides, may address the thermal issue. However, the main limitation for butt coupling is the significant mode mismatch. In this chapter, a summary of this thesis is given section 8.1. Related future work is presented in section 8.2.

8.1 Summary of Accomplishments

In this work a novel 3D hybrid integration technique for SiPh was proposed and demonstrated. This addresses the aspects of thermal performance of lasers and increases alignment tolerance. This approach is based on the flip-chip integration of InP RSOAs containing TIR turning mirrors for surface emission. Surface grating couplers are used for light coupling into the SOI waveguides. The 3D integration approach provides increased alignment tolerance compared to butt coupling. Better than native InP laser thermal performance was achieved by flip-chip bonding the RSOA chip p-side down directly to the silicon substrate. The heat generated in the active region of the laser dissipates more efficiently into the silicon substrate. 3D hybrid integration is also suitable for high throughput manufacturing by carrying out the process at wafer level in a backend step. Lasers and fully fabricated PICs can be bonded on the silicon interposers for large-scale electronic-photonic integration.

A tunable laser was fabricated using 3D hybrid integration. An InP RSOA was integrated with an active SiPh chip with ring tunable rings and a tunable DBR mirror. Single mode lasing was demonstrated with SMSR up to 43 dB. Greater than 4 mW of optical power was coupled into SiPh waveguide. More than 30 nm wavelength tuning was achieved. Further laser characterizing demonstrated a linewidth of 1.5 MHz and RIN of -132 dB/Hz. Another external cavity laser was made by integrating a RSOA chip on a passive SiPh chip. A recess exposing the substrate was opened in the SiPh and metal was deposited in this recess. Gold was used for bonding and the RSOA was bonded P-side down. A low thermal impedance of 6.2°C/W was extracted experimentally from the 3D hybrid laser, demonstrating a factor of three improvement over a laser that was bonded above the SOI layer. To improve coupling efficiency, various advanced silicon surface grating couplers as well as a dilute waveguide RSOA was investigated. The coupling efficiency enhancement was demonstrated by 2D FDTD simulations for an elevated grating coupler, dual-layer grating coupler, apodized grating coupler and grating coupler with lower metal reflector. By combining the use of a dilute waveguide RSOA, and elevated grating coupler with lower metal reflector, a coupling efficiency of 85% can be achieved along with high alignment tolerance. A novel RSOA and InP PIC was fabricated and calibrated. The alignment tolerance was increased by 45% for the fast divergence axis. The far field divergence angle of the dilute waveguide was 11.8° , approximately three times lower than that for a conventional design. Noise reduction for an integrated InP laser with on-chip optical feedback was also demonstrated. The introduction of on-chip optical feedback demonstrated a linewidth reduction to around 0.8 MHz and 10 dB improvement in RIN. A novel InP PIC for FMCW lidar was demonstrated. A widely tunable SGDBR laser was integrated monolithically with ab active frequency locker element and coherent receiver. The PIC was mounted on a super carrier with supporting IC. The PIC features surface emission that could be integrated to the SiPh chip to form a fully integrated lidar system. The initial characterization shows that the widely tunable laser demonstrates a 45 nm tuning range.

8.2 Future Work

Future works covers threes aspects of the 3D hybrid integration technology: the coupling efficiency enhancement, improved alignment tolerance and system demonstration using 3D hybrid laser to power the system on a SiPh chip.

8.2.1 Coupling Efficiency and Reflection Control

Coupling efficiency from the InP RSOA to the silicon waveguide could be as high as 85% according to the 2D FDTD simulations. Future work will focus on high coupling

efficiency experimental demonstration. The enhancement can be implemented from the SiPh side with the elevated grating coupler, the apozided grating and the bottom reflector. The elevated grating has been experimentally demonstrated in section 5.3.3. To achieve the best coupling efficiency, a bottom reflector needs to be incorporated into this design. The apodization of the grating pitch could be used together with metal reflector. From the InP side, the dilute waveguide RSOA could be used to improve the coupling efficiency. Another issue that needs to be addressed in the future is the parasitic reflection between the RSOA bottom facet and the grating coupler on the SiPh chip. The reflection at the interface of the grating coupler has been an issue for the fiber couplers. For the conventional edge coupler, parasitic reflection can be reduced by using a tilted waveguide orientation at the edge and an AR coating. Reflection control methods were proposed including a focused grating couplers with different waveguide angle [157], asymmetric grating trenches that change the angle of the reflected light [158] and subwavelength gratings with a fully etched silicon device layer [159]. These methods can be used in the grating coupler design for 3D hybrid integration.

8.2.2 Alignment Tolerance Improvement

The dilute waveguide design was demonstrated with increased alignment tolerance for the flip-chip bonding process. This feature is a key factor for cost saving for high throughput bonding processes. In addition to using a dilute waveguide RSOA, the alignment tolerance can be improved by adding advanced concepts to the bonding process. If passive bonding process used, alignment tolerance can be increased by using the V-shape notch on silicon and metal pillar on the InP RSOA for self-aligned thermocompression bonding. Solder reflow processes also provide self-alignment with the use of bonding stops.

8.2.3 Silicon Photonic Integrated Circuit by 3D Hybrid Integration

Monolithic SiPh PIC, have integrated light propagation and filtering, modulation and detection on a single chip. The functionalities of light generation and amplification, however, are not available for SiPh. The 3D hybrid integration technology proposed in this work directly address this issue, it allows InP gain and lasers chips to be integrated on fully fabricated SiPh chip at low cost. An InP RSOA, a laser and fully fabricated InP PIC can be bonded on the SiPh chip. Lasers and InP PIC can be bonded on SiPh for large-scale PICs. However, the yield of InP fabrication cannot compete with mature CMOS processes. The fabrication of the InP RSOA is a simple process compared to the fabrication of the InP lasers or PICs. The CMOS process for SiPh chip can leverage fabrication nodes of 65 nm, which is sufficient to fabricate first order DBR mirrors on silicon. By simply integrating the InP RSOA on a SiPh chip that has a grating coupler and DBR mirrors, low cost external cavity lasers can be realized. With high performance active components on silicon, transceivers and fully integrated solid-state-lidars can be fabricated with the 3D hybrid integration approach.

Bibliography

- L. A. Coldren, S. W. Corzine, and M. L. Mashanovitch, *Diode lasers and photonic integrated circuits*, vol. 218. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- J. S. Orcutt, B. Moss, C. Sun, J. Leu, M. Georgas, J. Shainline, E. Zgraggen, H. Li, J. Sun, M. Weaver, et. al., Open foundry platform for high-performance electronic-photonic integration, Optics express 20 (2012), no. 11 12222–12232.
- [3] M. Hochberg and T. Baehr-Jones, Towards fabless silicon photonics, Nature photonics 4 (2010), no. 8 492.
- [4] Y. A. Vlasov, Silicon cmos-integrated nano-photonics for computer and data communications beyond 100g, IEEE Communications Magazine 50 (2012), no. 2 s67-s72.
- [5] J. Klamkin, F. Gambini, S. Faralli, A. Malacarne, G. Meloni, G. Berrettini, G. Contestabile, and L. Potì, A 100-Gb/s noncoherent silicon receiver for PDM-DBPSK/DQPSK signals, Optics Express 22 (2014), no. 2 2150–8.
- [6] C. R. Doerr, L. Chen, D. Vermeulen, T. Nielsen, S. Azemati, S. Stulz, G. McBrien, X.-M. Xu, B. Mikkelsen, M. Givehchi, C. Rasmussen, and S. Y. Park, Single-Chip Silicon Photonics 100-Gb/s Coherent Transceiver, Optical Fiber Communication Conference: Postdeadline Papers (2014) Th5C.1.
- [7] R. Resonators, H.-s. Optical, M. Iqbal, M. a. Gleeson, B. Spaugh, F. Tybor,
 W. G. Gunn, M. Hochberg, T. Baehr-jones, R. C. Bailey, and L. C. Gunn,
 Label-Free Biosensor Arrays Based on Silicon Scanning Instrumentation, IEEE
 Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 16 (2010), no. 3 654–661.
- [8] C. V. Poulton, A. Yaacobi, D. B. Cole, M. J. Byrd, M. Raval, D. Vermeulen, and M. R. Watts, *Coherent solid-state LIDAR with silicon photonic optical phased* arrays, Optics Letters 42 (2017), no. 20 4091.
- [9] T. Komljenovic, S. Srinivasan, E. Norberg, M. Davenport, G. Fish, and J. E. Bowers, Widely Tunable Narrow-Linewidth Monolithically Integrated

External-Cavity Semiconductor Lasers, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics **21** (2015), no. 6 1–9.

- [10] Y. Shen, N. C. Harris, D. Englund, and M. Soljacic, Deep learning with coherent nanophotonic circuits, 2017 5th Berkeley Symposium on Energy Efficient Electronic Systems, E3S 2017 - Proceedings 2018-January (2018), no. June 1–2.
- [11] J. Klamkin, Coherent integrated receiver for highly linear microwave photonic links. University of California, Santa Barbara, 2008.
- [12] S. Arafin and L. A. Coldren, Advanced InP Photonic Integrated Circuits for Communication and Sensing, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 24 (2018), no. 1 1–12.
- [13] A. Ramaswamy, L. A. Johansson, J. Klamkin, H. Chou, C. Sheldon, M. J. Rodwell, L. A. Coldren, and J. E. Bowers, *Integrated coherent receivers for high-linearity microwave photonic links*, *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 26 (Jan, 2008) 209–216.
- [14] H. Zhao, S. Pinna, B. Song, L. Megalini, S. S. Brunelli, L. Coldren, and J. Klamkin, *High-Power Integrated Indium Phosphide Transmitter for Free Space Optical Communications*, .
- [15] K. V. Chellappan, E. Erden, and H. Urey, *Laser-based displays : a review*, .
- [16] S. Manipatruni, K. Preston, L. Chen, and M. Lipson, Ultra-low voltage, ultra-small mode volume silicon microring modulator, Optics express 18 (2010), no. 17 18235–18242.
- [17] M. Smit, X. Leijtens, H. Ambrosius, E. Bente, J. Van der Tol, B. Smalbrugge, T. De Vries, E.-J. Geluk, J. Bolk, R. Van Veldhoven, et. al., An introduction to inp-based generic integration technology, Semiconductor Science and Technology 29 (2014), no. 8 083001.
- [18] J. Liu, X. Sun, R. Camacho-Aguilera, L. C. Kimerling, and J. Michel, Ge-on-Si laser operating at room temperature, Optics Letters 35 (2010), no. 5 679.
- [19] S. Chen, W. Li, J. Wu, Q. Jiang, M. Tang, S. Shutts, S. N. Elliott, A. Sobiesierski, A. J. Seeds, I. Ross, P. M. Smowton, and H. Liu, *Electrically pumped continuous-wave III-V quantum dot lasers on silicon*, *Nature Photonics* 10 (2016), no. 5 307–311.
- [20] B. Shi, S. Zhu, Q. Li, Y. Wan, E. L. Hu, and K. M. Lau, Continuous-Wave Optically Pumped 1.55 μm InAs/InAlGaAs Quantum Dot Microdisk Lasers Epitaxially Grown on Silicon, ACS Photonics 4 (2017), no. 2 204–210.

- [21] Z. Wang, B. Tian, M. Pantouvaki, W. Guo, P. Absil, J. Van Campenhout, C. Merckling, and D. Van Thourhout, *Room-temperature InP distributed feedback laser array directly grown on silicon*, *Nature Photonics* 9 (2015), no. 12 837–842.
- [22] W. Liu, D. Lubyshev, J. Fastenau, Y. Wu, M. Bulsara, E. Fitzgerald, M. Urteaga, W. Ha, J. Bergman, B. Brar, et. al., Monolithic integration of inp-based transistors on si substrates using mbe, Journal of Crystal Growth **311** (2009), no. 7 1979–1983.
- [23] A. Y. Liu, J. Peters, X. Huang, D. Jung, J. Norman, M. L. Lee, A. C. Gossard, and J. E. Bowers, *Electrically pumped continuous-wave 1.3 μm quantum-dot lasers epitaxially grown on on-axis (001) gap/si*, Optics letters **42** (2017), no. 2 338–341.
- [24] L. Megalini, B. Bonef, B. C. Cabinian, H. Zhao, A. Taylor, J. S. Speck, J. E. Bowers, and J. Klamkin, 1550-nm ingaasp multi-quantum-well structures selectively grown on v-groove-patterned soi substrates, Applied Physics Letters 111 (2017), no. 3 032105.
- [25] O. Parillaud, E. Gil-Lafon, B. Gerard, P. Etienne, and D. Pribat, *High quality inp* on si by conformal growth, Applied physics letters 68 (1996), no. 19 2654–2656.
- [26] S. Keyvaninia, G. Roelkens, D. Van Thourhout, C. Jany, M. Lamponi, A. Le Liepvre, F. Lelarge, D. Make, G.-H. Duan, D. Bordel, and J.-M. Fedeli, Demonstration of a heterogeneously integrated III-V/SOI single wavelength tunable laser., Optics express 21 (2013), no. 3 3784–92.
- [27] A. W. Fang, H. Park, O. Cohen, R. Jones, M. J. Paniccia, and J. E. Bowers, *Electrically pumped hybrid AlGaInAs-silicon evanescent laser, Optics Express* 14 (2006), no. 20 9203.
- [28] A. Fang, Silicon Evanescent Lasers. PhD thesis, University of California Santa Barbara, 3, 2008.
- [29] C. Zhang, S. Zhang, J. D. Peters, and J. E. Bowers, 8 x 8 x 40 Gbps fully integrated silicon photonic network on chip, Optica 3 (2016), no. 7 785.
- [30] W. Xie, T. Komljenovic, J. Huang, M. Tran, M. Davenport, A. Torres, P. Pintus, and J. Bowers, *Heterogeneous silicon photonics sensing for autonomous cars*, *Optics Express* 27 (2019), no. 3 3642.
- [31] A. Alduino, L. Liao, R. Jones, M. Morse, B. Kim, W.-Z. Lo, J. Basak, B. Koch, H.-F. Liu, H. Rong, et. al., Demonstration of a high speed 4-channel integrated silicon photonics wdm link with hybrid silicon lasers, in Integrated Photonics Research, Silicon and Nanophotonics, p. PDIWI5, Optical Society of America, 2010.

- [32] C. Zhang, D. Liang, G. Kurczveil, J. E. Bowers, and R. G. Beausoleil, Thermal Management of Hybrid Silicon Ring Lasers for High Temperature Operation, IEEE Journal on Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 21 (2015), no. 6 385–391.
- [33] Y. Urino, T. Shimizu, M. Okano, N. Hatori, M. Ishizaka, T. Yamamoto, T. Baba, T. Akagawa, S. Akiyama, T. Usuki, D. Okamoto, M. Miura, M. Noguchi, J. Fujikata, D. Shimura, H. Okayama, T. Tsuchizawa, T. Watanabe, K. Yamada, S. Itabashi, E. Saito, T. Nakamura, and Y. Arakawa, *First demonstration of high density optical interconnects integrated with lasers, optical modulators, and photodetectors on single silicon substrate., Optics express* 19 (2011), no. 26 B159–65.
- [34] M. Mack, M. Peterson, S. Gloeckner, A. Narasimha, R. Koumans, and P. De Dobbelaere, *Method and system for a light source assembly supporting direct coupling to an integrated circuit*, May 14, 2013. US Patent 8,440,989.
- [35] B. Snyder, B. Corbett, and P. Obrien, Hybrid integration of the wavelength-tunable laser with a silicon photonic integrated circuit, Journal of Lightwave Technology 31 (2013), no. 24 3934–3942.
- [36] A. G. Dickinson, L. C. Gunn III, A. S. Huang, and P. M. Neches, *Integrated photonic-electronic circuits and systems*, July 31, 2007. US Patent 7,251,386.
- [37] Y. Urino, Y. Noguchi, M. Noguchi, M. Imai, M. Yamagishi, S. Saitou, N. Hirayama, M. Takahashi, H. Takahashi, E. Saito, M. Okano, T. Shimizu, N. Hatori, M. Ishizaka, T. Yamamoto, T. Baba, T. Akagawa, S. Akiyama, T. Usuki, D. Okamoto, M. Miura, J. Fujikata, D. Shimura, H. Okayama, H. Yaegashi, T. Tsuchizawa, K. Yamada, M. Mori, T. Horikawa, T. Nakamura, and Y. Arakawa, Demonstration of 125-Gbps optical interconnects integrated with lasers, optical splitters, optical modulators and photodetectors on a single silicon substrate, Optics Express 20 (2012), no. 26 B256.
- [38] D. Feng, W. Qian, H. Liang, C. C. Kung, Z. Zhou, Z. Li, J. S. Levy, R. Shafiiha, J. Fong, B. Jonathan Luff, and M. Asghari, *High-speed GeSi electroabsorption* modulator on the SOI waveguide platform, *IEEE Journal on Selected Topics in* Quantum Electronics 19 (2013), no. 6 64–73.
- [39] N. Hatori, T. Shimizu, M. Okano, M. Ishizaka, T. Yamamoto, Y. Urino, M. Mori, T. Nakamura, and Y. Arakawa, A hybrid integrated light source on a silicon platform using a trident spot-size converter, Journal of Lightwave Technology 32 (2014), no. 7 1329–1336.
- [40] G. Roelkens, D. Van Thourhout, and R. Baets, High efficiency Silicon-on-Insulator grating coupler based on a poly-Silicon overlay, Optics Express 14 (2006), no. 24 11622.

- [41] Y. K. Koh and D. G. Cahill, Frequency dependence of the thermal conductivity of semiconductor alloys, Physical Review B 76 (2007), no. 7 075207.
- [42] D. Liang and J. E. Bowers, Recent progress in lasers on silicon, Nature Publishing Group 4 (2010), no. 8 511–517.
- [43] H. Rong, S. Xu, Y. H. Kuo, V. Sih, O. Cohen, O. Raday, and M. Paniccia, Low-threshold continuous-wave Raman silicon laser, Nature Photonics 1 (2007), no. 4 232–237.
- [44] R. E. Camacho-Aguilera, Y. Cai, N. Patel, J. T. Bessette, M. Romagnoli, L. C. Kimerling, and J. Michel, An electrically pumped germanium laser, Optics Express 20 (2012), no. 10 11316.
- [45] L. A. Coldren, S. W. Corzine, and M. Mashanovitch, Diode lasers and photonic integrated circuits, Opt. Eng 36 (1997), no. 2 616–617.
- [46] E. Derouin, L. Goldstein, C. Fortin, D. Carpentier, P. Salet, F. Brillouet, and J. Jacquet, 1-mW CW-RT Monolithic VCSEL at 1.55µm, .
- [47] J. Cheng, C. L. Shieh, X. Huang, G. Liu, M. V. Murty, C. C. Lin, and D. X. Xu, Efficient CW lasing and high-speed modulation of 1.3-µm AlGaInAs VCSELs with good high temperature lasing performance, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 17 (2005), no. 1 7–9.
- [48] P. Meissner, M. C. Amann, and G. Bühm, MEMS-Tunable 1.55-µm VCSEL With Extended Tuning Range Incorporating a Buried Tunnel Junction, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 18 (2006), no. 5 688–690.
- [49] C.-p. Chao, G.-j. Shiau, and S. R. Forrest, 1.3-pm Wavelength, InGaAsP-InP Folded-Cavity Surface-Emitting Lasers Grown by Gas-Source Molecular-Beam Epitaxy, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 6 (1994), no. 12 1406–1408.
- [50] K. Adachi, T. Suzuki, T. Ohtoshi, K. Nakahara, and M. Sagawa, Facet-free Surface-emitting 1. 3um DFB Laser, .
- [51] Y. Zhang, Y. Su, Y. Bi, J. Pan, H. Yu, Y. Zhang, J. Sun, X. Sun, and M. Chong, Inclined emitting slotted single-mode laser with 17 °vertical divergence angle for PIC applications, Optics Letters 43 (2017), no. 1 86.
- [52] A. Behfar, A. Schremer, M. Green, C. Stagarescu, and A. Morrow, Horizontal cavity surface-emitting laser (HCSEL) devices, Proceedings of SPIE Vol. 5737: Vertical-Cavity Surface-Emitting Lasers IX (2005), no. April 62–68.
- [53] T. L. Koch, U. Koren, G. Eisenstein, M. G. Young, M. Oron, C. R. Giles, and B. I. Miller, *Tapered waveguide ingaas/ingaasp multiple-quantum-well lasers*, *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 2 (Feb, 1990) 88–90.

- [54] V. Vusirikala, B. P. Gopalan, S. Kareenahalli, S. A. Merritt, M. Dagenais, C. E. C. Wood, and D. Stone, GaAs-AlGaAs QW diluted waveguide laser with low-loss, alignment-tolerant coupling to a single-mode fiber, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 8 (1996), no. 9 1130–1132.
- [55] D. F. Gallagher and T. P. Felici, Eigenmode expansion methods for simulation of optical propagation in photonics: pros and cons, in Integrated Optics: Devices, Materials, and Technologies VII, vol. 4987, pp. 69–83, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2003.
- [56] Y. Chung and N. Dagli, An assessment of finite difference beam propagation method, IEEE Journal of quantum electronics 26 (1990), no. 8 1335–1339.
- [57] B. B. Bakir, A. V. De Gyves, R. Orobtchouk, P. Lyan, C. Porzier, A. Roman, and J.-M. Fedeli, Low-loss (<1 db) and polarization-insensitive edge fiber couplers fabricated on 200-mm silicon-on-insulator wafers, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 22 (2010), no. 11 739–741.
- [58] K. A. Bates, L. Li, R. L. Roncone, and J. J. Burke, Grating Couplers in Planar Waveguides, Applied optics 32 (1993), no. 12 2112–2116.
- [59] L. Carroll, D. Gerace, I. Cristiani, S. Menezo, and L. C. Andreani, Broad parameter optimization of polarization-diversity 2d grating couplers for silicon photonics, Optics express 21 (2013), no. 18 21556–21568.
- [60] Numerical solution of initial boundary value problems involving maxwell's equations in isotropic media, IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation 14 (May, 1966) 302–307.
- [61] M. Sodagar, R. Pourabolghasem, A. A. Eftekhar, and A. Adibi, *High-efficiency* and wideband interlayer grating couplers in multilayer si/sio2/sin platform for 3d integration of optical functionalities, Optics express 22 (2014), no. 14 16767–16777.
- [62] D. M. Beggs, M. Midrio, and T. F. Krauss, Compact polarization rotators for integrated polarization diversity in inp-based waveguides, Opt. Lett. 32 (Aug, 2007) 2176–2178.
- [63] W. Bogaerts, S. K. Selvaraja, P. Dumon, J. Brouckaert, K. De Vos,
 D. Van Thourhout, and R. Baets, Silicon-on-insulator spectral filters fabricated with cmos technology, IEEE journal of selected topics in quantum electronics 16 (2010), no. 1 33-44.
- [64] and and, Particle swarm optimization with local search, in 2005 International Conference on Neural Networks and Brain, vol. 1, pp. 481–484, Oct, 2005.

- [65] E. W. Ong, N. M. Fahrenkopf, and D. D. Coolbaugh, SiN x bilayer grating coupler for photonic systems, OSA Continuum 1 (2018), no. 1 13.
- S. K. Selvaraja, D. Vermeulen, M. Schaekers, E. Sleeckx, W. Bogaerts,
 G. Roelkens, P. Dumon, D. Van Thourhout, and R. Baets, *Highly efficient grating* coupler between optical fiber and silicon photonic circuit, .
- [67] D. Taillaert, F. Van Laere, M. Ayre, W. Bogaerts, D. Van Thourhout, P. Bienstman, and R. Baets, Grating couplers for coupling between optical fibers and nanophotonic waveguides, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 1: Regular Papers and Short Notes and Review Papers 45 (2006), no. 8 A 6071–6077.
- [68] M. Antelius, K. B. Gylfason, and H. Sohlström, An apodized SOI waveguide-to-fiber surface grating coupler for single lithography silicon photonics, Optics Express 19 (2011), no. 4 3592.
- [69] W. D. Sacher, Y. Huang, L. Ding, B. J. F. Taylor, H. Jayatilleka, G.-Q. Lo, and J. K. S. Poon, Wide bandwidth and high coupling efficiency Si_3N_4-on-SOI dual-level grating coupler, Optics Express 22 (2014), no. 9 10938.
- [70] N. Hoppe, M. Haug, W. Vogel, M. F. Rosa, T. Föhn, L. Rathgeber, and M. Berroth, Packaging process for efficient coupling using a grating coupler with backside mirror, in 2017 International Conference on Numerical Simulation of Optoelectronic Devices (NUSOD), pp. 151–152, July, 2017.
- [71] J. S. Parker, A. Sivananthan, E. Norberg, and L. A. Coldren, Regrowth-free high-gain ingaasp/inp active-passive platform via ion implantation, Opt. Express 20 (Aug, 2012) 19946–19955.
- [72] B. Lee, R. A. Logan, R. F. Kalicek, A. M. Sergent, D. L. Coblentz, K. W. Wecht, and T. Tanbun-Ek, Fabrication of ingaasp/inp buried heterostructure laser using reactive ion etching and metalorganic chemical vapor deposition, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 5 (March, 1993) 279–281.
- [73] B. Song, K. Kojima, S. Pinna, T. Koike-Akino, B. Wang, and J. Klamkin, Frequency noise reduction of integrated laser source with on-chip optical feedback, in Advanced Photonics 2017 (IPR, NOMA, Sensors, Networks, SPPCom, PS), p. IM3A.4, Optical Society of America, 2017.
- [74] M. Smit, X. Leijtens, H. Ambrosius, E. Bente, J. van der Tol, B. Smalbrugge, T. de Vries, E.-J. Geluk, J. Bolk, R. van Veldhoven, L. Augustin, P. Thijs, D. D'Agostino, H. Rabbani, K. Lawniczuk, S. Stopinski, S. Tahvili, A. Corradi, E. Kleijn, D. Dzibrou, M. Felicetti, E. Bitincka, V. Moskalenko, J. Zhao, R. Santos, G. Gilardi, W. Yao, K. Williams, P. Stabile, P. Kuindersma, J. Pello, S. Bhat, Y. Jiao, D. Heiss, G. Roelkens, M. Wale, P. Firth, F. Soares, N. Grote,

M. Schell, H. Debregeas, M. Achouche, J.-L. Gentner, A. Bakker, T. Korthorst,
D. Gallagher, A. Dabbs, A. Melloni, F. Morichetti, D. Melati, A. Wonfor,
R. Penty, R. Broeke, B. Musk, and D. Robbins, An introduction to InP-based generic integration technology, Semiconductor Science and Technology 29 (jun, 2014) 083001.

- [75] R. Nagarajan, M. Kato, J. Pleumeekers, P. Evans, S. Corzine, S. Hurtt, A. Dentai, S. Murthy, M. Missey, R. Muthiah, R. A. Salvatore, C. Joyner, R. Schneider, M. Ziari, F. Kish, and D. Welch, *Inp photonic integrated circuits*, *IEEE Journal* of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 16 (Sep., 2010) 1113–1125.
- [76] T. R. Hayes, M. A. Dreisbach, P. M. Thomas, W. C. Dautremont-Smith, and L. A. Heimbrook, *Reactive ion etching of inp using ch4/h2 mixtures: Mechanisms of etching and anisotropy, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena* 7 (1989), no. 5 1130–1140, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.584564].
- [77] H.-Y. Chen and H. E. Ruda, Inductively coupled plasma etching of inp using ch4/h2 and ch4/h2/n2, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 20 (2002), no. 1 47–52, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.1428277].
- [78] H. Saito and Y. Noguchi, InGaAsP/InP etched mirror lasers fabricated by inclined RIE, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 28 (oct, 1989) 1836–1842.
- [79] S. L. Rommel, J.-H. Jang, W. Lu, G. Cueva, L. Zhou, I. Adesida, G. Pajer, R. Whaley, A. Lepore, Z. Schellanbarger, and J. H. Abeles, Effect of H₂ on the etch profile of InP/InGaAsP alloys in Cl₂/Ar/H₂ inductively coupled plasma reactive ion etching chemistries for photonic device fabrication, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena **20** (2002), no. 4 1327–1330, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.1486232].
- [80] I. Adesida, K. Nummila, E. Andideh, J. Hughes, C. Caneau, R. Bhat, and R. Holmstrom, Nanostructure fabrication in inp and related compounds, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena 8 (1990), no. 6 1357–1360, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.585077].
- [81] J. D. Chinn, I. Adesida, and E. D. Wolf, Chemically assisted ion beam etching for submicron structures, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena 1 (1983), no. 4 1028–1032, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.582668].

- [82] J. D. Chinn, A. Fernandez, I. Adesida, and E. D. Wolf, Chemically assisted ion beam etching of gaas, ti, and mo, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 1 (1983), no. 2 701–704, [https://doi.org/10.1116/1.571981].
- [83] C. Youtsey, R. Grundbacher, R. Panepucci, I. Adesida, and C. Caneau, Characterization of chemically assisted ion beam etching of inp, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 12 (1994), no. 6 3317–3321, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.587619].
- [84] M. Kneissl, D. Hofstetter, D. Bour, R. Donaldson, J. Walker, and N. Johnson, Dry-etching and characterization of mirrors on iii-nitride laser diodes from chemically assisted ion beam etching, Journal of Crystal Growth 189-190 (1998) 846 - 849.
- [85] N. S. Rajput and X. Luo, Chapter 3 fib micro-/nano-fabrication, in Micromanufacturing Engineering and Technology (Second Edition) (Y. Qin, ed.), Micro and Nano Technologies, pp. 61 – 80. William Andrew Publishing, Boston, second edition ed., 2015.
- [86] J. Gupta, J. M. E. Harper, J. L. M. IV, P. G. Blauner, and D. A. Smith, Focused ion beam imaging of grain growth in copper thin films, Applied Physics Letters 61 (1992), no. 6 663–665, [https://doi.org/10.1063/1.107815].
- [87] M. Sakamoto, M. Saito, and K. Hamano, A novel technology for self-aligned contact formation, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 21 (1982), no. S1 147.
- [88] and M. L. Masanovic, E. J. Skogen, Z. Hu, D. J. Blumenthal, and L. A. Coldren, Optical mode converter integration with inp-ingaasp active and passive waveguides using a single regrowth process, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 14 (Sep., 2002) 1249–1251.
- [89] Q. Kan, Y. Ding, L. Zhao, H. Zhu, F. Zhou, L. Wang, B. Wang, and W. Wang, Offset quantum-well method for tunable distributed bragg reflector lasers and electro-absorption modulated distributed feedback lasers, Chin. Opt. Lett. 3 (Aug, 2005) 455–456.
- [90] B. Mason, G. A. Fish, S. P. DenBaars, and L. A. Coldren, Widely tunable sampled grating dbr laser with integrated electroabsorption modulator, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 11 (1999), no. 6 638–640.
- [91] J. klamkin, Coherent Integrated Receiver for Highly Linear Microwave Photonic Links. PhD thesis, University of California Santa Barbara, 12, 2008.

- [92] A. Tarraf, J. Daleiden, S. Irmer, D. Prasai, and H. Hillmer, Stress investigation of PECVD dielectric layers for advanced optical MEMS, Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering 14 (nov, 2003) 317–323.
- [93] W. N. Ye and Y. Xiong, Review of silicon photonics: history and recent advances, Journal of Modern Optics 60 (2013), no. 16 1299–1320, [https://doi.org/10.1080/09500340.2013.839836].
- [94] J. Doylend and A. Knights, The evolution of silicon photonics as an enabling technology for optical interconnection, Laser & Photonics Reviews 6 (2012), no. 4 504–525, [https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/lpor.201100023].
- [95] A. E. Lim, J. Song, Q. Fang, C. Li, X. Tu, N. Duan, K. K. Chen, R. P. Tern, and T. Liow, *Review of silicon photonics foundry efforts*, *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* **20** (July, 2014) 405–416.
- [96] R. Soref, The past, present, and future of silicon photonics, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 12 (Nov, 2006) 1678–1687.
- [97] P. Dumon, The epixnet silicon photonics platform, in 2007 4th IEEE International Conference on Group IV Photonics, pp. 1–2, Sep., 2007.
- [98] A. Novack, Y. Liu, R. Ding, M. Gould, T. Baehr-Jones, Q. Li, Y. Yang, Y. Ma, Y. Zhang, K. Padmaraju, K. Bergmen, A. E. Lim, G. Lo, and M. Hochberg, A 30 ghz silicon photonic platform, .
- [99] J. E. Bowers, R. Alferness, R. L. Clark, D. Coolbaugh, L. Kimerling, T. L. Koch, M. Liehr, and M. Watts, American institute for manufacturing integrated photonics (aim photonics), in 2015 IEEE Avionics and Vehicle Fiber-Optics and Photonics Conference (AVFOP), pp. 24–24, Nov, 2015.
- [100] P. Dumon, W. Bogaerts, R. Baets, J. . Fedeli, and L. Fulbert, Towards foundry approach for silicon photonics: silicon photonics platform epixfab, Electronics Letters 45 (June, 2009) 581–582.
- [101] "imec-epixfab siphotonics isipp50g." http://web.archive.org/web/20080207010024/http: //www.808multimedia.com/winnt/kernel.htm. Accessed: 2018-09-30.
- [102] P. P. Absil, P. De Heyn, H. Chen, P. Verheyen, G. Lepage, M. Pantouvaki, J. De Coster, A. Khanna, Y. Drissi, D. Van Thourhout, and J. Van Campenhout, *Imec isipp25g silicon photonics: a robust cmos-based photonics technology platform*, 2015.

- [103] D. M. Dourado, M. L. Rocha, and J. P. P. Carmo, Mach-zehnder modulator modeling based on imec-epixfab isipp25g siphotonics, in 2018 SBFoton International Optics and Photonics Conference (SBFoton IOPC), pp. 1–5, Oct, 2018.
- [104] M. Pantouvaki, P. Verheyen, J. De Coster, G. Lepage, P. Absil, and J. Van Campenhout, 56gb/s ring modulator on a 300mm silicon photonics platform, in 2015 European Conference on Optical Communication (ECOC), pp. 1–3, Sep., 2015.
- [105] K. V. Acoleyen, H. Rogier, and R. Baets, Two-dimensional optical phased array antenna on silicon-on-insulator, Opt. Express 18 (Jun, 2010) 13655–13660.
- [106] A. Masood, M. Pantouvaki, G. Lepage, P. Verheyen, J. Van Campenhout, P. Absil, D. Van Thourhout, and W. Bogaerts, *Comparison of heater architectures* for thermal control of silicon photonic circuits, in 10th International Conference on Group IV Photonics, pp. 83–84, Aug, 2013.
- [107] S. Gupta, S. A. Srinivasan, M. Pantouvaki, H. Chen, P. Verheyen, G. Lepage, D. V. Thourhout, G. Roelkens, K. Saraswat, P. Absil, and J. V. Campenhout, 50ghz ge waveguide electro-absorption modulator integrated in a 220nm soi photonics platform, in Optical Fiber Communication Conference, p. Tu2A.4, Optical Society of America, 2015.
- [108] M. J. de Boer, J. G. E. Gardeniers, H. V. Jansen, E. Smulders, M. . Gilde, G. Roelofs, J. N. Sasserath, and M. Elwenspoek, *Guidelines for etching silicon* mems structures using fluorine high-density plasmas at cryogenic temperatures, Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems 11 (Aug, 2002) 385–401.
- [109] F. Khan, B. Roof, L. Zhou, and I. Adesida, Etching of silicon carbide for device fabrication and through via-hole formation, Journal of electronic materials 30 (2001), no. 3 212–219.
- [110] C. Takahashi, Y. Jin, K. Nishimura, and S. Matsuo, Anisotropic etching of si and WSiN using ECR plasma of SF6-CF4gas mixture, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 39 (jun, 2000) 3672–3676.
- [111] S. Rauf, P. J. Stout, and J. Cobb, Modeling the impact of photoresist trim etch process on photoresist surface roughness, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 21 (2003), no. 2 655–659, [https://avs.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1116/1.1545735].
- [112] B. Wu, A. Kumar, and S. Pamarthy, High aspect ratio silicon etch: A review, Journal of Applied Physics 108 (2010), no. 5 051101, [https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3474652].

- [113] A. Rickman, G. Reed, and F. Namavar, Silicon-on-insulator optical rib waveguide loss and mode characteristics, Journal of Lightwave Technology 12 (1994), no. 10 1771–1776.
- [114] T. K. Saha and W. Zhou, High efficiency diffractive grating coupler based on transferred silicon nanomembrane overlay on photonic waveguide, Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics 42 (apr, 2009) 085115.
- [115] W. M. Arden, The international technology roadmap for semiconductors—perspectives and challenges for the next 15 years, Current Opinion in Solid State and Materials Science 6 (2002), no. 5 371 – 377.
- [116] B. Gobel and A. Ziemann, Quality control for wire bonding, Jan. 15, 1991. US Patent 4,984,730.
- [117] A. D. Scarbrough, 3d-coaxial memory construction and method of making, Nov. 28, 1972. US Patent 3,704,455.
- [118] E. Beyne, 3d system integration technologies, in 2006 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems, and Applications, pp. 1–9, April, 2006.
- [119] S. F. Al-Sarawi, D. Abbott, and P. D. Franzon, A review of 3-d packaging technology, IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging, and Manufacturing Technology: Part B 21 (Feb, 1998) 2–14.
- [120] N. Lindenmann, G. Balthasar, D. Hillerkuss, R. Schmogrow, M. Jordan, J. Leuthold, W. Freude, and C. Koos, *Photonic wire bonding: a novel concept for chip-scale interconnects*, *Opt. Express* **20** (Jul, 2012) 17667–17677.
- [121] P. S. Chauhan, A. Choubey, Z. Zhong, and M. G. Pecht, Copper wire bonding, in Copper Wire Bonding, pp. 1–9. Springer, 2014.
- [122] E. M. Liston, Plasma treatment for improved bonding: a review, The journal of adhesion 30 (1989), no. 1-4 199–218.
- [123] J. E. Krzanowski, A transmission electron microscopy study of ultrasonic wire bonding, IEEE Transactions on Components, Hybrids, and Manufacturing Technology 13 (1990), no. 1 176–181.
- [124] Y. Liu, S. Irving, and T. Luk, Thermosonic wire bonding process simulation and bond pad over active stress analysis, in 2004 Proceedings. 54th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (IEEE Cat. No. 04CH37546), vol. 1, pp. 383–391, IEEE, 2004.
- [125] "Fine pitch wire bonding." http://www.teledynemicro.com/highdensity/fine-pitch-wire-bonding. Accessed: 2019-05-13.

- [126] P. D. and, Fabrication of high aspect ratio 35 /spl mu/m pitch interconnects for next generation 3-d wafer level packaging by through-wafer copper electroplating, in 56th Electronic Components and Technology Conference 2006, pp. 6 pp.-, May, 2006.
- [127] J. W. Orcutt, Low loop wire bonding, Apr. 7, 1998. US Patent 5,735,030.
- [128] C. Luechinger, *Ribbon bonding*, Nov. 4, 2004. US Patent App. 10/429,128.
- [129] N. Marenco, M. Kontek, W. Reinert, J. Lingner, and M.-H. Poech, Copper ribbon bonding for power electronics applications, in 2013 European Microelectronics Packaging Conference (EMPC), pp. 1–4, IEEE, 2013.
- [130] K. Lee, C. Nagai, J. Bea, T. Fukushima, R. Suresh, X. Wu, T. Tanaka, and M. Koyanagi, Novel reconfigured wafer-to-wafer (w2w) hybrid bonding technology using ultra-high density nano-cu filaments for exascale 2.5 d/3d integration, in 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), pp. 8–2, IEEE, 2015.
- [131] K. DeHaven and J. Dietz, Controlled collapse chip connection (c4)-an enabling technology, in 1994 Proceedings. 44th Electronic Components and Technology Conference, pp. 1–6, IEEE, 1994.
- [132] M. J. Wale, Self aligned, flip chip assembly of photonic devices with electrical and optical connections, in 40th Conference Proceedings on Electronic Components and Technology, pp. 34–41, IEEE, 1990.
- [133] P. Elenius and L. Levine, Comparing flip-chip and wire-bond interconnection technologies, Chip Scale Review 4 (2000), no. 6.
- [134] C. L. Chua, D. K. Fork, and T. Hantschel, Densely packed optoelectronic interconnect using micromachined springs, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 14 (2002), no. 6 846–848.
- [135] U. Sridhar and Q. Zou, Wafer level packaging process, July 1, 2008. US Patent 7,393,758.
- [136] M. C. Loo, High contact density ball grid array package for flip-chips, June 10, 1997. US Patent 5,637,920.
- [137] L. Pavesi, D. J. Lockwood, et. al., Silicon photonics iii, Topics in applied physics 119 (2016).
- [138] B. G. Lee, A. V. Rylyakov, W. M. Green, S. Assefa, C. W. Baks, R. Rimolo-Donadio, D. M. Kuchta, M. H. Khater, T. Barwicz, C. Reinholm, et. al., Monolithic silicon integration of scaled photonic switch fabrics, cmos logic, and device driver circuits, Journal of Lightwave Technology 32 (2014), no. 4 743-751.

- [139] J. H. Lau, Overview and outlook of through-silicon via (tsv) and 3d integrations, Microelectronics International 28 (2011), no. 2 8–22.
- [140] C. H. Tsau, S. M. Spearing, and M. A. Schmidt, Fabrication of wafer-level thermocompression bonds, Journal of Microelectromechanical systems 11 (2002), no. 6 641–647.
- [141] K. Tanida, M. Umemoto, Y. Tomita, M. Tago, R. Kajiwara, Y. Akiyama, and K. Takahashi, Au bump interconnection with ultrasonic flip-chip bonding in 20 μm pitch, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 42 (2003), no. 4S 2198.
- [142] C.-F. Chen and Y.-H. Chen, *Flip-chip packaging process using copper pillar as bump structure*, Jan. 13, 2009. US Patent 7,476,564.
- [143] W. Antle, Friction technique for optimum thermocompression bonds, IEEE Transactions on Component Parts 11 (1964), no. 4 25–29.
- [144] S. Pozder, A. Jain, R. Chatterjee, Z. Huang, R. E. Jones, E. Acosta, B. Marlin, G. Hillmann, M. Sobczak, G. Kreindl, et. al., 3d die-to-wafer cu/sn microconnects formed simultaneously with an adhesive dielectric bond using thermal compression bonding, in 2008 International Interconnect Technology Conference, pp. 46–48, IEEE, 2008.
- [145] S. K. Patra, J. Ma, V. H. Ozguz, and S. H. Lee, Alignment issues in packaging for free-space optical interconnects, Optical Engineering 33 (1994), no. 5 1561–1571.
- [146] B. T. Tung, N. Watanabe, F. Kato, K. Kikuchi, and M. Aoyagi, Flip-chip bonding alignment accuracy enhancement using self-aligned interconnection elements to realize low-temperature construction of ultrafine-pitch copper bump interconnections, in 2014 IEEE 64th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), pp. 62–67, IEEE, 2014.
- [147] Y. Martin, J.-W. Nah, S. Kamlapurkar, S. Engelmann, and T. Barwicz, Toward high-yield 3d self-alignment of flip-chip assemblies via solder surface tension, in 2016 IEEE 66th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), pp. 588–594, IEEE, 2016.
- [148] S. Pearton, W. Hansen, E. Haller, and J. Kahn, Hydrogenation of gold-related levels in silicon by electrolytic doping, Journal of applied physics 55 (1984), no. 4 1221–1223.
- [149] L. Grenouillet, A. Bavencove, T. Dupont, J. Harduin, P. Philippe, P. Regreny, F. Lelarge, K. Gilbert, P. Grosse, and J. Fedeli, *Cmos compatible contacts and etching for inp-on-silicon active devices*, in 2009 6th IEEE International Conference on Group IV Photonics, pp. 196–198, IEEE, 2009.

- [150] S. Jain, M. Sysak, M. Swaidan, and J. Bowers, Silicon fab-compatible contacts to n-inp and p-ingaas for photonic applications, Applied Physics Letters 100 (2012), no. 20 201103, [https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4714725].
- [151] P. S. Cho, V. S. Grigoryan, Y. A. Godin, A. Salamon, and Y. Achiam, Transmission of 25-gb/s rz-dqpsk signals with 25-ghz channel spacing over 1000 km of smf-28 fiber, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 15 (2003), no. 3 473–475.
- [152] L. Richter, H. Mandelberg, M. Kruger, and P. McGrath, Linewidth determination from self-heterodyne measurements with subcoherence delay times, IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics 22 (1986), no. 11 2070–2074.
- [153] L. B. Mercer, 1/f frequency noise effects on self-heterodyne linewidth measurements, Journal of Lightwave Technology 9 (1991), no. 4 485–493.
- [154] M. N. Sysak, H. Park, A. W. Fang, J. E. Bowers, R. Jones, O. Cohen, O. Raday, and M. Paniccia, *Experimental and theoretical thermal analysis of a hybrid silicon* evanescent laser, Optics Express 15 (2007), no. 23 15041–15046.
- [155] E. Kleijn, M. K. Smit, and X. J. Leijtens, Multimode interference reflectors: a new class of components for photonic integrated circuits, Journal of Lightwave Technology 31 (2013), no. 18 3055–3063.
- [156] B. Isaac, B. Song, S. Pinna, L. A. Coldren, and J. Klamkin, Indium phosphide photonic integrated circuit transceiver for fmcw lidar, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics (2019).
- [157] D. Vermeulen, Y. De Koninck, Y. Li, E. Lambert, W. Bogaerts, R. Baets, and G. Roelkens, *Reflectionless grating couplers for silicon-on-insulator photonic* integrated circuits, Optics express 20 (2012), no. 20 22278–22283.
- [158] J. H. Song and X. Rottenberg, Low-back-reflection grating couplers using asymmetric grating trenches, IEEE Photonics Technology Letters 29 (2017), no. 4 389–392.
- [159] Y. Wang, X. Wang, J. Flueckiger, H. Yun, W. Shi, R. Bojko, N. A. Jaeger, and L. Chrostowski, Focusing sub-wavelength grating couplers with low back reflections for rapid prototyping of silicon photonic circuits, Optics express 22 (2014), no. 17 20652–20662.